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FERROSTAAL

¥inal Report — Compliance Investigation
L EXECUTIVE SUMMARY
A, Findings of Questionable Payments

‘The Compliance Investigation (the “Investigation™) found that Kerros taal’
made questionable or improper payments on many of its largest and highest profile
projects. These projects ranged acroas many business sectof§and couniries.

Questionable or improper payments do not appear tothave been systematic, in
that they weze not centrally coordinated or controlled but rather the result of various
schemes operating independently of each other. However, many of these payments
appeat to have been systemic, in that they occurred tépeatedly throughout the
Company on projects of all sizes. Some of the schemes were similar in approach and
execution.

While the Investigation uzcovergd some evidence indicating that cerfain
questionable or improper payments were paidion as bribes, for most payments the
avatlable svidence does not establish their uliimate destination. Even in those cases
where the circumstances suggast the possibility of bribery, an analysis of the facts
may still permit different legal comclusions fo be drawn on the potential offenses
involved, such as, for examipley breach of trust (Untreue),

‘The Investigation reviewed payments made by Ferrostaal berween 1999 and
2010. In order to/@ssist inthe quantification of the findings, the payments reviewed
were divided into four categones:

Category 110 Pdyments with respect to which the Investigation found clear
' evidence of corrupt conduct and was able to identify intended
or actual end recipients, either by name ot generically. This
- category also includes instances of other forms of potentially
criminal conduct that we identified (such 2s a payment made to
a competitor as compensation under a bid-rigging agreement).

Category 2:  Payments which gave rise to grounded suspicions of corrupt or
other criminal conduct, such as breach of trust, and which could
move to Category 1 with additional evidence, such as
admissions by witnesses or verification of the payment flows to

“Rerrostaal” (or the “Company”} is used in this Report to refer collectively io Ferrostaal AG and
to cartain affiliated or subsidiary companies whose activities were a focus of the Investigation,
tncleding Ferrostal Industrieanlagen GmbH, Fritz Womer Industrie-Ausristungen GmbH,
Fertostaal Piping Supply GmbH, Perrostaal Argentina .4, Ferrostaal Chile S.A.C., Ferrostaal
Colombia Ltda., PT Penostaal Indonesia, Ferrostaal Souik Africa (Pty) Lid. and DSD de
Venezueta C.A. {now ProCon de Veaezueia C.A.), but excluding MarineForee Internatiorai LLY.
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the end recipients.

Category3:  Payments which presented serious compliance issues and
significant red flags but with respect to which the Investigation
did not identify specific evidence of corrupt or other criminal
conduct.

Category 4:  All other payments substantively reviewed during the
Investigation, based on the initial risk aszessmient, bt with
respect to which the Investigation found no further evidence
warranting inclusion in one of the aboye bategoties.?

The above categorization represents our assessmeft of payments based on the
evidence identified and the compliance ¢riteria applicdduring the Investigation. It
does not constitute an analysis of the potential criminatity of the payments uader
German or any other applicable law, While we have teken the limited information
made available by the Office of the Public Proseeutor indumich (the “Munich
Prosecitor™) into acconnt in formulating our views,the payment categorization does
not purpert to predict how the Munich Prosecutor or other authorities may view such
payments, =

A detailed table of payments by investigative workstream appears at Amnex A.
T summary, the four categories contain payments totaling approximately €1.18
Billion: just under €9 million i Cateégory 1, just over €81 million in Category 2 and
Just under €246 million in Categoty 3.

Almost €113 billion of the total payments categorized relate to Ferrostaal AG
ot one of its subsidiaries other than Ferrostaal Industsieanlagen GmbH (“FIA”). Of
that amount just over €5 million was assessed in Category 1, just over €76 millionin
Catégory 2 and approxifaately €228 million in Category 3. The largest amount of
Ferrostazl AG Category 1 payments (approximately €3.4 million} was paid in
conhection with the Venezuelan business.

Just under €50 million of the total paymenis categorized relate to FI1A and its
subsidiary Fritz Werner Industrie-Ausriishingen GmbH. Of that amount, just under
€3 T anillion was assessed in Category 1, just over €5 million in Category 2 and
approximately €18 millionin Category 3. The largest amount of FIA Category 1
payments (approximately €2.1 million) was paid in connestion with the Libyan
business.

Inchision in"Category 4 does not signify thai the payment was necessarily commensurate with the
services rendersd or that the dueumented proof of performance of the services provided was
adequate, It simply means that the evidenice of potential eriminality or of serious compliance
1ssues inherent in he other categories was absent,
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Payments made by MarineForce International LLP (*MFI”"), & 50:50 joint
venture between Ferrostaal and ThyssenKrupp/Howaldtswerke-Deutsche Werft
GmbH ("HDW”), are not included in these categories, but we note that our
compliance audit of MFI (“Compliance Audit”) did not reveal any payments in
Categories 1 or 2. A Hmited number of MFI payments (£320,926.68 plus €250,000)
would qualify under Category 3 (but, again, are not inchuded in the totals noted
above), :

The table at Annex B lists the various consultants? dgents, representatives or
other third parties to whom the Company made the payments included in the four
categories set ouf above, again, with the exception of MFI payments.

B. Systems and Centrols

This Report analyzes the compliance-relatdd systems and controls at Ferostaal
and the way in which they were implemented. dn summary, the Investigation found
that: '

. Ferrastaal’s systems and controls were inadequate to address the risk profile of
its business and failed to prevent and deteet potential compliance violations.

. Fertostaal had no meanttigful compliance function and no internal andit
function. Tt relied op.its parent, MAN SE (until 2009 MAN AG and
hereinafter “MAN™), for such gentral functions.

* The internal contiol measures that Ferrostaal operated were limited in scope
and focused on tax 1ssues, namely the deductibility of consultants* fees as
expenses (pursuant to § 160 Abgabenordnung).

» The anti-corraption measures and controls that existed were not meaningfully
- Implemented or enforced and were easily cireumvented in several instances.

. When compliance red flags or cémtption-related issues arose, there was littie
to no meaningful investigation and no discipline wes imposed in cases in
which compliance policies (or the laws) were violated. What investigation,

T > review or analysis ocourred appeared largely driven by tax considerations, not

by compliance, and was primarily aimed af creating a record that would
support tax deductibility of potentially improper payments, rather than a
diligent effori to root them out,

- The fear of detestion in an andit by tax authorities (Betriebsprilfung), rather
than a substantive concern about compliance, piayed an imporiant part in

The term “consultant” is used in this Report to include any third party assisting the Company with
sales promotion and may therefore include agenis or representatives, regardless of the precise
teren used in the respective contractual documentation.
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Ferrostaal’s approach to dealing with payments to consultants. This is bome
out by the evidence surrounding some of the principal examples of internal
controls/compliance circumvention, such as the restructiring of Railways
consultant Marijan Kuning’s commission or the senior management £
dzscusswns ghout payments 1o the Company’s Oreek agent, Marine Indugtrial

). Concerns about the practice of the Befriebsprifing
also faatu:eci as a consideration in the establishment of MFI and the decision
to hive off Ferrostaal’s submarine business to that entity.

» Rerrostaal’s deference and leeway to certain senior managers (such as the
former member of the Managing Board (Vorstand) responsible for Marine and
the former head of Merchant Marine) and to certain gonsultants, as well as its
far-flung, federated structure, complicated efforts to implement comprehensive
compliance policies and controls,

C. Leadership and Management

The Investigation assessed the involvement and knowledge of senior /
management in potential compliance violations and evaluated the tone and direction it
set on the issues of anti-corruption and compliance. In summary, the Investigation
found not enly that senior management fafled to fulfifl its duties to ensure that the
Company developed adequate compliancé systems and controls, but also that it was
instrmental in fostering an ethos where compliance vislations could be committed
and go undetected and/or atiwemedicd

1. “Tone at the Top”™

Despite the formen CEOD’s official statexpent that “as g matter of principle, we
do not pay bribes” the Vorstand did not promoie 2 “tone at the top” that emphasized
cotnpliance and that made clear that the Company would not engage in non-cosmpliant
business), While paying lip service to the tequitements of the law, the Vorstand's
actions fostered 2 climate where willfil blindness became an acceptable meode of
apecatiig. Noiclear message was provided that Ferrostaal had to be compliant even if
it risked losing bnsiness or upsetiing historically important buginess partners.

The overwhelming lack of substantive campiiance—reiated discussions and
action at the Vorstand level is striking, particularly in view of (i) Ferrostaal’s history
of paying bribes prior to Germany’s adoption of the Organization for Economic

Cmpcmfmn and Development (“OECD™ 1957 Anti-Bribary Convention, (ii) its

operations in many countries prone to corruption and in business areas af rigk of being

affected by cormuption and (fil} numerous red flags 1nd1c ating potential instanees of

corrupt practices.

Managers of business units or local subsidiaries generally did not consider
their responsibility for compliance to extend beyond satisfying the formalistic
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requivements for the approval of consultancy contracts, The understanding that
policies and controls served a real purpose was not widely shared.

2. Close Involvement of the Vorstand

Notwithstanding their near uniform refusal to cooperate with the Investigation,
_ the available evidence shows a relatively high degree of close personal involvement
by former members of the Vorstand in potential compliance violationsortheir
treatment,

Insefar as actual involvement is concermed, this Report ‘containg several
examnples, such as the efforts in 20032004, led by the Vorsiand member then
responsibie for the business unit (Bereichsvorstand) (and involying, toa lesser extent,
the former CEQ), io reduce Railways consultant Matijan Kunina’'s dstensible
comumission percentage. The case of the Greek commission payments, described in
this section and in detail in Section [1.A. 1, reveals the intimate involvement in highly
questionable and pogsibly corrupt payvments by the formerBereichsvorstand for

Marine. What is more, that same Berejchsvorstand has given evidence to the Munich
Prosecutor in which ke openly admitieddhis awareness, at the time of making the
arrangements in question, that certain payments may be forwarded as bribes, but—in
a clear example of willfisl blindness — sttessed that he had not wanted to have actual

knowledge of these matters, andin particular of the recipients and amounts paid to
them.

With respect to the treatment by the Vorseand of poatential compliance
violattons, the totality of the evidence we reviewed shows that the Vorstand made
certain choices which could besifiterpreted as evincing an intention to shield
themselves from responsibility for potential violations.

First, it appeargthat the Vorstand did not want fo create extensive
documentationiof discussions conceming compliance issues, There were no minutes
of Vorstand mectings before 2003, apparently because the CEOQ at the time was of the
view that minutes would have detracted from and undermined the Vorsfand s culture
of collective decision-mmking. The minutes of Vorstand meetings prepared from
2003 onwards are not detailed and typically do not record discussions of any
compliance issues, except in very few instances (for example, in December 2006,
when the only reaction of the Vorstand to the Siemens scandal was a general
statemnent that the Company should make sure that it adheres to the compliance
policies of the group). At no time did conruption-related ineidents reported in the
prass, even these concemning Ferrostaal itself, occasion alarm or efforts to ensure that
the Company’s busihess wag indeed complant. A review of the Supervisory Board
minutes showed no evidence that the Forstand reported to the Supervisory Board on
compliance Issues between 2003 and 2008 except for one meeting on 10 September
2007, where the implementation of certain compliance measures was announced
(relating to the “e-learning tool,” compliance training and anti-corruption guidelines
infroduced by MAN).
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Second, it appears that in instances where questiopable payments were brought
to the attention of the Vorstand, it either failed to take aggressive action to stop or
turned a blind eye to the conduct. Signs of particutarly grave compliance violstions
were ot sufficiently Investigated and appropriate remedial action was 1ot taken. The
“nyestigations” — internal and external — that did occur appear to have had a
wabitewash” fmction in that they were deficient in scope, reached conclusions that
were difficult to reconcile with the facts and ultimately purported to legitimize the
action the Yorstand decided to take for reasons other than its desire tojensure
compliant conduct.

Two examples are particularly instructive in this regard.

(a Dolmarton Claim

\ Perhaps the most stoiking example is the treatment by the Vorstand of the

Greok conunission payment issus, including itsinitialreview in 2002-2004 by the
former head of Maxins, as well as the subsequentinvestigation by external advisers
after Dolmarton Associated Inc. (“Dolmarton™) asserted a elaim in 2006.

The former CEQ directed theifirst intetnal seview of consultancy
arrangements, purportedly with a¥iew o reducing the commiissions and, according fo
the former Marine employee tasked with the review, to helping the Company rise
from its “murky” past (Schmuddelécke) in this seotor by investigating ‘potential
compliance violations. While, in ihe gase of Greecs, the efforts did in fact lead to a
reduction of the commigsions contractually due to the Company’s Gresk agent, MIE,
the review was a significant missed opportunity to investigate potential sompliance
violations at an early stage. Serious red flags —including an admission, supported by /
documentation, by MIE’s principal, Micheel Matantos, that he had passed €33.1
million to various third parties at the instruction of the Company - wese effectively

“ignoted on fhe basis of the view, allegedly dhared by the former head of Marine and
the former CRO 8 whom he reporied, that the peyments were “Matanios’ probiem,”
agfiefurther payments were due to him. When the issue resurfaced two yeats later in
the fade of Dolmarton’s renewod claims for payment, the Company’s external
investigators, Control Risks Group Ltd. (“Control Risks”), were tasked with
investigating the persons inveolved, but with a view to helping the Company assess the
commercial risks of non-payment, not to advising on possible red flags or corrupt
praotices by the key participants. Similasly, the external lawyer advising and
tepresenting the Company in this matter, Dr. Hans-Heormann Aldenhoff of Simmons
& Simmons, performed some fact-finding, but his mandats was restricted to
investigate only insofar ag necessary to defend the claim, thus limiting the pursuit and
clarification of potential compliance violations discovered in the process. D //
Aldenhoff ultimately provided the Company with advice that paved the way forifto
make an additional questionable payment of €11 million in 2007 and to decide noi to
sue the former Vorstand member most closely connected to the potentially corrupt or
otherwise illegal payments for breach of duty, all under the cloak of legal le gitimacy.
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The minutes of the impromptu 30 July 2007 meeting of Vorstand members at
which the €11 million payment to Dolmarton was approved stated that the Vorsrand
agreed with Dr. Aldenhoff s view that there were no indications of potentially
criminal behavior militating against making the payment. That characterization of Dr.
Aldenhoff s view in the minutes was inaccurate, as he confirmed to us in an
interview. At fhe tbme of the proposed seftlement, Dr. Aldenhoff in fact believed (as
be had from the start) that there was an initial suspicion of criminal behavior
{Anfangsverdacht) with respect o the Dolmarton affair. Some months before the
Vorstand meeting (at which he was not present) he had even advised the then director
of Legal Services that any judge apprised of the Dolmarton claimwould have referred
it ex gfficio to prosecutors for investigation. The significanceof this fact eannot be
underestimated, given that these minutes are the enly record of the Porstand’s
collective decision-making process pursuant o which itauthorized the questionable
€11 million payment en the basis of which the Munich Pross¢utor 18 now
investigating the Company. Yet the minutes are wrong on perhaps the most crucial
point of all: the existing indications of potentialilegality in the underlying
arrangements with Dolmarton.

) 2007 Special Audit Vengzuela

Pursuant to a request from the themCEQ, the then head of Legal® and the then
commercial head of Power Industry carried out a Special Audit (Sonderpriifung} in
2007 of consultancy arrangements in eonnection with the Termozulia I power plant
project in Venezuela, A previousreview by MAN Internal Audit had found not only
an absence of documentation of contractual agreements and of the services
purportedly rendered®y several consultants, but also evidence — in the form of
‘statersents by the former General Manager (*GM”) of the Venezuelan subsidiery —
that several of the commission payments constituted Niitzliche Aufwendungen.’ MAN
Intemal Audit furtherobtdined evidence suggesiing that the comumissions
encompassed payments to fwo public officials, one of whom was a high-ranking
mimster.

Thestated purpose of the Special Audit was 1o explore further the MAN
Interoal Audit findings and to clarify their context and background. The actoal
puiposeof the Special Audit, however, appears to have been to find ways to
legitimize the questionable consultancy payments and to undermine the MAN Internal
Audit findings in the process. The Special Audit report even begins by calling into

Throughott this Report we use a short form fo refer to vertain ceniral functions at Ferrostaal AG,
such as the lsgal depastment, the tax department and the accounting department {respectively
“Legal,” “Tax” and “Accounting™).

Documents and inferviews suggest that this term was widely used at the Company, at least
historically, to denote bribe payments. It is used in this Report with that meaning in mind,
although we note that according to some interviewees the term was not necessarily limited solely
to improper commission paymenis.
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guestion the reliability of the MAN Internal Audit findings. Relying on the local
subsidiary’s GM — a key protagonist who had been involved in cextain of the
questionable arrangements and to whom MAN Isternal Audit had attributed the
admissions of corruption — to liaise with the consultants in question to obtain
documentation of services and corporate records, the Special Audit coneluded that the
irregularities identified in the earlier audit were based on poor rocord-keeping and
selective foous on certain statements made by the Venezuelan substdiary’s staff. The
Special Audit made no effort to speak with members of MAN IntemalAudit gbout
their findings or to request their work papers. Nor did those conducting the Special
Audit make any attempt to speak directly with the consultants of with the other
individuals at the Venezuelan sobsidiary involved in authorizing the paymenis.
Focused on legitimizing the atrangements by coltecting documentary evidence of
performance — some of which was created only at the time of the Special Audit — the
Special Audit did not directly confront the {ndications of cormption and thus
effuctively turned a blind eye to serious red flags of potential illegality.

3. Structural Weaknesses

In s0me respecis, Ferrostaalwasmun mote like 4 $mall and secretive club than
an organization involved in highsvalue international projects all over the world, One
former employes recounted hotw, a the time he took over responsibility for Marine inc
the summer of 2003, the Copapany was effectively run by ten peaple. Information
about sensitive matters such a8 consultaney contracts would generaily not be made
available to anyone otside a frusted circls of individuals.

In the oase of Marine, one of the highest-risk business units, the Vorsiand was
at crucial imés deficientfrom a structural and a petsonnel perspective to deal with the
compliance challenges prosented. In an interview, the Vorstand member responsible
for Mazitie from 2001 fo 2003 described mn arvangement devised by the former CEO
Plirsuant to whichBe was to play Iargely a representative role, while his predecessor
wouldh efféstively continue to run the Marine business, despite having moved to fake o
position on the Vorstand of HDW, Ferrostaal’s consortium psrtoer. Asaresull,a
relatively inexperienced executive was nominally in charge of one of the areas most
prone fo compliance violations, but without the mandate, experience or even the
abilify to irapose himself on the business, the rumning projects and the personaliiies
involved. The evidence shows that some of the most serious compliance violations
the Investigation uncovered occurred during his tepure. The individuals who were in
cffect left to run the Marine business, the former Bereichsvorstand (by this time at
HDW) and his former head of Maring, showed scant regard for comptiance. Intheir
testimeny to the Munich Prosecuior, they recounted how they bad made significant
financial arrangements with an opaque group of consultants and lobbyists who
worked behind the scenes, fully cognizant of, and apparently unconcermned by, the fact
that those individuals would be making corupt payments if necessary.

It is not clear whether this result was intended by the then CEO — whose
testimony to the Munich Prosecutor is replete with references to his unwavering
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cammitment to compliance - when he made the decision to install 2 young and
relatively weak Forstand member and curtaited his actual responsibility for the
operative business, or whether it was merely coincidental, What is clear, however, is
that this partioular Vorstand constellation was simply not fit for purpose and created a
gap ih sebior management, and with it clear compliance risks, as well as a riskthat the
lines of ultimate responsibility for adherence to compliance would become blurred.

The deference to certain senior managets, such as that shown to the former
Bereichsvorsiand for Marine in the submarine business, was zeplicated in other
business lines. Some senior managers, such as the former head of Metchant Marine
and the former CEO of PT Ferrostaal Indonesia (“FSI™), epenly exprossedibsir
ambivalence about compliance but were nonetheless givensignificant leeway in
running certain high-risk businesses. By way of example, in 2082, when three
colleagues heard a FSI manager purportedly condoning corrpt prastices, including
alleged statements alluding to the pessible use of consultants by FSI to effect bribe
payments, there was no meaningful investigation of the Indonesian business or any
sanction of the manager, who was even promoted to, CEQ of FSI one month after the
incident, The then CEO of Ferrostaal AGWwas personally informed about this case
and even received a letter of apology from the manager in question in which he did
not deny having made the incendiary statementsalleged. The former Vorstand
member then responsible for the Asia region and Marine was aware not only of the
incident involving the FSI manages, but alsoithe atiitude towards compliance of the
former head of Merchant Matine, According to the former head of Merchant Marine,
vhen his refusal to participate in mandatory online compliance training (introduced in
- the spring of 2008) led to pressure from MAN on this former Vorstand member, the
Vorsiand member afraniged for bis assistant to log on to the online system as the
former head of Merchant Marine and complete the fraining in his stead. We have not
confirmed this with the former Vorsiand member or his assistant.

Its this sense, the Company made personnel decisions in high-risk business
areas that ereated reasonably foreseeable risks of compliance violations occurring in
the fittute.

4, The 8pecial Case of F1A

From the time of its formation in 2002, FIA had almost no compliance
infrastructure, either in Geisenheim or supplied by Ferrostaal AG ot MAN. There
were nio stand-alone compliance or internal andit functions in Geisenheim. Legal
examined contracts and behavior merely from a civil law perspective and did not see
compliance ag part of its formal role, believing that function was filled in Essen.
Apart from mandatory checking of consultancy agreements by Tax in Essen, which
evidence suggests was deliberately circumvented in certain cases, there is little
indication that FIA availed itself of central compliance-related functions in Essen, to
the extent they existed. Ciraudars from Essen appear to have been distributed with
littie comment. On several occasions, specific reguests from Tax regarding
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consultants met with hestility or, as the evidence suggests, with manufactured
documentation.

The evidence and our interviews suggest that FIA management demonstrated
little compliance-related “tone at the top” and that certain former managing directors
(almost all of whom declined to be interviewed) may have been aware of or inyolved
in & number of questionsble payments. One former managing director was
particularly defensive when it came to consuliancy contracts, Accordingte the former
head of Tax, this former managing director never seemed to accept that compliance
required providing even basic details about a consultant’s identity or performance.
Documentation indicates that another former managing director fiad {0 be remiiided
zrepeatedly about the need to provide basic records sbout a congnitant operating in
Turkoneristan,

There is some evidence that the Vorsiand menibers responsible for FIA
tolerated the managing directors’ apparent indifference o compliance. For example,
one Interviewee rocalied that when one former Vorstandmember who had been
responsible for FIA was informed that a FIA menaging direetor wanted nothing to do
swith FIA Legal, the former Forstand memberdeclined to act.

. Investigation History

i. Investigation Triggered by the Munich Prosecutor

1n or around May 2009, the Munich Prosecutor began investigating allegations
of corrupiion at MAN (and later MAN Turbo AG). Evidence gathered in the
investigation pointedtorpassible corrupt payments at Ferrostaal AG, a former wholly
owned MAN subsidiary inwhich it still held a 30% share: MAN Internal Audit work
papers identified imegulatities on Ferrostaal projects, including projects in Venezuela,
while@uestionable transactions at MAN Turbo implicated a FIA project in
Turkmenistan, Moreover, evidence emerged indicating potential irregularities in
Perrostaal’s business relating to Mitzelfeldtwerft GmbH, including evidence of
paténfial embezzlement implicating the former head of Merchant Marine.

Tn July 2009, the Munich Prosecutor raided Ferrostaal’s offices in Essen and
Geisenheim and arrested the former head of Merchant Marine and the former
Vorstand member responsible for Marine. The former head of Merchant Marine
began cooperating with the Mumich Prosecutor, including by giving testimony about
potential corruption in othet business units and projects of the Company.

2. Interngl Investipation: Phasel

Tn August 2009, the Supervisory Board and Vorstand of Ferrostaal AG jointly
tasked Heuking Kithn Liter Wojtek (“Henking™) and ¥rnst & Young with an internal
investigation of possible corrupt payments made by the Company (“Phase I”). The
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Phase [ investigation was to commence with a review of the Miitzelfeldtwerft project,
as well as the re-performance of a creditor analysis first done by KPMG in 2007

Although the Supervisory Board proposed in the early stages that the
investigation not be confined to specific projects but sxpanded to perform a “scad™of
the Company’s business as a whole, this met with resistance from the Vorstand and
the CBO at the time, who wanted to limit the investigation to specific projects.

By late 2009, primarily due to requests of the Munich Prosecutoz, Phase 1 had
expanded to include submarine projects (and related offset trapsactions) in Greece,
_Portugat and South Africa; a methanol plant project in Oman (M3600); a power plant
project in Venezuela (Termozulia I); FIA projects in Libya (Tazerbo, Ghani Gir,
ATI00 and Ras Lanuf) and Turkey (MKEK); and the Company’s dealings with VACE
Consulting GmbH of Linz, Austria ("VACE").

This direction of Heuking and Brnst & Young zeportedly faced considerable
resistance from the former CEQ, the former head of Legalythe current Vorstand
meniber responsible for FIA and two officers who had been especially appointed by
the CEQ to oversee and supervise the investigation as part of a project office.

Phase T encountered severalsignificant obstacles and was plagued by the
failtwe of management to installén infrastriicture to support & independent
investigation without management interference, First, there wes delayed and
incomplete data collection@ue tothe fact that several existing and former employees
apposed the collection of their data: Second, only a few interviews were conducted.
Those that did take place were rendered unreliable by the fact that members of the
project office participated in theix and reported on what was disclosed to the then
CEO. Third, the Vorstand introduced an amnesty policy that made decisions about
the grant of amnesty entizely dependent on management, meaning that employees
secking ammnesty were effectively required fo report their observations directly to
senior managements, Unsurprisingly, the initial amnesty policy was unsuccessful as a
meansiof encouraging employees to come forward. Fourth, the Vorstand sought legal
opinions to_the effect that an investigation led by the Supervisory Board would be
illegal and that the Porstand would have to stay in control of the entire investigation
and its results at every instance, Fifth, effectively implementing the advice received
in those opinions, the Vorstand and its advisors reviewed and amended the draft
reports prepared by Heuking and allowed lawyers of individuals concerned to perform
similar reviews. Sixzh, the Company did not permit Heuking and Ernst & Young to
condnct work outside of Germary despite the fact that the investigative team had
identified frnportant evidence necessitating visits to and data collections in specific
countries (notably, Venezuela and South Africa).

€ The Turkmeristan project (Korpedie), as well as three other F1A projects (Qhani Gir, A100 and

Ras Lanuf), bad already been investigated by the Company with the help of an cutside firm,
Dierlarnm Rechtsanwglie, which issued wriden reperts in July 2009.

1
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In Pebroary 2010, the Company provided the Munich Prosecutor with interim
reports prepared by Heuking containing the preliminary zesults of the Phase I
investigation of certain projects. These reports were in fact edited and amended by
members of the Company’s project office as well as by the Company’s criminal
defense counsel at the time, who, among other changes, removed the legal evaluation
contained in the reports before they were released.

Later that month, the Phase I investigation came to a halt - save fof some
reduced investigative activity — following certain disagreements betwesn the
Supervisory Board and the Vorsfand, not least as to the direction and sCope of the
- investigation.

3. Internal Investigation: Phase JI

On 19 March 2010, the Munich Prosecutor conducted & second raid ai
Ferrostaa) headquarters in Essen, ostensibly as a result of new {nvestigative leads and
suspicions involving the Marine/governmental business units {particularly the Greek,
Portugnese and South African submarine projects, & fugboat project in Egypt and
offshore patrol vessel projects in Argentina and Colombia) as well as the Indonesian
business, based on incriminating testimony by the former head of Merchant Marine.

In a subsequent maeting with representatives of the Supervisory Board and
Vorsiand, the Munich Prosecutor expressed dissatisfaction with the progress and
seope of the internal investigationiand the Company’s general posture towards
cooperation.

The Supervisory Boardtesolved to renew its commitment to cooperate with
the Munich Prosegitor anddo commission an investigation. that would be sufficiently
comprehensivé and be led by the Supervisory Board in a way that would ensure
independence and safegiiard against interforence by management. On 5 May 2010,
the Company sitered into a mandate agreement with Debevoise & Plimpton LLP
(“Debevoise™ and similer agreements with Heuking end Erust & Young to conduet 2
renewed investigation atmed at examining the Company’s critical activities ina
therough and comprehensive way (“Phase 117). The conceptual nnderpinnings of
Phase I1 were to bring key forensic disciplines to bear on the Investigation:
Debevaise was to conduct intensified data (and in particular e-mail) review, with the
asgistance of Ernst & Young, and to conduct fozensically focused withess interviews,
based on the review of such data. Prior limitations on the choice of interviewees
(such as former employees or external consultants) were removed, Moreover, the
approach in Phase Il was intended to provide facts needed fo permit responses to
compliance cerfification requests, strengthen compliance measures and internal
controls, assess potentizl claims against former employees and enable the Company to
defend itself against claims.

A number of steps were taken to make the second investigative phase more
effective than the first. First, Ferrostaal introduced a revised version of its amnesty
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program (Circular 01/2010) and expressly directed ali employees to cooperate with
the Investigation (Circular 02/2010). While few individuals came forward 1o
participate in the revised aromesty program, certain important investigative leads
{notably with respect to the Cedico payment system at FIA (Category 1)) surfaged
under the aegis of amnesty. Second, inorder to support the Investigation and
maintain its independence, the Company installed a new praject office, headsdand
overseen by the new Vorsiand mermber in charge of Compliance and Administration,
which managed and coordinated the Investigation and attempted to clear obstacles to
getting information. Third, the Company implemented a rigorous claims managerment
process, led by Heuking, which demonsirated its commitment to assert breaeh of duty
and other claims against wrongdoers and thus gave real teeth to the Investigation and
the overall compliance effort. Fourth, the Company entered into negotiations with the
works council on a new data protection/data sourcing@agreement. The resulting shop
agreement (Befriehsvereinbarung), which became effective on 4 June 2010, ensured
wider access to custodial data while increasing the level of dafa security and generally
providing enhanced safety and protection standards. Fiffhyatevised data collection
and review method was established that, uniike the Phase 1 version, provided for the
collection of additional data outside Gerfnany.

Debevoise and the Company agreed that the Investigation was to report
exclusively to the Supervisory Board or its subdivision (the Audit Committee). In
addition, Debevoise, Heuking and Erast & Young were to regularly report their
detailed findings to ComplianceyLegaland Finance to enable the Company to take all
appropriate steps to respond to such findings on a real-time basis. In addition, the
Vorstand and Supervisory Board anthorized and instructed Debevoise, Heuking and
Emst & Young to report findings to investigating authorities, in particular the Munich
Prosecutor, following a réview process conducted by the project office and the
Company*s @urrent external criminal defense counsel to ensuse that the rights of
employees were safeguarded.

Pursuant to toe Phase I work plen, the Investigation was to proceed on a
comprebensivey risk-based approach, rather than a more parrow, project-by-project
approach! Debevoise, together with Heuking and Ernst & Young, was to conduct a
risk assessment, based on the work done in Phase | and fuzther scoping in the early
stages of Phase Ii, primarily through the preliminary review of project and business
ulit data, as well as informational meetings with the business unit heads. The aim of
suich a risk-based approach was not only 10 be responsive o the requirements of the
Munich Prosecutor, but also to get ahead of external forces, such as business partners
and customers, as well as preventing any other significant wrongdoing from going
undetected.

The Phase IT work plan focused on selected businesses in four key aseas —
FIA, Marine, Petrochemicals and Power — as well as allegations involving FSI that
had emerged in the investigation by the Munich Prosecutor. A more Hited review
was to be conducted of two other business areas, Piping Supply and Railways.
Importantly, and in contrast to the approach in Phase 1, the work plan envisaged that
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the Investigation would, within each key business area, sample projects, examine key
vendors, focus on management-fevel decisions and assess the role of fnvolved
subsidiaries. Moreover, the Investigation was to examine the business culture,
evaluate the controls environment, assess the conduct of top management and collect
and assess consultancy agreements across busingss areas.

No work was envisaged in lower-risk business arcas. Certain inifially
envisaged workstreams were either performed by Heuking (e.g., YACE) oraet
substantively pursued at all (¢.g., Equipment Sclutions) based on the conclusions as to
risk profile reached during the scoping exercise.

At the request of the Supervisory Board, Debevoise Was also esked with a
review of the compliance environment (with 2 particularfocus on the role of former
members of the Forsiand), 2 compliance andit of MFI and an invesiigation of certain
automotive projects in Algeria (leading 1o a separate report not included herein).

The immediate priorities for Phase I were (i) the attomotive projects in
Algeria (with a view to satisfying the requitements of busigess partnexs Daimler AG,
Rheinmetall AG and MTU Friedrichshafen GmbH]), {ii) the Greek and Portuguese
submerine projects (with real-time reporting to theCompany with a view to assisting
KPMG's work on fhe audited findncial statements) and (iil) identifying and
condueting potentially high-valie interviews, with individuals in key positions at the
Compauy, such as ¢the former head of 1.egal (as set out in the body of this Repart, it
trangpired that most of fhibse individuals were not available to the Investigation).

E. Limitations and Qualifieations to this Report

The Supervisory Board requested this Report to set forth in ane place a written
summary of the aetivities and findings of the Investigation. Such a wrtlen summary
may assist the Supervisory Board, and the Company more generally, in many ways.
Among other beniefits, a written report organizes and makes aceessible a considerable
amoutit of information, and it perrnits informed discussion throughout the Company
about compliance reforms and whether they effectively address past problems.

The Report nevertheless is only a summary. Detailed findings have been
reported to Legal, Comphance, Tax and Accounting in the extensive download and
Hendover sessions conducted since 2 September 2010, which included writlen “talking
points™ and extensive supporting documentary evidence. Such docurmensation is
availsble both at the Company and in an electronic library, which the Company asked
Heuking to set up in connection with its claims management task. In several
instances, the Company immediately reacted to the findings and established work
groups to investigate further and fo prepare the necessary corporate decisions.
Accordingly, this Report does not detail all of the evidence that has been amassed
duing the Investigation and does not purport to provide a factually complete acoount
of every project or every consultancy arrangement reviewed. '
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* This Report is the work product of Debevoise and sets out the views and
asseasments of Debevoise onfy. In this Report, Debevoise describes its findings on
the areas that were subjeot to the Investigation pursuant to the mandate from the
Supervisory Board, detailed in Section 1.D.3 above. Debevoise does not desetibe, o1
express opinions o, areas of investigation that continued in Phase II but were led by
Heuking, such as Oman (M3000), VACE or Portugal/ACECIA.

This Report addresses the conduct of Ferrostaal and some of its corporate
bodies and internal organs concerning compliance matters. The Report does ot
address or reach conclusions about the conduet of any individual and shouldnot be
read as doing so, either expHcitly or implicitly. The Report anonymizes the names of
current and former employess to protect against information being attributed to any
particular individual, to help the Company preserve applicable Iegal privileges, fo
comply with Gerran data protection and privacy laws and, in certaln cases, to profect
the safety of individuals, Similarly, in 2 number of places the Report generically
describes the activities of “management,” “managers,” the “Vorstand”’ or other groups
of Ferrostaal’s personnel oz corporate bodies. Whendoing so it is important not to
assume that the knowledge or conductdescribed is attributable equally to all
individuals within that group or body. No two iadividuals are identically sitnated;
knowledge of and involvement in activities described in this Report varies widely
from individual to individual, and in many eases at least some individuals within a
broadty defined group or corporate body may have had no knowledge of ox
inyolvement in the activities deseribed) What is important for this Report is nof the
knowledge or involvement — or lagk of it — of any particular individual, but rather the
Tact that at least someindividuals within that group or corporate body had such
knowledge or involvement.

In litie with the mandate conferred upon Debevoise to conduct an investigation
mto possible compliance deficiencies and weaknesses in the Company’s internal
controls, the coneltisions of the Investigation are based on standards of proof that may
bedower than thoss applied in civil or criminal cases. Further, it should be noted that
= as siressed yepeatedly in the substantive discussion in this Report — a number of
sigiificant witnesses declined to cooperate with the Investigation, which limited the
abilify to reach conclusions on certain topics. Many of the key witnesses were former
employees who could niot bie compelled to participate in interviews. In some
imstances this Report expressly states that an individual declined fo be interviewed by
Debevoise; but even where this is not expressly stated, it should not be assumed that
the individuals mentioned (whether cirrent or former emplovees or third parties) were
interviewed.

Debevoise atterapted to interview all current and former employees deseribed
directly or indirectly in the Repott, in some cases extending multiple interview
invitations, attempting to negotiate with their individual counsel and proposing
amnesty in appropriate cases, Insofar as the foxmer Vorstand members are concerned,
their refusal to be interviewed has been near uniforin:  out of nine foxmer Vorstand
members we sought to interview, only one actually participated in an Investigation
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interview. The Vorstand membess who refused havs, directly or through their
counsel, given various explanations for their refusal to be interviewed, including that
they were concerned about prejudicing themselves in connection with pending or
threatened criminal or civil proceedings. Regardless of the explanation, the effect of
that refusat has been that these individuals have chosen not to provide their
perspectives and recollections, and in doing so have foregone the opportunity o have
those perspectives and recollsctions taken into account in the Investigation's findings.

In analyzing and reporting an the Investigation, we have congidered the nature
and quality of the evidence regarding each allegation, and have endeavored {0
describe our assessment of the evidence. For example, we axe generaliyreltctant to
make a finding based only on a single, vacorroborated statement. However, whers
such a statement is corroborated by other witnesses or by documentary evidence, ot is
supported by the totality of surrounding circumstancés, i providesa fimuer basis for
investigative findings. Hence a staterpent that a payment to & copsultant was mads for
an improper purpose, standing alone, typicallyaequires further scrutiny; that statement
becomes more credible, however, if examination of the project with which it was
associated reveals that ne demonstrable sérvices were provided in retinn, the payment
was disproportionately large compared to any ostensible services to be provided, the
payment was justified based on fictitious proof of performance, neither the consultant
not any of the employees involved can offer a legitimate basis for the payment, or
stmilar facts tending to call into question the bona fides of the payment.

The Investigation, by thetermsand scope of its mandate, has not meant (o
establish evidence sufficient for any legal defense, claim or other measure that the
Company determinesdo pirsue. The task of making the relevant legal assessinent, as
well as undertaking any additional investigations that may be required to complste the
necessary fact-finding, has in each ¢ase been conferred to other firms. The Company
has established processes to ensure access to the findings of the Investigation.

Debevoise isissning this Report to the Supervisory Board. The Supervisory
Boardyin conjunction with Porstand, may decide o publish parts or all of this Report
to certain constituencies with an interest in its contents. The publication decision is,
Bowever, for the Supervisory Board and the Porstand. The limitations we have
deseiibed are an integral part of this Report, Any further publication by the
Supervisory Board of this Report in whele or in part must likewise include
corresponding publication of the limitations that necessarily qualify the
Investigation’s findings.

. COMPLIANCE SYSTEMS AND CONTROLS

This section addeesses how Ferrostaal®s systerns and controls failed to provent
questionable or improper payments from being made after the law probibiting corrupt
payments to foreign officials (Gesetz zur Beldmpfing internationaler Bestechung, or
“IntBest") went into effeet. As a general matter, the Company’s senior management
- in particular the Vorstand — did not develop and implemeant a comprehensive
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strategy on how risks associated with payments to consultants could be identified,
evaluated, managed and minimized. The Vorstand's response to the difficult
compliance challenges faced by the Company’s business after 15 February 1999 was,
on the whole, inadequate.

This section seis out the Vorstand’s legal obligation to ensure that business is
conducted tawfully, as well as the steps the Forstand and other members of senior

‘management took to promote compliance with anti-corruption laws. [The evidence

indicates that these steps did not sufficiently change the Company’s eutiure and failed
adequately to address the risk profile of the Company’s operations. The Vorstand
also missed important opportunities to take comprehensive and effective action to deal
with specific circumstances that brought compliance issues to the fore.

This section doss not provide a comprehensive analysis of all compliance
violations identiffed during the Investigation or deseribed in Sections I and IV of
this Report. It does not seek to agsess why cach and every potential compliance
violation ccowred or to identify the precise weaknesses i the Company’s controls
and structures that fafled to prevent to such wiolations, Rather, it identifies the key red
flags that came to the attention of the Forstand but were not adequately addressed, as
well as the structural issues that contributed to Ferrostaal’s culture of compHance
failings,

A, Management’s Responsibility to Ensure Lawful Business

Under the rules of proper bnsiness managemment of the Stock Corporation Act
{Aktiengeselz), the Vorstand has 10 establish and maintain an effective compliance
organization. The Vorstand is not required to establish or oversee every detail of the
compliance program, but it does have to promulgate policies and corpliance
guidelines, oversee that the compliance organization ensures their appropriate
enforcement, monitor whether employees adbiere to them and correct deficiencies if
needed.

Tofulfill its general obligation to establish and oversee a compliance
organization, the Vorstand is required to analyze the particular compliance risks faced
and to.develop measures to eliminate them. An effective compliance organization
would thus take into account whether fhe Company was at particularly high risk of
compliance violations by virtue of the business it engaged in, its size, its decentralized
organizational structure, its operations in high-risk countries and ifs past practices.

To fulfill ite general obligation, the Vorstand must also demonstrate
commitment to the compliance program; assign responsibility for the compliance
organization to individuals invested with real authority; create a suitabie system for
reporting compliance violations; provide adequate resources, training and supervision
for the compliance organization; and ensute that compliance officers are not burdened
by conflicts of interest. Finally, the Vorstand is also responsible for developing an
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effective control system that makes clear to employees that compliance violations
would be detected and adequately disciplined.

B  Development of Compliance Systems and Controls

Set out below ig an overview of the key compliance systerns and centrols in
place at the Company duting the Report period. As discussed in Section 1L.C, below
and detailed in Sections I1I and IV, these measures proved insufficiant ia themselves
to prevent compliance violations.

I Initial Responses to Changes in German Law

Tn January 1999, the then CEO wrote to the Vorsfand and 1o the heads of the
business units and subsidiaries about the iraminent ifaplémentation of the /niBestG.
According 10 the memorandum, responsibility for addressing the new law rested with
the Bereichsvorstdnde and the subsidiary heads, who were to coordinate with the
business units, The CEO’s memorandum specifically referred its recipients to an
attached analysis by the then head of Legal indicating that the new law applied both to
payments made pursuant to agreements entered before the changs in the law and to
payments made indirectly via third parties.

In April 1999, the thes!CFO circulated a memarandum setting out new
procedures for the payment of comumissions in view of the recent introduction ofthe
IntResiG. According tothe memorandum, 2 commission payment was to be made
only if the underlying agreement was memorialized in writing, approved by the
responsible Bereichsvorsiand and filed with Accounting, which was to use the
information thefein to checkidgainst the corresponding payment request. The
memorandum also conditioned payment on proof that the recipient had performed
SErVices.

In a Tollew-up memorandum in May 2001, the CFO updated the procedures to
vequire that fhe underlying agreement be submitted for approval before it had been
signed, that #be accompanied by the answers to a 21-point questionnaire (requesting
information on the consultant’s quatifications, organization, sharebelders and
beneficial owners) and that it be cleared by the CFO in addition fo the
Bereichsvorstand. The memorandum also called on the business uniis to docurnent
eorrespondence with the consultant or, in the absence of written communications, to
dooument regplarly the consultant’s activities.. The memorandum advised that Tax,
pursuant to its responsibility for verifying the deductibility of commission payrnents,
was 1o inspect such records. In addition, Tax was to ask responsible employees (i.e.,
those who had signed the consultancy agreements or payment suthorizations) to sign &
declaration that they had no indication that the commissions were to be used in
violation of the fmtBestG, '

By late 2001, the CFO and the respective Bereichsvorsidnde were routinely
consulting Tax and Legal in connection with their review of consultancy agreements.
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The involvement of the two departments was cemented in the January 2002 edition of
the organizational guidelines (Organisationsrichilinien Anweisungsberechtigungen),
which required that consultancy agreements be cleared'by Tax and Legal in addition
1o the two Vorstand members. By virtie of its inclusion in the organizational
guidelines — a set of rules issued by the Forstfand to govern the Company’s
commercial dealings (e.g., the approval of projects, the assumption of certain risks
and the authorization of payments) — the new procedure became bindingon Fertostaal
AG and generally on its subsidiaries.

"2, Key Elements of Ferrostaal's Compliance Systers andContrals

By January 2002, three years after the CEQ’s memorandum ¢oncerning the
changes in the law, Ferrostaal’s anti-corruption policiesiand conirolg were largely in
place. Except for comparatively mitor modifications such as the ones discussed
below, this basic configuration of directives, procedures and rescurces remained
essentially unchanged until the introduction of MAN measures in 2008--2009.

For most of the decade, Ferrostaal Bad no céntral meehanism for the detection
of compliance tisks. Instead, it relied on a combination of functions that had been
assigned compliance-related responsibilities but were principally focused on other
Company interests: Accounting, Legal, Tax, MAM Internal Audit, the business unit
beads and the Vorsiand,

()  Aecouniing

The formerFO s April 1999 memorandum made Accounting a key part of
the Company’s garly anti-corruption measures. Although its prominence waned with
the development of the cansultancy agreement approval process, which made Tax the
defatilt central location for the contracts and the inttial reviewer of proof of consultant
performance, Accounting remained responsible for a number of important internal
controls. The effectiveness of those controls, however, depended largely on
cooperation from other units at the Company whose adherence to compliance-related
procedures was inconsistent.

For example, in order for Accounting to fulfill its respensibility for ensuring
that each commission payment corresponded to the termes of the consultancy
agreement and to evidence of the consultant’s performance, it naturally required the
respective business unit to provide such information. I appears, however, that
business units did not seliably do so. In 2001, for example, the then CFO reported to
subordinates that an examination of commission payments had identified muitiple
instances in which the business units had failed to provide the required documents,
Ax audit more thas six years later had similar findings.

Rvidence of the congultant’s performance was a particular issue, with

documents and numerous interviews indicating that the business units had no set
standards for maintaining such material and, in many instances, did not do so atall,
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Although “proof of performance” was a focal point of Ferrostaal's anti-corruption
measyres from 1999, it appears that the Company did not formalty define the term
with respect to consultancy agreements untit 2608. Tn 2005, when the concept first
appeated in the organizational guidelines in conmection with service coniracts
generally, it was presented a5 s requirement that could be satisfied simply with the
written instructions for payment by 2 manager with the appropriate level of authority.
Accounting seemed to have arrived at the same standard. As commission payment
request revords suggest, business unit managers apparently satisfied the proof of
petformance requirement by putting the request in a signed note and gending it to
Agoouating,

By 2002, Accounting’s main compliance-related role dppears fo have been
assessing the creditworthiness of new.creditors through public searches
{Kreditauskunf?). Although the checks were not specifically focusedon potentially
corrupi payments — Accounting had performed this task even before 1999 — they gave
Ferrostaal AG a measure of control over commission payments requested by
subsidiasies such as FIA that were not using the parent company’s internal approval
process but were using its accounting system. In suth cases, Accounting could send
the new credifor-consultant fo Tax for revieweven though Tax had no formal role in
the subsidiary’s consultancy agreement approval process.

According to the former head of Tex, Accounting was the function best
positioned to deteet consultancy payments disguised as compensation for other kinds
of services, such as technical assistance or material delivery, as it had access to all of
the Company’s payment Streams. Tax, by contrast, reviewed only consultancy
agreements and certain agency agreements. The former head of Tax recailed that
Accouniing was not tasked withiesting for creditors paid both for consulting work
and other services. The Investigation also found indications that, af least in the early
3000s, Accoubting eontrols would not necessarily have detected that Ferrostaal was
making eoxmission payments to a consultancy firm at the same bark account that the
Company had previousty used to make payments to a different consultancy firm.

(b)  Legal

The Company’s organizational guidelines called for Legal to review
sonsuliahicy agresments for their “Jegal compatibility.” As with the Accounting
créditworthiness check, the legal compatibility check was a compliance-related
responsibility carved out of a responsibility that Legal had been perforrning 2ll along.
Separats sections of the various guidelines issusd from 2000 to 2008 described
Lepal’s general responsibilities in reviewing all agreements for their validity and their
adherence to the model contracts. A former head of Yegal stafed in an inferview that
he approached ail the contracts he reviewed in this way, including the consuliancy
agreements. In those cases, he typically checked whether the contract included the
anti-sorruption clause provided by the model contract and was otherwise well-drafted.
Butt ke did not perform any fusther red-flag analysis. A member of Legal at FIA
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stated in an interview that the consultancy agreement approval process used by the
Geisenheim subsidiary assigned Legal no compliance role whatsoever.

Beyond its role in the consultancy agreement approval process, Legal bad
other responsibilities that touched on compliance. Members of Legal preparedthe
template for consultancy agreements that was distributed when the review process
became part of the guidelines in 2002 and lectured oecasionally on anti-corruption
laws. As Ferrostaal did not have its own internal audit system, Lepgal was sometimes
also tasked with conducting intemal investigations of compliance-related issues or
overseeing such investigations by external counsel. Given that such special
assignments came from the CEQ, to whom Legal reported, there were, isomne cases,
irtherent conflicts of interest which limited Legal’s ability io investigate thoroughly
and independently when the compliance issues potentially involved senior
management. Legal was also asked o advise the Cogtpaay as it faced comuption-
related claims. As such claims affected the commeéreial and legal intezests of the
Company, the circumstances placed additional limits on I egal’s possible role in
investigating compdiance violations.

(c) Tax

The Company’s organizaiional guidelines called for Tax to review consultancy
agresments for their “fax compdiibility.” The former head of Tax stated in an
interview that his chief concesn: in stich review was ensuring tax deductibility. As
such, Tax appeared to haye been primatily focused on being satisfied that the
© agreements did not indicate possible violations of the MmfBestG and that there was
sufficient proof thatthe stated payment recipient was providing genuine, business-
related services agd could be identified with precision (Endempfingerbenennung). As
suggested by its detailed questionnaires and requests for employee certifications,
Tax'sifocns bn identifying sigos of potentially criminal conduct made it one of the
more aggertive elements of the Company’s internial controls system.

At the same time, and as the former head of Tax acknowledged, Tax’s
principal interast was to avoid aftracting attention in the Befricbsprifung, not
necessarily to detect and prevent non-compliant sonduct. Although compatible to an
exient, the two interests were sometimes in tension with each other. For example, in
one memorandum to the business units on the practical consequences of the JmiBesi(,
the former head of Tax, after making the usual pronouncements about the importance
of proof of performance, advised that “rax risks associared with proving the identity of
the end recipient could be avoided, in appropriate cases, by eniering into a
consortium with the commission recipient. In that case, payments to the consortium
pariner are not registered on our books, since they are made directly to the partner by
the customer,” As Sections I1I and IV illustrate, Ferrostaal employees found several
diffarent ways to make payments that posed clear compliance risks but were untikely
to create difficulties in the Tax approval process. At FIA, for example, project
calculation sheets for a project in Iran indicated that the head of [ndustrial Plants was
aware of a business pariner’s detailed plans to pay Nittzliche dufwendungen that
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would have been opaque to the Betriehsprifung, even if they had ultimately come
from FIA’s consortial share.

There are other ways in which tax and compliance interests may have
diverged. A review system oriented around avoiding further sorutiny by the
Betriehspriiffung may become excessively formalisifc, thereby skewing the
compliance risk assessment. One interviewee recalled that at Fervostaal, a
commission of 3.5% was widely known to be the upper end of the accepiable range,
with anything higher moye likely to attract the attention of the tax authorities it an
audit. Agresments submitted for approval with commissions higher than 3.5%
apparently underwent more scrutiny from their reviewers, The nvestigation came
across a shiking number of consultancy agreements at the Company that, seemingly
regardless of the volume of the project or the services tnvolvedyhad commissions of
exactly 3.5%. Alithough from the perspective of Taxythe risk of the various
agreemenis may have been relatively similac, the underlying compliance visks were
likely very different depending on substantive red flags. Similarly, one interviewee
stated that one resson why the Cedico payment systere al FIA escaped atfention for 80
long was because tax anditors tended to wrk by runhing searches on SAP for codes
for certain expenditures, such as commission payments, rather than by other
identifiers, such as names. He recalléd that evenithough the consultancy payments o
Cedico were exhaustively andited, the Betriebspriffung never learned that Cedico also
received payment for material deliveries, which were coded as third-parly goods. An
interpal tax review similarlyfocusedion consultancy agreements to the exclusion of
other kinds of arrangements may have been well-prepared for the challenges posed by
the Betriebspritfimg but not necessarily the risks posed by comroercially sophisticated
employees determingd to make questionable payments.

As discussed above with respeet {0 Accounting, Tax’s effectiveness as a
compliance controblargely depended on access to records of consultant activity
maintained by the business units. The former CFO’s May 2001 memorandum called
for Tax to'conduct random checks of the business units to engsure proper maintenance
of sithrecords. It is unclear why such checks apparently were rarely, if ever, carried
out. Some years later, the Company commissioned BDO AG fo prepate a report on
the©rganizational measures and formal guidelines that it had used from 1998 to 2002
{o ideniify potentially non-dsductible commission payments. The 2005 report, which
found that Fergostaal’s measures and guidelines had generally been adequate in the
pariod reviewed, recommended that Ferrostaal maintain a list of ali consuliancy
contracts concluded within a financial year to facilitate random checks, The
recommendation was not implermented.

(d)  MAN Internal Audit

Ferrostaal did not have its own internal audit function and relied instead on
MAN Internal Audit, whose approximately 15 auditors (five tasked with compliance}
were shared with other MAN Group companies. MAN Internal Audit reportedly
performed over 200 audits at Ferrostaal between 1999 and 2009. While some of these
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audits touched on compliance issues (e.g., & 2005 audit cxamining possible
misappropriation of funds in Venezucla identified weaknessss in intemal controls),
the first audit expressly tasked with investigating possible bribery or assessing anti-
corruption measures apparently onty took place in 2007. The report of that audit
identified numerous weaknesses in the controls at Ferrostaal AG and FIA, ingluding
the lack of a uniform standard for proof of performance, and concluded that the
Company had *ro comprehensive sfrategy™ on how the risks gssociated.with third-

party contracts could be detected and managed. The report mchcated that the then
CEOQ was responsible for implementing its recomtmendations.

{¢)  Business Unit Heads

The role of the business unit heads in compliance matters appears to have been
limited in the period frorn 2002 to 2008 to ensuring that the eonsultancy agreements
they entered contained the anti-cormuption clause recommended in the template
provided by Legal,

63 Vorstand

Debevoise was able to interview only onéformer Vorstand member. The
information he provided indicated that the topic of compliance was dealt with by the
Vorstand as a collective decision-making body. He identified the above-mentioned
checks by the CFO and Tax.as the mzin instances in which such Vorsiand discussions
were triggered.

The exact oleof the Bereichsvorstand in the consultancy agreement clearance
process was relatively undefined. The approval process itself underwent relatively
minor modifications in April 2005, when revised guidelines provided that Tax and
Legal were 0 review the@greement before the Bereichsvorstand and that the CFO
and CEO weonld become involved only if Tax or Legal disapproved of the proposed
agreement, The November 2005 guidelines maintained the review responsibilities of
Tax'and Legal bui shifted responsibility for approval of smaller commission payments
from the Bereichsvorsiand to the business unit heads. Contracis with commission
payments of less than €1 00,000 in the aggregate would merely require notification of
the Bergichsvorstand but not his express consent; coniracts with commissions
exceeding €100,000 in the aggregate continued to require approval from the
Bereichsvorstand. '

In February 2006, the management board of MAN issued a “Code of Conduct”
that set out a basic behavioral codex, including anti-conruption policies, applicable to
all employees of the MAN Group. In a circular, the Ferrostaal AG CEO at the tiwe
informed empioyees of the promulgation of the Code of Conduct and summatrized its
external and internal goals. The Code of Conduet replaced a set of business conduct
guidelines, also with anti-corruption language, that Ferrostaal had issued in 2000.
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The CEO encouraged employees by way of the cireular to approach a newly
created body responsible for ensuring adherence to the Code of Conduct, the MAN
Compliance Board, Representatives of the Compliance Board would be available to
answer guestions aboui the Code of Conduot and to receive reports of eompliance
violations on a confidential basis. We saw no evidence that the MAN Complianee
Board substantively addressed any of the questionable and potentially illegal
compliance practices subject to our Investigation.

TIn Noventher 2006, the Siemens bribery scandal was widely feported in the
press, Inits first meeting thereafier, on 14 December 2006, the Vorstand resolved:
“The work of the MAN Ferrostaal Vorstand focuses on the observance of the

- Corporate Governanee Codax. Over-invoicing and slush funds [schwarze Kassen]
ave not supported by the Vorstand and are not permitted. The Vorstand points out to
all business unit heads that the Code of Conduct of MAN needs to.be adhered 1v.
[The director of Legal Services/Legal] is responsible to confinuoysly examine in
coordination with the Compliance Board of the MAN, swhether the existing systems at
MAN Ferrostaal are sufficient in order to prevenbimproper conduct or whether

- additional measures are necessary.” We identified no evidence that the director of
Legal Services or any other member of Legabperformed such exeminations.

3.  MAN Compliance Measutes Auplicable to Ferrostaal

Express incorporation of MAN's “Anti-Corruption Guideline” in September
2008 reinforced the pringiples and raquirements for consultancy contracts, such as due
diligence to verify the consultant’s identity, integrity and experience. One notable
feature not apparent.in ptior Ferrostaal guidelines was a provision mandating that
consuliancy agreéments coniaii'a clause requiring the consultant to provide
documents evidencing thé services rendered. Where breaches of findamental
contractual Obligations were found and, in particular, where compliance-related
failureg were apparent, the MAN Anti-Corruption Guidelines required the consultancy
conireet {0 be terminated.

The fotmer head of Legal was given the title of chief compliance officer as
Iate@s 2008 but we found no evidence that he actually undertook sdditional
cemphasce functions after that date. The Investigation did not find evidence that
individual business tmits or regional subsidiaries appointed group or local compliance
officers.

Unti! the introduction of an “e-learning tool” in the spring of 2008, Ferrostaal
offered no systematic anti-bribery training to its employees. Prior to that time,
compliance fraining — other than occasional speeches on the topic — appeats 10 have
besn limited to top management and employees with a coramercial power of attorney
(Handlungsbevollmachtigte). The extent to which compliance training was indeed
implemented-on 2 large scale for Ferrostaal employees is unclear; according to the
minutes of the Compliance Board meeting on 18 June 2008, only 73 Perrostaal
employees would undergo compliance training in 2008.
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The absence of mote regular and expansive compliance training opportunities
in view of an anticipated discussion on intengified training had been discussed in May
2007 in an e-mail exchange involving the former head of Legal and several former
Vorstand members, Responding to the former CEQ’s proposal to advocate before the
MAN Compliance Board fraining for & limited group of employees every two years,
the former head of Legal (and Ferrostaal’s representative to the ComplianceBoard)
opined that such a proposal would likely be viewed as inadequate. The e-mail, when
read against the backdrop of Ferrostaal’s very limited compliance training at the fime,
highlights management’s lack of emphasis on this topic.

C. Vorsiand Awareness of Red Flags

What makes the Forstand's puported discharge of its duty to epsure
compliant business through the measures set out above even more fdoking in
substance is the fact that Vorsfand members must have known that there was a real
rigk that Ferrogtaal managers were continuing to make impropér payments and taking
steps to conceal them, Ferrostaal’s business, or ableast sabstantial parts, should have
been classified as “high risk” and thus have led to sphanced compliance measures.

Bribery had occurred at Ferrogtaal priorto 1999. It was the recognition of
precisely that fact that led to the adéption of the 1999 memorandum from Legal —
discussed above — which pointed out that bribe payments under contracts concluded
before 1999 must no longer be effesied. Moreover, numerous press reports,
investigations, office raidg and cther red flags had pointed to potentially corrupt
business practices at Ferrosiaal which should have raised the Vorstand's level of
. awareness of the confinuing risk of corruption. Compounding the Vorstand 's
awareness of substantial historical and ongoing compliance risks, a limited group of
employees {principally the former CRQ and the former head of Tax) and advisors
routinely raised questions regarding the tax dedunctibitity of consultancy payments,
startingidn 2000, thus bringing these payments and scme of the problematic issues
surrounding themtothe attention of the Vorstand,

The Vorstand failed to investigate those red flags and ifs response, from a
cornpliance perspective, to identified issues was on the whole either inadequate or
nep-exisient. The list of such individual red flags brought to its atteption — fiom
external and internal sources — is indicative of the Vorsfand’s passive approach and
shows how the Company missed opportunities to identify and cure compliance
problems and thus to prevent them from reoccurring in the future.

» In Qetober 1999, Spiegel reported that Ferrostaal, in 1993, had paid DEM
200,000 in bribes to Bachanudin Habibie, the trade secretary of Indonesia (and
later its President). Such payment had been made in connection with the
assignment for improvement of a steelworks in Indonesia and was processed
through accounts in Liechtenstein. Spiegel published the corresponding
payment document, The review of the Indonesia business shows that internal
payment records dating back to the 1990s identified payments to entitiss
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associated with Habibie as Nifzliche Aufwendungen {see Section IL.C.1).
Debevoise saw no evidence of any form of a Company intexnal investigation
into the issue, as a result of the Spiege! article or otherwise.

On 28 May 2001, three Porstand members (the then CEO, the then CFO aad
the then Bereichsvorstand for Marine) met with the then head of Tax 1o
discuss conmnission payments to MIE, the Company’s Greek agent. When the
head of Tax raiced the point that the volume and modality of payments might
trigger investigations by the public prosecutor, the CEO agreed that such
investigations could not be excluded due to the changein law: “inlight of the
new legal environment we can indeed not rule out investigative proceedings by
authorities in the future. However, Ferrostaal needs 16 confront i3
situation” The CEO's conclusion, to the effect that Fegrostaal simply had to
face such risk, in conjunction with his position thatthe issues saised by the
former head of Tax regarding the high level of commission payable to MIE
were niot serious enough to renege on the payment, which he had personally
promised to MIE, are indicative of how chjectiongraiged through the internal
controls mechanisms were simply swept aside by the Vorstand. This incident,
together with gimilar examples of Forstand discussions about subsequent
payments to MIE (see Section HL.A.1), also show the clear limitations of the
aliegedly collective decisionsinaking process on compiiance matters that the
former Bereichsvorstond (present mthose discussions) described.

On 21 April 2002, (i€ Handelsbiat veported allegations that Ferrostaal had
paid bribes to Sard Abacha, the Nigerian dictator. Ferrostaal had been

awarded a contract for the construction of an aluminurs smelting works in
Nigeria in e 1900s. This project triggered office raids at Fervostaal in
August/September 2004 based on allegations that a former Ferrostaal
emplofes bad received improper payments from Nigerian parties and
prompted investigations by prosecutors in Bochum against the former CEO for
aiding andabetting a breach of fiduciary duty,

A 27 November 2002 memorandim by the future head of Marine fo the then

CFQ identified irregulatities with respect to payments o an offsef consultant

used m connection with the Greek submarine project, including that that the

commission percentage due fo the consultant was not fixed but in a range and
that two payments had been made on the basis of an oral agreement. The
record does not reveal any form of follow-up to this memorandum, Instead,
Ferrostaal proceeded to make payments of approximately €7 48 million

between 2002 and 2004 to the offset consultant, PDM Ltd, and its allegedly

affiliated entity, Zelan Ltd. The nature and purpose of the arrangement, the

7

“Auf Grund der newen Rechislage konnen Brmitthmgsverfahven in Zukunft taisachlich nicht
ausgeschlossen werden, Dem muss sich Ferrosiaal aber stellen
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payment modalities and the compiete lack of documented proof of
performance by the consultants raise serious concerns (see Section [ILA.1(d)).

J In connection with the sale of a tug boat to the Egyptian Suez Canal Authority,
employees of Merchant Marine made an oral agreement with the Company’s
Egyptian agent to increase its commission percentage (see Section THLA.5).
Upon learning of this increase, the then CFO and the then head of Tax pointed
out the incompatibility of the pre-existing agency agreement#with the orally
arranged commission, which was justified to the CFQ on the basis of higher
project costs. To respond to the CFO’s concerns, Merchant Marine entered
into an addendun fo the original agency agreement in February 2003
specifying the higher commission percentage, butby then the payment had
already been made based on the oral agreement, There was evidently no effort
by the Company fo probe the substantive legitimacy of the increased
commission percentage or, indeed, to question why a payment had been made
based on an oral agresment,

. On 23 December 2003, Financial Times Deutschland reported on the

conviction of 2 British businessman by a Swiss court for money laundering.
According to this report, the eourt found that Ferrostaal had made DEM 20
million in payments to a bank acGount belonging to Abacha. In conmection
with the case, Essen tax authorities gbtained a warrant to search Ferrostaal
headquarters in 20040 Debevoise saw no evidence of an internal investigation
into this issue as/@ result of the adverse press reports or the fax authority
search,

» In February 2008, the then head of Tax requested that the heads of Ferrostaal’s

business Units declare that they were not aware of non-deductible payments
between 2006, and 2007 and certify that their respective business units were in
compliance with applicable laws and regulations. The former head of
Merchant Marine signed the declaration only pertaining io the issue of tax
deduetibility but omitting the entire second paragraph of the declaration. The
head of Tax, according to a handwritten note on the declaration, decided not to
address this issue with the head of Merchant Marine because he considered the
retusal not to be “overly significant.” In our interview, the head of Merchant
Marine said that he informed the responsible Bereichsvorstand that the

- certification as drafted would require him to ignore payments in Argentina,
Indonesia and Thailand. Because he did not want to certify 2 falsehood, he
substantially changed the declaration, According to the head of Merchant
Marine, others in Marine likewise refitsed 1o sign the certification in ths
maneer requested, something that we have not been able to verify. No action
was taken In response, nor did a substantive review of payments in the
business unit oceur as a resul,

» | On 10 September 2004, the Trinidad & Tobago State Anti-Corruption

Investigations Bureau raided the offices of CNC Limited in Trinidad and
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confiscated correspondence relating 1o its fiscal incentives and gas contract
with the National Gas Company of Trinidad & Tobago. CNC Limited wasa
project company in which Ferrostsal had a share and on whose board the then
head of Petrochesicals sat. Debevoise identified no evidence that the
Trinidadian raid led to an examination by Ferrostaal of its business practices
or contracting and payment arrangetnents on the project, even though the then
CEO ard the then head of Legal obtained press reports regarding the'eaid.

e former CEGathe
former head of Marine and a former Vorstand membet responsible for Marine
wers questioned as witnesses by Ditsseldorf prosecutors investigating

allagatiang involving payments by HDW (and possibly Fertostaal) #6 Sotiris
Epmanou], the president of Hellenic Shipyards (“HSY?). Thewitness
statements were sent to and kept by the former director of Legal Services.
While it appears that Ferrostaal played no role in-the payments from HDW to
benefit Emmanouil — having rejected a “THeads of Agreement” proposed by
HD'W in the fall of 2001 that stipulated pavments to acompany affiliated with
Emmanouil — Ferrostaal did in fact pay that same cempany approximately
€2.2 million in 2002 via MIE. Neither Iegal nor anyone else at Ferrostaal

took steps to Investigate the allegation of Ferrostaal’s involvement in such

potentially corrupt payments. Had they done so, they might have dGiscovered
that at least ene person abthe Company at the time, the new head of Marine,
had confirmation of the payments to the entity in question (see Section
LA D).

On 19 June 2006, Diisseldotf anthorities raided Marine offices on the
suspicion of bribery of South African officials in connection with the sale and
supply of four corveltes to the South Afican Navy.

On 16 Februaty 2007, the tax suditor of the Diisseldorf public prosecutor
recommended that criminal proceedings be instituted against as-yet unknown
individuals at Ferrostaal for tax evasion in connection with payments to Mailar
Ine., a eonsultancy firm engaged on the South African submarine project. The
xnatter was lator passed to prosecutors in Bochum. The former CFO was 2
suspect in these proceedings before they were halted due to insufficient
evidence of bribery. Debevoise saw no evidence that Ferrostaal’s consultancy
arrangements on the South African submarine project were subject to any form
of internal compliance review or examination as a resuit.

On 3 April 2006, 2 lawyer from Simmons & Simmons delivered a presentation
to the Yorstand on third-party contracts in international sales. He focused on
certain key issues, including anti-bribery laws and the consequences of their
violation. With respect to examination by the Berriedsprifung, the lawyer
pointed out the necessity of having sufficient documentation of services and
recommended that the Company not meke payments to offshore accouats,

The potential misuse of consultancy contracts to facilitate bribe payments was
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—

clearly illustrated in three hypothetical scendrios. This did not prompt the
Vorstand to order a detailed examination of whether such violations had
ocecurred at Ferrostaal, despite the fact that the Company used an extensive
network of consultants throughout the wozld.

In 2006 and 2007, Dolmearton made renewed claims for payment of sipnificant

outstanding commigsions relating to the Greek submarine project, Following

the departure of the former Bereichsvorstand and the former head of Marine,
the issue of third-party payments made on the project ¥ia MIE bad becn the
subject of enquiries made by the new-head of Marine in 2004.  The inifial
review and the subsequent investigation through exterpal advisors 2606
2007 were inadequate and fundamentally flawed, atdeast as regards their
compliance-related remit (see Section ITLA1).

In the spring of 2807, the then CFO retained KPMG to conduct an analysis of
Ferrostaal’s creditors based on its accounting data. Although KPMG found no
firm indications of wrongdoing, it noted a nuimber of risks — including a
striking number of Ferrostaal creditors associated with offshore jurisdictions
or in countries prone to corruption — that possibly presented “grounds for
concrete investigation,” While the then CFO ordered additional testing of
some individual creditors, Debevolse saw no evidence that the report led to
changes in the way that new ereditors were to be evaluated by Accounting.

In 2007, a MAN Iaternal Audit report found serious compliance defects at
F1A, including no systematie controlling of consultancy contracts, poor
documentatigfand violations of the “four eyes” principle. Shortly after the
audit report was released, the head of Tax asked FIA representatives to
provids asstrances that Samir Mhane, a Libyan consultant specifically cited in
the repert as enexample of inadequate proof of performance, actually had
provided legitimate services. After initially responding that Mhana was an
“Infoermation dealer” who provided information to FIA orally (therefore
“Ipfroof of performance cannot be documented”), FIA employees proceeded
to genecrate backdated reports purporting to document Mhana’s performance
over the previous two years.

A 2007 MAN audit of Ferrostaal’s Venezuelan subsidiary uneovered evidence
of possibly corrupt consultancy payments and substantial intemnal controls
weaknesses in connection with the Termozulia I project. The former CEQ’s
response to MAN’s report, namely to commission a “Special Audit” with 2
questionable remit, is described in Section TLB.1.

in 2008, MAN Iniernal Audit reported to the Vorstand that it had uncovered
evidence and an admission of private-sector bribery by an employee in the

- trading division of the Indonesian local company. The employee in question

was subsequently terminated, but no furiher investigation of the business in
qusstion or, indeed, the Indonesian business more generally, ocourred.
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. In Qctober 2007, the then CFQ of FIA asked the CEQ, CFO and Verstand
member responsible for FIA then at Fercostasl AG 1o approve an apparent
agreement between FIA and tax anthorities pursuant to which DEM 981,084
in Libyan commission payments in 1997, 1298 and 2001 would not be
considered tax-deductible in exchange for assurances that the issue wouldme!
be forwarded to prosecutors. Accompanying the former FIA CF(Q’s reguest
was a memorandum noting that FIA had declared some of the pre-1999
payments to be Nurzliche Aufwendungen and had been unable to convince
auditors that a number of the other pavments had actually bees destined forthe
stated recipients. The Vorstand members acquiesced I the agreement. The
Investigation found no indication that the Porstand membets enguired dfito the
background of the payments or whether FIA had improved its documentation
of consultancy arrangements in the interim.

. The Vorstand's failura to take appropriate aciion in light of problematic
statements by a former manager and later CEQ of the local company in
Indonesia in May 2009 has already been 'set outinSection 1.C.3,

In sumenary, no speoific investigations were laumched into events that catue to
the Yorstand s attention and no specific questions were raised as to whether the
compliance systems were adequate 10 address the challenges posed. The Investigation
identified no evidence that the Verstand performed & risk assessment to evaluate
whether further measures were required, Similacly, we received few indications that
specific measures responsivetoany ofthese red flags or, indeed, the potential
compliance violations outlined inthe remainder of the Report, were taken.

. DETAILEDINVESIIGATION FINDINGS: ESSEN

A. Vessels

1. Submarines Greece

(a) Projects Investigated

Building on the work performed in Phase I, Debevoise analyzed payments
from Ferxostaal to its Greek agent, MIE, and other third parties in cormection with the
two Greek submarine contzacts of the German Submarine Consortinm (*GSC”).

The Archimedes contvact was signed on 15 February 2000 and has a volume of
approximately €1.14 billion, of which approximately €263.2 million represented
Ferrostaal’s share, Under the confract, the GSC was to deliver material packages for
three Type 214 submarines to HSY in Greece, with the fourth submarine to be built at

HD'W’s shipyard in Kiel. The consortium also incurred associated offset obligations
in the amount of €1.53 billon.
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The Neptun I contract involved the modemization of three Type 269
submarines at HSY, with an option for a fourth submarine. The contract was signed
on 31 May 2002 and has a volume of approximately €469.4 million, of which
approximately €43.8 million is attributable to Ferrostaal. Offset obligations m
relation to this contract amounted to €563 million.

(b)  Metrios

During Phase II, Debevoise interviewed eight current or formerFerrostaal
employees in connection with the Greek submarine projects, inchuding one former
Vorstand member. A number of key former employees who were@pproached
declined to be interviewed. Debevoise also interviewed certain(third parties

including Yannis Belisios, a consultant; Anthony Chagias, a former employee of MIE;
" Dr. Aldenhoff of Simmons & Simmons; Oliver Schulz of Control Risks: and David
« Way, an English aftorney who represented a group of individuals who asserted claims v
{ against Ferrostaal in 2004, with whom we spoke briefly by telephone, While we
\comacted many of the other third parties involved mthe Gresk submarine projects
¢ {most notably Michae! Matantos), the atternpts to interyiew them were unsuccessful,

Debevoise reviewed electronic data and substantial hard copy files, including
_more than 60 binders that had been confiseated by the Munich Prosecutor. Debevoise
also reviewed materials provided as a result of the Cormpany’s access, late in the
Investigation, to the Munich Prosecutor’s investigation fiies (Akzeneinsicht).

© Background and General Observations

The story emetging ftom the evidence of the non-transparent third-party

payments from Ferfostaal via MIE to the “prayer circle” (Gebetskreis®) - a mysterious

oup of allegediy hi influential and well connected consultants and lobbyists — is
compleX)confusing andaisimes contradictory. Neasly 70 protocols of witnesses and
accuased taken by the Munich Prosecutor — including current and former Ferrostaal
employees, consnltants, former managers of HD'W and other business persons — have
produced an almost equal number of different theories and explanations of the
rationalg’and justification for the payment arrangements and some of the individual /
payments, as well as of the roles of the individuals involved.® The Greek third-party
paymentyare at the heart of the Munich Prosscutor’s investigation against Ferrostaal.
The@ocount in this Report does not purport to be a comprehensive analysis of the

8 The former head of Marine interchangeably used the term “Team A™ to describe the same group

of individuvals, Throughout this Repott, we refer to the group by the term Gebeiskreis.

For axampls, the differing characterizations of the role of Alexandre Avatangelos, purportediy a
key fioure of the Gebetskrais, are striking: the former Bereichsvorstand did not mention him as
part of the Gebetskrels; the former head of Marine atiributed to hitm & central rale and reforred to
him as “Big Alex’ (der grofe Alex); MIR’s Matantos denied having heard of him and Hermann
Graf von Pickler, said to be himself 2 member of the Gebefekveds, did not consider Avatangelos
to be part of the circle,
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entirety of the evidence and, in particular, does not exhaustively analyze the wealth of
evidence available as g result of the Aktereingichi.

Instead, this section describes the two focal points of Debevoise’s
investigative approach, as it was informed by the totality of the evidence (as andwhen
i bacame available) but also inevitably limited by the inaccessibility of some of the
key protagonists due to the parallel fuvestigation by the Munich Prosecutor. #rst, we
analyzed the payments from Ferrostaal to MIE and sought to identify, fothe extent
possible, the third-party recipients who received the approximately €55 illion
forwarded by MIE, in order to establish the likely nature and purpose of those
payments. Second, we reviewed the Company’s own investigative efforis, ineluding
in connection with the repeated claims by Alexandre Avatangelos, analieged
Gebeiskreis member, in order critically to assess the implications that may be drawn
as to the Company’s approach to complisnce. We scrufinized thetele of the Vorstand
and central funvtions in evaluating the Company’s actions in this highly contentious
matter that culminated in the €11 miltion settlement payment to Dolmarton in 2007.
Ir: addition, we also reviewed the evidence of MIE’s own pefformance, which
confirms that — in addition to petforming the role of payment intermediary - MIE
provided genuine and extensively documentsd consulfancy and representation
sexvices,

What emetges from this feview is the likelihood that at least some of the third-
party paymenis were intended for comript or other chminal purposes.
Notwithstanding claims thét the Gebefskreis provided genuine and legitimate
consultancy or lobbying services, the extent of obfiscation in diverting more than €33
mdllion to largely unidentified thixd parties without a documented contractual basis
suggests that Impgoper motivestoay, to a large extent, have been at the root of the
payments. In repeated testilmony to the Munich Prosecutor, the two protagonists
responsible for selegting the recipients and organizing the payments — the former
Bereichivorstand and the former head of Marine ~ conceded the distinct possibility,
and indecd likeliiong; that the payments were used, at least in pat, for corrupt

plposes: _ /
. We afl knew that if it way necessary fo forward money to decision-

makers, this would be dune. [ did not went to know from Mr.
Bemirdiian how much and whom he poid.

We did not concern durselves pruch with what Team A was going to
do with afl this money @i the fime we made the conlractual
arrangements, nobwithstanding the suspicion thet public officials
might benefit from the fumds. This happened before 1999 and thus
was not ¢ big ivsue.

1 can’i tell you to whom monies might have beer pald. We did nol
kriow whether the defense minister or the sconomy minister
received something. Frankly, we were nol inferestedin thal. #We
never wanted to know that.
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1 was clear to me thay, If necessary, money would be passed on.
And it was gceceptable to me i this were to happen.

1 don’t kmow how much of thelr compensation the consultants /
passed on. I is evident that they likely passed on a portivn of their

Junds, We did nol inlt about who recaived these funds. { agres

with You in assuming that these people passed on g portion of thair

Jees, in accordance with the existing usages in Greece.

Although the precise roles and functions of the third parties remain murky, it
appears that the British-Lebanese businessman Ago Demirdjian and the German
businessman Hermann Graf von Piickler initially played keyroles in arranging for
Ferrostaal’s contacts in Greece. Demirdiian and von Plickler, both accused
(Beschuldigte) in the Munich Prosecutor’s investigation, knew each other from
business deals in Sandi Arabia and elsewhere. In approximately 1996 or 1597, they
were approached by the then Bereichsvorstand for Marine as 1o whether they could

_recommend a group of advisors who could heip Ferrostaal pursiie a submarine project

in Greece. Demirdjian recalled identifying Michel Filipidis, with whom he had done

—businesy in Saudi Avabia and who indicated that he knew the right people in Greece,
most importantly Avatangelos. Filipidigand, mparticular, Avatangelos thereafter
emerged ag Ferrostaal’s principal adyisors within this group, according to
Demirdjian’s testimony to the Munich Prosecutor.

Ferrostaal signed several contsacts in 1997 with offshore entities agsociated
with Gebetsfreis members) Having allegedly determined in 1998 that contracts with
offshore entities were no fonger viable for reasons conuected with the OECD Anfi-
Bribery Convention, demrostaal bundled its individual agreements with the
Gebetshreis into one contract with MIE, on the understanding that MIE would
distribute a share of payments i received from Ferrostaal o those offshore entifies at
Ferrostaal’s ingtruction. The previous individual contracts between Ferrostaal and the
offshore entities, three of which were said to have been deposited in a safe at UBS
Zurich, were suvsequently allegedly destroyed.

: Ferrostaal’s March 1998 agreement with MIE, under which MIE would
_receive a 7% success fee for assisting in the acquisition and execution of the
“drchimedgs contyact, thus also encompassed the commissions due to the Gebeiskreis
ventities. Following a 4% agreement with MIE in 2002 pertaining to the Neptun If
1 contract and related offset obligations, Ferrostaal managed to reduce the overall
2comnm&ssxm*; percentage due under the MIE contracts to 5% pursuant to a final
gagreement in Qctober 2003 that replaced all prior contracts. In sum, payments from
Ferrostaai to MIE totalled €83.97 million between 2000 and 2003, of which
‘approximately €55.1 million was forwarded by MIE o third parties.

In various meetings in early 2004, Avatangelos asserted claims against
Ferrostaal for further payments. The clains were rejected by the new head of Marine
for lack of evidence of a contract and of services rendered. Two years later, through
his offshore entity Dolmarton, Avatangelos c!m\.d outstanding ps.yments of €52

- ety s
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w e e TATRE agamsz }?errosta to th ssen“&i'iﬁ‘*‘i“ct caurt (Landgenckt) Wﬂh the tacit
agreement of its former consortium partner, Ferrostaal reached a mediated setilement
with Dolmarton i July 2007 in the amount of €11 milkion.

(i)  Third-Parfy Recipients

A principal focus of the Tnvestigation was to ascertam the identities of the
third-party beneficiaries. The starting point and key document in this regard is a list
prepared by Michael Matantos, MIE’s principal, which indicates amounts and dates of
payments to two individuals and seven corporate entities {the “Matantog ligt"),
¢ Matantos provided fhe list to the then head of Matine {h 2004, Tt

reproduced below: e

March 2000: YB - €1,000,600

10 April 2000; Georgios Agouridis — €5,000,600

13 June 2000 dstan & Middlz Bastern Engineering & Consulting
fnc. — 9,200,060

13 June 2000: Wilberfbree Investmenis Lid. — €11,500,600

5 e 2001 Astan & Middle Fastern Enginzering & Consuiting
Ine. — €1 1,442,060

3 July 2001; Wilberfopee Invesiments Ll — €7,500,000

4 Jaruane 2002: Inveco — €595,088

24 Baly 20022 Inveco - &1,395,603

3 Qatober 2902 Rangiroa Hoidings Frd —€3,353,000

5 Decamber 2002: Morgan Stanley Ref. Kyros - €2,070,000

5 Devember 2002: Morelia Trading 5.4, — €850.225

) Two furthar paymants M!E is ailered to have forwarded to third partles are 8ol uw.ludﬁé on the

_payment fomn Matantos 1o Beltsios, the state of the evidence does not aliow conaluswe
corrobomtion of that allogation, ‘With respect to the second payment, documentary evidence
shows that MIE indead paid €300,000 via check to Eurotechnik Gmbll on 14 June 2000.
Matantos confirmed the payment in his testimony to the Munich Progecutor and noted that he
fikelv simply forgot to record the payment on his Hst. We include the payment in Canegorv 2.
Moreover, several payments contained on the Matantos list appear to have been. paid out in
foreign currencies, We have not attempted for purposes of our quantification to recaloutate the
eurrency exchange rates at the tima the vatious payments were made, Instend, we are uging the
figure of £55.1 nillion as the sum of the third-party payments, a5 indicated on the Matantos list,
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29 October 2003: Dolmarton Assoziated Ine. — €3,800,000

29 Getober 2003: Rongiroa Holdings Ltd, —&1,) 15,000

The list includes recipients who are not considersd, based on testimony given

to the Munich Prosecutor, to be part of the Gebetskreis, which suggests that Ferrostaal
may have used MIE to conceal other payments. Due to the offshore loeations 6f most
entities on the list, it hag been largely impossible for the Investigation to identify the
individuals behind them. Ownership of three of the seven dffshore entities has beea
claimed by Gebetsireis members. Demirdjian acknowledged f6/ihe Munich
Prosecutor that he was a beneficial owner of Asian & Middlc Eastern Engineering &

Consulting Inc. Avatangelos, in the context of his legal dispute with Ferrosiaal,

declared himse!f to be the sole beneficial ownership of tovo entiftes) Dolmarton and

| Wilberforce [nvostments Lid., Furthermpore, Inveco Holdings S.A. (“Inveco™} appears

8 remain largely unknown.

;
| to be affiliated with Emimanouil, the former General of HSY, was not j

at of the Gebetskre ng entities

L1C {hot) 1C 163

§
/
£

Although we identified no dircet evidence that portioﬁ of the funds paid to

the entities and individuals on theJist were intended or in fact used as bribes to Gresk
public officials in connection with the submarine contracts, the Investigation

determined that three recipients were at least closely connected to or affilisted with
influential Greek public officials: “¥B” (Yannis Beltsios), Inveco and Georgios

Agowidis. 1t is in conngetion with these three recipients (as well as Dolmarton,
“discussed in detail below) that the Investigation was able to make most progress.

(1) Yannig Beltsios
a, Contractual Basis

Yannis Beltsios is a Greek civil engineer who signed three consultancy

agreements with Ferrostaal in 2000. T

“Sibsidiary engaged in steel projects, entered into an agreement with Beltsios®
company, Urbanica 8.A., under which Urbanica would coordinate projectsin
Greece, in particular infrastruchure works at HSY. Urbanica would receive a
success fee of 3% for projects carried out by DSD up to a value of DEM 15
million. For projects exceeding & value of DEM 15 million, the remuneration
percentage would be negotiated separately.

On 19 October 2000, Ferrostaal and Kerkini Enterprises Ltd,, a Cyprus-based
Bellsios company, sipned a success-based consultancy contract that pertained
to infrastruoture works at HSY.

Also on 10 October 2000, Beltsios signed a second agresment with Ferrostaal
i his individual capacity, pursuant to which he received a monthly retainer of

/

/
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_DEM.15,000 for support and consultancy on various projects in Greece.

_ Belisios was paid €314,725 under this retainer agreement between 2000 and
2003,

A former head of Marine who apparently prepased and then co-signed the two
Ferrostaal contracts alongside the former Bereichsvorstand stated in en interview that
he did not know the resson why Beltsios recsfved two Ferrostaal agreements on the
same day and merely recalled that this was the instruction he had received fromthe
then Bereichsvorstand during & joint trip to Athens.

b.. Pivotal Role Played by Beltsios

Although severa! former eraployees stated in intervietys thatthey kncw of

Beltsios only as a civil engineer (Bauingenienr) who advised the Company in
Connecihon With (he consiruchion of an asserably hall at IS Y, {ne @videnoe suggests

—fhat Beltsios” value fo Ferrostaal preatly exceeded that namwow. function. Indeed, oo
appeats io have played 2 far more influential role in assisting Ferrostaal with the
submarme projects at the governmental level. According to the draft claim of
Dolmarton, Boltsios also served as & representative of Dolmagton —and thus a
member of the Gebeiskrels — and on one occasion allegedly éven received funds in
cash on Deliarton’s behalf,

5 Belisios’ single most important functien, however, appeats to have been his
[ longstanding connection to Akis Tsobatzopoulos, the Greek defense minister at the

» | time of the Archimedes award and the minister of development st the time of Nepiun
I7 and the privatization pf HSY. The former Bereichsvorsiand told the Munich

_ R_: " Prosacutor that the minister Bven explicitly recommended fhat Ferrostaal use the
w k services of Beltsios if it Was inferested in winning the submazine contract:

T TR

M Bélipios was supposed to trow a rock into the water in order
to create gffects. We were interested solely in the relationships 10
certain people, which Belisios had, Greek defense minister
Tsohitzopatlos recommendsd M. Belisios to us as someone who
knows @bt of people and could possibly be useful for ey
purpoes.

Similarty, the former head of Marine stated that Belfsios knew the minister
and afranged meetings between him and the Company:

Yes, we were aware that he knew the defense minister, Mr.
Tsohalzopoulos. He alse inttiated and set up our meetings with
M. Tsohatzopowlos.

Significantly, former HDW CFO Hans-Joachim Schinidt, in his statement to
- the Munich Prosecutar, attributed sven greater personal influence to Beltsios over
the interactions between HD'W/Ferrostaal and the former minister:
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\ {Mr. Belsios] was the psrson whom you hadto rell what you
wanted fiom Minister Tsohatzopoulos. He was mentioned to me as
someong who would fivst check whether you wounld be adminted to
Mr. Tsohatzopoulos......He was, so o speak, the initial
checkpoint for aceess to My.- Tsohatzopoulos.,

The very limited documentary record from the period in question bears out
_ Beltsios’ influenice at the governmental lovel in Gresce even prior to the Archimedes
~~—=%| contract award, Company records from 1999 aseribed to Beltsios detailed
information concerning deliberations by the Greek government about anticipated
offset requirements, Specifically, 2 memorandum from the thenvhead of Marine
referred to a telephone call between the Berelchsvorstand and Beltsios, mwhich
Beltsios advised on the key components that needed to be ingluded nthe GSC’s
offset offer, based on a conversation with his “Jiftle friend’ — likely refersing to an
» official from the Greek offset directorate or, according to some witnesses, Yannis
Sbokos, the then head of the Greek military procurement body, the General
- Directorate of Armamenty. The memorandum also recorded Belisios previewing an

nnpendmg oﬁima} meetlng bemeen the GSC and the “Irrﬂe Friend” to discuss

Fmaﬁy, BeItszos was saitohave Tvitad the then Ber‘ewhs'vorsraﬂ'd %o Athens to

resotve details that were not to be discussed ovet the telephone. The behind the

scenes machinations slluded to in this memorandum are irreconcilable with Beltsios’
role being confined (o providing technical engineering advice,

Moreover, Company records stggest that Beltsios was present at crucial
meetings in 2000 when the remunsration arrangements of the Gebetskreis were
discussed. In particglar, z taysl expense report of the former head of Marine lists
Beltsios as being one of the parficipants at 2 meeting at Elotel Imperial in Vienna on
26 March 2000, the same date and location where a pavment schedule was, according

to Dolmarton’s 2007 elaim. negotiated between Beltsios and the then
Bereichsyorstand together with the then head of Marine, This payment schedule,
memorialized 1z handwritten form on a hotel note pad, is one of the key pieces of
svidence in the Munich Prosecutor’s investigation.

Beltsios appears to have received extra-contraciual payments. The initials
“YB*onMatantos’ payment list identify Beltsios as the recipient of €] million in
March 2000 ~ one month after the GSC was awarded the Archimedes contract.
Matantos and the former head of Marine, in a statement to the Munich Prosecutor,
récalled that the payment was intended as a bonus from Ferrostasl. Although vo such
entry is found on Matantog' list, Beltsios is also alleged by Dolmarton to have
received a €2.5 million cash payment from Matantos on its behalf in 2003, something
that Matantos has denied in his testimony to the Munich Prosecutor.

\ In our interview, Beltsios confirmed his former activities and functions in
PASOK, the goveming political party in Greece at the time both submarine contracts

were awarded, and acknowledged having known Tschatzopoulos for a long time,

Beltsios also confinmed his previcus position as Supervisory Board Chairman of
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DEPA, the Dublggg_c:,zmpanv m 2002 a titne when Tsohatzopoulos served as

ion over public utilities, Beltsios described
having provided only civil engincering services to Ferrostaal and vehemently denied
baving established or maintained political connections on behalf of Ferrostaal to

_’Imbmm:mwmm Beltsios claimed to have received only

the €314,725 inretainer payments pursuant to his consultancy contract from October
2000, which he said was offered to him by Perrostaal in order o meet his costs, given
that his February 2000 consultancy agreement with DSD was not bearing any fruit
due to DSD's continued lack of success in Greece. He was categorieal that he
received no further payments from.or in connection with Ferrgstaal’s submarine
projects, either dirsctly from Fetrostaal or indirectly via MIE. Ageordingly, he denied
having obtained the €1 million payment in March 2000, as isdndicated onthe
Matantos lst, or the alleged €2.5 million cash payment in 2003 en behalf of
Dolmarton.

Beltsios acknowledged knowing Avatangelos from business dealings in
connection with the installation of a parking system facility for Greek municipalities
in the eacly 1990s, where Avatangelos apparently represented a French confractor.
Belisios stated that Avatangelos had no involvement inthe submarine projecis. He
vociferousiy denied any involvernent with Avatangelos or other alleged Gebetskreis
members on the submarine projectsand said that he had no knowledge of any
improper payments to Tsohatzopenlos or other Greek officials. The Belisios
interview was nonetheless notable in that it was the only time that an interviewee not
only acknowledged havingafiet Avatangelos, but also provided some indication,
however vague, of Avataipelos’ previous business dealings and, significantly, of
having worked with him in the past.

MNotwithstanding hisrole in connection with the acquisition of Archimedes and
his political affiliations with at least one public official, the state of the evidence does
not pémnit the Investigation to conclude how much money Beltsios received indirectly
from Fervostaaly for what purpose and what he did with it. Nonetheless, Beltsios
close conneetions o the former minister — by all accounts one of the key decision-
makers innthe Greek govemment on the award of at Yeast Arehimedes and likely the
piivatization of HSY — including the fact that he is said to have been recommended by
that same minister and was then the linchpin in the GSC’s relations with him, in
cenjunetion with the fact that he knew Avatanpgelos from previous business dealings,
give considerable credence to the assertions made by Dolmartton in 2007 and raise
very serious questions about the rele played by Belisios aud, indeed, the propriety of
his involvement. Even absent any proof that Beltsios was involved in coordinating or
effecting illegal payments to the former defense minister, it is highly unusual and :
suggestive of potentially improper influence that a foreign company bidding for
public confracts I Greece would be liaising with the key Greek oificial, not through
official government channels but through a private consultant.
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(2) Sotiris Emrnanouil

From 1999 onwards, Emumanouil occupied a key position ag the General
Manager of HSY, until 11d-2002 a state-owned shipyard which served as prime

contractor, and thys the GS(’s contractual counterparty, on the Archimedes and

Neptun Ii coniracts. [hrec of the four 1 ype 214 submarines envisaged under

e ————

Archimedes were to be assembled at HSY; the modemization of the Type 209

submarines under Neptun IF was also to take place at HSY. Morcover, asidguasi=
condition for being awarded the Nepiun 17 contract in May 2002, HDW and Fezostaal
had agreed to purchase the majority of HS'Y s shares, signing the purchase agreement
on the same day as the contract for Neptun f1.

The documentary record suggests that Emmanonil acted as one of the most
important negotiating partners for the GSC on numerous contractual and financial
issues and that, over and above being the General Manager of the prime contractor, ke

functioned as 2 liaison between the GSC and the relevant GreeK ministries. The
fotmer Bereichsvorsiand for Madne suggested in testimony 0 the Munich Prosecutor
that the GSC would likely not have won thegubmaring bids without Emmanouil’s

support.

In Qctober 2002, HDW made'a substantial indirect payment to Inveco, a

Marshall Isiands entity beneficially ovmned by Emmanouil. Notwithstanding

Ferrostaal’s refusal to participate inthis paymient arrangement on the basis of

compliance concerns and the lackof a ¢lear commercial rationale, the Matantos list

shows that the Company nonetheless proceeded o make payments totaling €2.28
million itself to Inveco only shortly after its official rejoction of the HD'W proposal.

An earlier paymenton the Matantos list, the €1 million paid to Apouridis, also
appeared to have been madé for Bmmanouil™s benelit, as explained below.

Debevoise commissioned Zepos & Yannopoulos, a Greek law firm, to analyze
whether Bmmanouil had the statas of a public official under Greek law m 2002, Its

-+ conclusion was that Emumanouil 1ikely was a public official at least until the date of

. the'privatization of HSY on 31 May 2002, and that payments made to him could thus
* have ofiminal law implications. Bven if Emmanouil were not propezly viewed asa

« public offigial, his position as General Manager of the GSC’s contractual

i pounterparty, HSY, would nonetheless mean that any payments made to him

| pefsonally could also trigger applicable prohibitions of private-sector bribery.

Ferrostaal’s payments to Inveco were, like all other concealed third-party
payments, made via MIE ang likely finded from an apparently extra-contractual
commission paid to MIE in October 2001. As such, this provides an instructive
example of how the Company’s internal contrels mechanisms identified potential
irregularities in the MIE payment arrangements but, cruciaily, failed to follow them
up appropriately. What transpired was & workaround solution — the production of a
likely backdated contract with MIE -- that paved the way for further improper and
potentially corrupt payments being made via MIE.
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a. Georgios Agouridis

The first payment on the Matantos list associated with Emmanouil is the 10

April 2000 €1 million payment to Agouridis, an Athens-based attorney, The former

head of Marine stated in an interview that when he confronted Matantos abouthe

identity of the third-party payment recipients, Matantos told him that Agouridis was
¢ Emmanouil’s lawyer and thet he was paid €1 million, which was to fund or comtribute ™
to the purchase of an apariment for Emmanouil in Athens, For that reséon, the former

head of Marine noted the word “flar” next to Agouridis® payment enfry on the
Matantos list. ——

A Control Risks report commissioned by Ferrostaal in 2006 fo investigale the
claims for payment made by Dolmarton suggested that Agouridis was Emmanouil’s
personal attorney, Matantos, in testimony to the Munich Prosecutes, confusingly
recatled that Agouridis was an attorney who worked en behalf of Ferrostaal, which
has been denied by Ferrostaal witnesses. Whileswe cannot say so with any certeinty,
the available svidence suggests that the peyment to Agouridis was in fact a payment
for the benefit of Emmanouil himself. Agéuridis didnot respond to a request for an

3 ilﬁervxe:w. = —y I o . i e

cpreTvre

b. HDW “Heads of Agreement”

A confidential “Heads of Agreement” drafted by HDW in September 2001
provided that HDW and Ferrostaal would compensate Inveco for its assistance inthe
acquisition by HDW /Fermostaal of HSY through a sumber of components. The dratt
agreement envisaged, irder.alia, 3 1% success fee on future contracts befween the
Cireek ministry of defense and HS ¥, transfer of 9% of HSY s shares to Inveco, and a
payrent of €2.2 million to cover Inveco’s costs. A second affilinted draft agreement

of the same Gate between HDW /Ferrostaal and Emmanouil personally provided for
the lattér’s employment with HSY for five years at €250,000 per anmum, as well as
posgible bomus and incentive payments.

To solicit Ferrostaal's agreement to the arrengements and its financia
conifibufion, the then CFQ of HDW, Schmidt, approached Ferrostaal’s then
Bepeichsvorsiand, Hikely in October 2001. Strongly disapproving of HDW’s intent to
reward Emmanoui] without prior coordination with Fetrostaal and in the absence of a
substantive basis or performance that would justify such compensation, the
Bereichsvorstand stated in our inferview that he reported the matter immediately to
the Ferrostaal CEO, who simulianecusly served on HDW’s Supervisory Board.
According to the then Ferrostaal CEQ’s statements to the Munich Prosecutor, he in
turn voiced serious concerns to the HD'W Supervisory Board, asked for HDW to
commission tegal opinions on the payments and ultimately resigned from the
Supervisory Board in protest over the issue. Others at Ferrostaal alsc had
contemporaneous awareness of the “Heads of Agreement,” including the then head of
Marine, who indicated in testimony in 2004 1o the Diisseldorf public prosecutor that
the “Heads of Agreement” was considered during an early part of the negotiations
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over the acquisition of HSY to compensate Emmanouil for his “assistance.” The
former head of Marine, who at the time in question worked as a lawyer on Mazine
matiers and in particudar the privatization of HSY, stated in our interview that a copy
of the draft “Heads of Agresment” “landed” on his desk one day, bt that he wanted
nothing to do with it.

Despite Ferrostaal’s refusal to enter into the “Heads of Agresment” with HDW
and Inveco and the uniform statements of rejection of the proposal expressed by
former Ferrostaal managers, HDW proceeded to make a substantial indirect payment
0 Emmanouil. In October 2002, HDW made a €17.276 million payment to Hong
K.ong based Metallco International Ltd., an entity ovned by Gian Carlo Bussei,

Ferrostaal’s agent for submarine business in taly and somsone with whom HD'W also
had a prior relationship. Of this amount, Bussel retained €1 million for his services.
Emmanou] confirmed in writing that he recerved €14 million foz consultancy

services, The remaining €2.276 million were attributed to cosis and expenses, in
particular legal costs. Although this amouant is almost identical to the €2.2 million in
costs foreseen in the draft “Heads of Agreement” and to the €2.28 million paid to
Inveco by Ferrostaal via MIE, we cannot.establish whether there is in fact any
‘connection between these figures. The Investigation thus is not in a position to say
whether the amount paid by Ferrostaal was its contribution to the costs envisaged in
the draft “Heads of Agresment” or whetherit was additional to the sums paid by
HDW,

As noted above, the payment from HD'W 1o Metalleo triggered a criminal
investigation in 2004 by public prosecutors in Kiel and Diisseidorf against several
HDW executives for breach of tmist. During the investigation, which was ultimately
suspended, three Ferrostaal executives, including the former CEO, the former
Bereichsvorstand and the former head of Marine testified ag witnesses. In their
respective stalements, théy recalled their skepticism at the time over the “Heads of
Agreement” and asserted ignorance of HDW’s decision to pay Emmanouil via
Metallco: they also confirmed that Ferrostaal had no part in the arrangements and did
not make payments to Inveco. The protocols of the testimeny of the latter two were
kept by the director of Legal Services. Yet neither he nor anyone else at the Company
togk any steps o investigaie the matter further, Had this been done at the time of the
Kiel/Dlisselderf prosecutorial investigation, the fact that Ferrostaal itself had in fact
made payments to Inveco may have come to light: atleast one person then still in the
Corapany, the head of Marine, had by that stage in 2004 obtained documentary proof
— int the form of the Matantos list — that payments had indeed been made to Inveco by
Ferrostaal itself, as described below.

€. Third-Party Payments to Inveco

Because of the non-transparent nature of the concealed third-party payments
via MIE, it is difficult, if not impossible, to determine which of the payments from
Ferrostaal to MIE were subsequently chaanelled, in whole or in pat, fo the third
parties on the Matantos list. One document in the evidence does, however, provide
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some clues in this regard: a handwritten note confiscated by the Munich Prosecirtor in

2010 — apparently stemming from the desk of the then Rereichsvorstand for Marine —

appears to establish a direct link between 2 commission payment from Ferrostas! to

MIE and the subsequent (partial) onward distribution of funds to Bmmanouil. A clear
- commestion 15 drawn in that note between the €3.9 millich ¢éfiifnission paid to MIBin

- October 2001 and a €3 million payment channelled to Emmanouil, referred to i the

note by his pickname, “zhé fatone (der Lickes). The note also reierenced HDW's

payment of €17.2 million to Metalloo for Emmanouil’s benefit, but it@ic netconvey a
direct relationship between the HD'W payment and the Ferrostaal payment. The
relevant part of the note is reproduced below:

MIE

-

~ *Der Digks”
E Verkauf der H8Y
17,2 Mio

Entwurf ener Vereinbarung (I

The Investigation couldmot reach corclusions as to whether anyone other than
the former head of Maring had knowledge of Ferrostaal’s concealed payments to-
Inveco. The Bersighsvorstand for Marine in charge at the time of the payments stated
. in anterview that he'did not know about them, consistent with his professed lack of

knowledge of @ny of the third-party payments. But the timing of the payments —
oocurring only 2 few months after the Company had apparently voiced Hs strong
gbjection to patticipating in HDW’s proposed scheme —is striking, The documentary
recofd of how these payments were made paints a damning picture of the
effectiveniess of the Company’s internal contxols mechanisms and is examined forther
below.

Gy  Izregularities in MIE Payments

An analysis of some key MIE payments, from which various third-party
payments, including those taInveco, were funded, shows how the Company’s
existing internal controls mechanisms —~ namely the checks mads and questions raised
by the former head of Tax and the former CFO ~ were perfunctory and, rather than
triggeting genuine investigations into the basis and purpose of the proposed payment,
failed 1o address the underlying irregularities. Recause Ferrostaal’s intemal controls
organs were concerned, first and foremost, with ensuring that a paymenthad a
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documented basis for tax purposes, they acquiesced in explanations and solutions
offered by the CEO and Marine employees that swept aside substantive red flags as if
they were irrelevant.

The Investigation identified sericus ittegularities with each of four
installments paid by Ferrostaal to MIE during the tenure of the young and
inexperienced Bereichsvorstand (see Section I.C.3). I is notable thatdhefhen
Bereichsvorstand, although present for the pertinent discussions, played no
substantive role in the decision-making process concering the MIE payments.
Rather, the then CEO and the then head of Marine appear to have addressedand
resoived the concerns expressed by the CFO and the head of Tax.

Payment to MIE of €24 millicg (May 2C01):

On 7 May 2001, MIE submitied an invoice pursuant to its 1998
coniract in the amount of €24 million, Memoranda by the head of Tax
and the CFO to the CEQ, the Bereiehsvorsiand and the head of Marine
pointed out that the amount of the €24 million invoice was not
reconcilable with the contractual previsions and that the overall
volume of payments to MIE could trigger reviews by the
Betriebsprijfungs The head of Tax even warned that the circumstances
of the arrangement might result in prosecutorial investigations. In
reply, the then CEO conceded that the recent change in the corruption
law might indeed produce such investigations, but advocated in favor
of making the payment because he did not view the concerns raised by
the head of Taxés sufficiently serious to renege on the payment,
patticulariy given that he had personally promised Matantos timely
payanents. As noted in Section 1.C.3, this exampie shows how
objections raised through the internal controls mechanisms were
simply swept aside by the Vorstand,

In the case in issue, the incompatibility of the invoice amount with the
existing contract did not result in a rejection of the invoice or reduction

- of the payment. Instead, and with the knowledge of the CFO and the

Head of Tax, the Company entered into a contract addendum with MIE
that expressly provided for payment of the €24 million and &
subsequent payment of €6.88 million. The €24 million invoice was
then authorized by the CEQ, the Bereichsvorstand and the head of
Marine.

Payments to MIE of €3.9 milljon (Oct 2001) and €6.88 million (May 2002):

MIE submitted a £3.9 millien invoice in October 2001 which
Ferrostaal paid prompily, with its internal payment authorization
relating the payment to the 1998 MIE contract. A memorandum fiom
the head of Tax to the CFO (with copies to the CEQ, the
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Bereichsvorstand and the head of Marine) stated that no concerns
existed to the payment being made as an advance in light of MIE's
extraordinary efforts with respect to the HSY privatization.

* Whei MIE submitted its next invoice in May 2002 in the amoust of
€6.88 million, however, the CFO concluded that the eadlier €3.9
miliion payment did not in fact relate to MIE’s 1998 contract {orihe
2001 addendum) as set out in the Company’s internal payment
documentatian, but instead pertained to servicgs in connection with the
privatization of HSY not contemplated by the existing agreements.
The CFO voiced this observation in a memorandum to the
Bereichsvorstand end the head of Marine, noting that payment of the
outstanding invoice of €6.8% miltion would therefore result in
overpayment. '

. "The consequence of his realization wasact, however, {0 question and
investigate why the previous £3.9 million had been paid at all and on
what basis. Instead, in May 2002, tha fermer CFO requested the
Bereichsvorstand to provide him the documented contractual basis of
the previous payment made in Octeber 2001. The record suggesis that
the head of Marine thercafler prodused a sepatate agreement with MiE,
ostensibly dated Jatuary 2000, that stipulated payment of €3.9 million
for assistancé'With the privatization of HSY. Circumstantial evidence
strongly suggests that that agreement was only created af thef time (1.2,
in May 2002) and backdated, solely to satisfy the requirement for a
dogiimented basis of the past payment. -Indicia of the sham nature of
the agreement — over and above the fact that it was only produced
seven months after the payment which it purportediy triggered —
includethe fact that the agreement is visually very different from other
MIE conteacts, that it lacks a Ferrostaal and/or MIE letterhead, and that
its description of the purchase of HSY by the GSC could not have been

“eontemplated with such specificity at the time of its purported date in
Janmary 2000,

. This episode shows that despite the identification of clear red flags —
such as the fact that an appazently extra-contractual payment had been
made — the internal controls mechanisms at the Company lacked
substance and teeth. Perversely, the insistence by the former head of
Tax and the former CFO on a documented contractugl basis for each
payment ultimately permitted a solution pursuant to which the initial
absence of such documentation appears to have been ignored and 2
iikely fabricated contract was aocepted after the fact. As z result, the
Company reade not only the €3.9 million payment in October 2001,
from which potentially corrupt payments to Inveco appear to have been
funded, but also paved the way for fiurther paynents to MIE in part at
least for the purpose of satisfying obligations to various third partiss,

44



PRIVILEGED & CONFIDENTIAL
ATTORNEY WORK PRODUCT
ATTORNEY - CLIENT COMMUNICATION

CONFIDENTIAL « B PEREON AT AT A e oesomsoemt s s e G

Payment to MIF of €8.17 million (October 2002):

. An infernal Ferrostaal payment authorization from October 2002
zelating to an MIE invoice of €26.45 miflion shows that only €8.17
million of that amount had in fact been paid to MIE, with the
Temaining €18.28 million being apparently deposited in & “MIE
nvestment account.” -

L] The former head of Marine stated in an interview that, as far a5 he
knew, no funds were in fact deposited in stich.an aecounty He also
dismissed the concept of an “investment account” as amisguided
proposal by his predecessor, which the latter justified as Ferrostaal
holding back funds due to MIE io confribute)at a later stage, to MIE's
intended participation as an investotin HSY. The former head of
Marine surmised that this explanation was simply pretextual and that
the intention of his predetessor hadilikely been to “park” monies that
may ar may not have beendieeded to meet various comritments to
third parties.

. Although we do not know the full background of the MIE “investment
aeccount,” the retention or mtended retention by Ferrostaal of
significant amounts gtherwise owed to MIE — effectively in some form
of escrow@rmangement - raises serious concerns, particularly when
viewed in the context of MIE’s role as a payment intermediary. The
Investigation has seen no evidence that the Company’s internal -
camtrols mechanisms operated to ask questions about the true nature
and purpose of this arrangement.

{lif) Dolmarton

The gecond focus of the Investigation’s review of the Greek submarine
pIvjects was Ferrostaal’s approach to assessing, investigating and, ultimately, settling

a ciaim for payment by an alleged Gebetsireis meraber in 2007, Feyrostaal’s internal

and extexnal investigative measures — both in 2004 and then again in 20062007 when
- claims were reasserted — evidence a desire on the part of the Company to suppress

relevant evidence about potential past compliance violations in order to avoid
_negative publicity and potentiel liability, Rather than getting to the bottom of the very
serions facts and red flags discovered, the Company linited the investigative mandate
of its external advisers and failed to draw the necessary conclusions and take the
necessary actions. Instead, it ended up making a further questionable payment as late
as the summer of 2007,

‘(1) Initisl Meetings in 2004

Ferrostaal and MIE reached a global settlement in October 2003 that redueed
MIE’s aggregate remuneration to approximately €80 million (excluding the €3.9
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million discussed above). Within months of the settlement with MIE, however, the
former head of Marine requested his successor to meet with individuals asserfing
claims for outstanding payments., Accordingly, through the first half of 2004, the then
cusrent and former heads of Marine had several meetings in London with two
Individusls — Avatangelos and Filipidis (at times accompanied by an atfomey, Way) —
WhO asserted clairas, albeit without any documentary proof of cither thelr services or'a
contract, for unpsid commissions with respect to their work on the Greek submatine
projects.

Trapottantly, the then former head of Marine who attended several of the
meetings confirmed the assertions made by Avatangelos and Filipidis thathe and the
former Bereichsvorstand for Marine had made significant paymentsto them in the
past, routed via MIE. The then bead of Marine, in his testimong to the Munich
Prosecutor and in his nterviews with Debevoise, dismissed the seriousness of the
meetings and underlying demands by poriraying hi interlocutors as free riders
{Tritibrettfuhrer) who introduced themselves only by their first names and made
frivolous assextions without any merit. Vet that dismissive attitude is difficuit to
reconcile with his realization that these individuals had indeed received significant
concsaled paymests from Ferrostaal indhe past, as well as the contemporaneous
evidence that shows him referring 1o the activities of the Gebetskreis as early as 2001,
thus atiributing some level of awateness fo him of the existence of a group of
copsultents or lobbyists working for Ferrostaal behind the scenes in Greece. Another
former manager in the Matine division also stated in an interview that the former
Bereichsvorsiand and the formerhead of Marine would openly refer to the
Gebetskreis in front of their colleagues sitting in their leaf of the open-plan office ia
Essen, but withoutproviding any farther detail.

The state of the evidence is unclear as to whether the then head of Marine
simply rejected the elaims made by Avatangelos and Filipidis or, as later asserted by
Dolmarton, made commitments in principle of settling there, possibly through the
newly formed HDW/Ferrostaal joint venbwe company, MFIL. Although the then head
of Marine haswvehemently denied this, both Way, in a telephone interview with us,
and Démirdjian, in his testimeny to the Munich Prosecutor, stated that such
assurances were given, Be that zs it may, there is no room for doubt that the former
headefMarine received unequivocal confirmation of the fact of past third-party
paysents via MIE when he subsequently confronted Matantos.

(Z)  Receipt of the Matantos List

The then head of Marine met Matantos at Zurich Airport to confront him with

the claim that he had funnelled money to third parties on behalf of Ferrostaal.
Matantos confirmed thet he had done so at the instruction of Ferrostaal {(and the

former head of Marine in particular) and showed him the third-party payment list, of
_which he tock & copy. While the same head of Maring stated in an interview that

Matantos denied that any of the payments shown on the list were made for corrupt

purposes, the reliability of such a dénial appears minimal in light of the fact that
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Matantos could not in fact identify any of the payment recipients, with the sole
exception of Agouridis, whose receipt of €1 million certainly qualifies as a
questionable and potentially corrupt payment, as set out above.

The same head of Marine recalled that, after informing the then CEQ {and
possibly the then CFQ) of his meeting with Matantos, they agreed not to make further
enquiries into the identity of the alleged recipients or the purpose of the third-party
payments. As the payments had beet made in the past and there existed no
contractual obligation to make further payments, they viewed it as “Maranios”
problem, not our problem.” This reaction to the discovery of a glaring sompliance
and controfs violation is remerkable. It is even more striking when one considers that
the then head of Marine had previously been responsible for “eleaning up” Merine.
This task — which the outgoing CEO and the incoming CEQ had assigned to him in
late 2002 — purportedly included a substantive comipliance review of consultancy
agreements. In an interview, the same head of Mating claimed that he would have
filed & criminal complaint (Strafanzeige) against Matantos or others at the slightest
hint of wrongdoing. Yet when confrentediwith an admission — corroborated by an
TAcriminating documert ¢that is now ong'of the key pieces of evidence in the Munich
Prosecutor’s imvestigation — that Maténtos had passed €355.1 million to snknowa third
parties (and, in one case, to Emmanouil, the General Manager of Ferrostaal’s
contractual counterparty and potentially s Greek public official), he did nothing of the
sort.

Ferrostaal’s non-action inthe face of such qualitative evidence is
irreconcilable with the Company’s professed commitment to compliance. Debevoise
found no indications that anyone at Ferrostaal at that time atterpted to investigate the
arrangement farther, including by discussing the issue with Matantos, the former
Beraichsvorsiand o the former head of Marine. Nor are there signs that Tegal, Tax or
Acconditing were asked to consider the respective implications of the third-party
payments) Furthéfiore, the discovery that MIE functioned as a payment intermediary
appears not to have been reported to MAN and was not recorded in Vorstand or
Superviscry Board meeting minutes, The discovery of the third-party payments was,
nosetheless, information of sufficient gravity to have caused some cotmotion in the
Fertostaal ranks: according to the former head of Matine, the then retired CEO who
was at the time in question serving as a member of the Supervisory Board of
Ferrostaa], asked him for a four-eyes mesting in which he sought to assure him that he
bad personaily been unaware of the payments.

The contraversy surtounding the whereabouis of the copy of the Matantos list

is also instructive. The former head of Marine could not recall whether he showed the

+ list to the CEQ os the CFO but did not believe that he provided a copy to anyone.
According to his testimony to the Munich Prosecutor, he instead placed the list in a
folder, which he claimed had later been lost. In fact, during the 19 March 2010 raid,
police confiscated the copy of the list in a binder of materials that he had stored at the
home of his mother-in-law. The Investigation is not able to conclude definitively
whether this represented a deliberate effort on bis part fo suppress potentially
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incriminating evidence or even to shield fhe former Vorsiond members from actual
knowledge of such evidence and its potential implications, At best, however, it
displays an astonishing level of carelessness in handling vital evidence by a senior
manager who claimed that compliance was one of his main briefs. The relevance of
the information on the Matantos list has been mentioned in several other seetionsof
this Report: it could and should have been a point of reference to (i) assess
Ferrostaal’s involvement in payments to Inveco in the wake of the Kiel/Disseldor!
prosecutorial fnvestigation into HD'W; (i) evaluate Dolmarion’s reassextion of ciaims
in 2006; and (iii) assist in this Tnvestigation, in both Phases [ and I

(iv) Reassertion of Claim in 2006

Avatangelos, through his company, Dolmarton, renewedhis claim in 2006 by
demanding €52 million in two letiers to the then CEO,Jf addressing Dolmarton’s
claim and throughout a process that ultimately culminated in & mediated settlement,
Ferrostaal showed few signs of a genuine Intent to investigate the basis for
Dotmarton’s claim, evatuate the historical facts and draw the@ppropriate conclusions.
Although Ferrostaal hired two firms of extemal advigers to conduct a degree of fact-
finding, the evidence suggests that the primary purpose of their engagement was 1o
bolster the legiimacy — commercial and legal — of att eventual payment to Dolmarton.

While rebuffing Dokmarten’s initial leiters, Ferrostaal retained Control Risks
1o explore the background {0 Dolmarton’s claim, the profile and level of current
‘influence in Greece of the players involyed and any evidence of potential
embezzlement by the fordaer Bereichsvorstand and the forzer head of Mazine,
Ferrostaal also hired Simmeons & Simmons to provide the Vorstand with information
that ensbled it to respond to theelaun, Simmons & Simmons interviewed the former
Bereichsvorstand and the former head of Marine, who both confirmed the basis for
Dolmatton’s €laim and deseribed the rationale for retaining Dobmarton and other
Gebetskreis members il the late 1990s. Although asserting that the Gebetskreis
mermbers were teputable individuals, their siatements made clear that these were
consuliants of lobbyists who worked discreetly and behind the scenes and whose
principal role and utility was to provide access fo the higher echelons of Greek
politictans to whom Matantos did not have access. That, colipled with the explanation
as to whytheir payments were conceaied through MIB and the fact that (,ontrok Risks
was unable to find evidenc : an
(reece, should have sufficed to raise every possxble alarm bell that the Company was
dealing with arran; ements that were not only it breach of internal regulations but
potentially illegal.”! Certain statements made by the former Bereichsvorstand for
Marine to the advisers simply added to the plethora of already existing red flags: he

t Underscoring the guestions ebout the alleged role and profile of Avatangelos, we note that

protagonists, such as Graf von Piickler, professed no real knowledge of Avatangelos and éenied
fhat he formed part of the Gebeishrels. .
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intimated that the Gebetskreis membets were engaged to do things Ferrostaal would
not do itself. '

The Investigation identified little evidence in the files of the director of Legal
Services, in the materials provided by Simmons & Simmons ot, indeed, in any other
contemporaneous communications that the Company discussed the implications of the
factval findings — such as the fact that potential compliance violations may have
occurred in the past — and the implications, from a compliance perspeétive, af any
future payments to the same group of individuals,

In an intervievw, Schulz of Conttol Risks confirmed ihat he and hisieolisagues
viewed the evidence as containing clear red flags indicative of corruption but stressed
that the ambit of their retainer was to conduct a commereial risk assessment, not a
fraud or corruption audit. Although he believed that fhe red flags required further
follow-up, he was disappointed that Ferrostaal never instructed Control Risks to
procead. Similarly, Dr. Aldenhoff confirmed that he was not tasked with undertaking
a compliance audit and that he received no instructibns 10 take any farther forensic
steps to assess the likelihood of past cortuption. '

Ferrostaal confinued to treat the ¢laim as groundless until Dokmarton, now
represented by Diisseldorf-based éounsel, threatened in March 2007 to submit a
detailed claim — sent to Ferrostaal in draft —fo the Essen distriet court for €66.5
milfion. Although the draftelaim didnot enclose an executed contract or wriften
evidence documenting the services rendered, it evidenced substantial knowledge of
the Greek submarine projects and outlined specific payments already received.
Attached to the claifl Were, inter @fia, the handwritien Hotel Dopernial payment
schedule signed by the then Bereichsvorsiand and the then head of Marine in 2000
and three checks mads outto Wilberforce Investments Lid. and Dolmarton showing
receipbof €22.8 million from MIE between 2000 and 2003, Dolmarton also asserted
having réeeived £2. 5 million in cash from Matantos in 2003 through Beltsios. These
paymerits, gave for the alieged cash payment to Beltsios, could, of course, also be
fotind onthe Matantos list, but it appears that the former head of Marine did not make
that list available to either Control Risks or Simmons & Simmons.

The breadth and detail of Dolmarton’s draft claim and the threat of submission
toa public forum (the Essen district court) appear to have forced Ferrostaal to alter its
previous, purely reactive position, In an interview, Dr. Aldenhoff said that he advised
the then director of Legal Services that his rigk analysis resnlted in three possible
responses: (i) the “do nothing option” of awaiting Dolmarton’s subriission to the
Essen district court with the attendant risk of publicity; (ii) the “aggressive option” of
filing a criminal complaint - as a defense tactic against the ensuirg civil claim — with
Essen prosecutors against Dolmarton and the former Ferrostaal managers for
cormmitiing breach of trust and corruption; or (jii) seeking resolation of the claim
through 2 confidential, out-of-court dispute resolution procedure. In preparation for
the “aggressive option,” Simmons & Simmons even drafted a criminal complaint
citing the evidence of possible corruption, which it sent to Legal Services in May
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2007, Dz, Aldenhoff also advised the then director of Legal Services that the Essen
district court would Likely refer the Dolmarton cleim ex afficio to the responsible
prosecutor for economic crime (Schwerpunftstaatsanwaltschari filr
Wirtschaftskriminalicdr), with attendant criminal investigations against responsible
persons at Ferrogtaal/MAN and at the ThyssenKrupp Group (of which HDW then
formed part). Asis set out below, Ferrostaal ultimately decided to pursue.ghe out-ofs
court dispute resoluiion route, in large measure dug to the reputational and legal risks
associated with the other strategies.

(v}  The Mediated Setilement

D, Aldenhoff confirmed in his interview that he always viewed the facts of
the case — as set out in the Dolmarton draft claim and confirmed by the statements of
the former Ferrostaal managers — as being sufficiento found an initial suspicion of
wrongdoing (Arfangsverdacht} from the perspeciive of a Getman prosecuting
autherity, although he maintained that there was no probative evidence of actual
corruption. We atiempted to reconcile that position, evidénced by the fact that Dr.
Aldenhoff had in fact gone as far as actually drafting & crigainal complaint for the
director of Legal Services, with the ultimate eutcome of the case in which a further |
payment was made to Dolmarton {olachieve a seitlement. The question, simply put,
was what convinced Dr. Aldenhoff and, uitimately, the Company, to overcome any
goncerns about potential criminality and recommend and then conclude a settlement.
The interview with Dr. Aldenhoffand the documentary record suggest that there may
have been two main reagons:

(1} - Informal Assurances from Dolmarton’s
Counsel

Ferrestaal made informal attempts to enquire of Dolmarton’s counsel whether
his client bad made corrupt payments with fids received from Ferrostaal in the past.
Dr. Aldephoffstated in an interview that Dolmarton’s counsel, Dr. Ekkehard Arendt,
in.megotiations rebutted any suggestion of corruption in what he perceived tobe a
credible and genuine manner, Moreover, on the initiative of Ferrostaal®s director of
Legal Services, Dr. Sven Thomas, a Ditsseldorf-based defense atiorney who had a
longstanding connection to Dr. Arendt, made similar enquities on behalf of Ferrostaal
which Dr. Arendt sgain dended. That oral and purely informal assurance of someone
who had no personal knowledge of past events appears to have been decisive in
giving the Company the additional comafort it needed. The Investigation has not beety
able to test this assertion with the former director of Legal Services or, indeed, with
any Forstand member.,

#2] Thyssenkrupp

The extent to which ThyssenKrupp influsnced Ferrostasl's decision to pursue
a setilement 13 not entirely clear, although there are strong indications in the evidence
that this may have played an important part in the decision~-making process.
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ThyssenKrupp was not a party to the dispute between Dolmarton and
Ferrostaz] and thus took no official position on the matter, other than to say that it was
a Ferrostas] topic and of no concern to ThyssenKrupp. Nevertheless, as a consortium
pariner involved in the Greek submarine projects, ThyssenKrupp was aware of the
Dolmarton elaim. The initial demand letter by Dolmarton in 2006 was addresged not
only to the CEO of Ferrostaal but also in copy to the CEO of ThyssenKruppiMarine
Systems AG, and a subsequent letter from Dolmarton’s counsel recounted meetings
with managers from ThyssenKrupp in Berlin in 2005,

There are indications that ThyssenKrupp pushed for a setilement of the
Delmarton dispute. Perrostaal regularly advised and consulted with Thysse on
the progress of the matter, including on the legal strategy. dn his interview, Dr.
Aldenhoff recalled presenting ThyssesKrupp’s general counsel in April 2007 with the
three possible approaches for responding to Dolmarton’s claim, including the
“aggressive option” of publicly asserting corruption by Dolmarton. According to Dr.
Aldenhoff, in that meeting the general counsel showed g preference for and gave his
“standing blessing” o Ferrostaal pursuing a mediated non-public setilement.

ThyssenXrupp’s own relationship withhAvatasgelos 1 connection with its
anticipated (and ultimately ansuccessful) efforts to/sell figates o Greece may have

also affected ThyssenKrupp’s staice on the issue, In April 2007, according to a

memorandam from Dr. Aldenhoff, the former Ferrostaal Bereichsvorstand reported
that Walter Klansmann, 2 member of the ThyssenKoupp Marine Systems Vorstand,
had approached him to urge a resolution of the matter because Avatangelos was
¢ausing substantial difficulties in Greece. Other e-mails from March 2006 and May
2006 suggest that ThyssenKrupp managers were aware of claims for outstanding
payments from the Gebetskrefs and, indeed, pushed Ferrostaal to achieve a resolution
of those claims. In his testirnony to the Munich Prosecutor, a foxrmer Ferrostaal
Vorstand member who was briefly responsibility for Marine in early 2006 confirmed
that ThyssenKrupp wanted Perrostaal to seitle with Dolmarton, be believed, to avoid
problems with its frigates business in Greece. Other testimony from ThyssenKropp
matiagess to the Munich Prosecutor go as far as confirming that ThyssenKrupp itself
had entered into arrangements with Avatangelos (albeit with different corporate
entities than Dolmarton and Wilberforce) for consuliancy work in relation to the
frigatesproject,

(vi) Acceptance of Settlement

Upon the recommendation of Ferrostaal’s then director of Legal Services, a
Swiss lawyer, Dr. Daniel Wehrli, conducted a one~-day mediation on 25 July 2007. In
light of the mediator’s — perhaps surptising — initial view that Dolmarton was able to
prove the conclusion of an agreement with Ferrostaal (with the mediator stating that it
was not unusual to keep contracts of this type in “discreet Iocations”) and a prima
Sfacie entitlement to further sums due, with Ferrostaal being unlikely to establish any
underlying illegality, he recommended a setflement of €11 miilion (€9.8 million plus
€1.2 million in interest). The ciccumsiances of the mediation, including the
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mediator’s initial indication, the questions in commection with the quantification of the
settiement figure (which, according to Dr. Aldenhoff conformed with Forrostaal’s aim
of achieving & eight-digit figure, plus interest), and the fact that Ferrostaal paid all
legal and mediation costs of the other side, raise doubts about the bona fides of the
whole mediation process.

Having been granted one week to withdraw from the proposed settlement after
its acceptance by Dolmarton on 27 July 2007, Ferrostaal resolved to accepbthe
setfleent proposal, on the recommendation of Simmens & Simmons, 1n an
imprompiu meeting attended by three of its four Vorstand members and the head of
Legal ont 30 July 2007. The minotes of the meeting, drafted by the head of Legal,
state that “the meeiing participants — jusi like Dr. Aldenhoff—saw no indications that
would suggest violations af the law (§ 134 BGB or § 138 BGB}Y sections of the
German ¢ivil code referring to transactions violating stéfutory prohibitions and public
policy, respectively. When shown this document duging his mterview, Dr. Aldenhoff
confirmed that the characterization of “no indications™ was too simplistic and
inacsonrate, given that ke had always maintsined aminitial suspicion of wrongdoing in
connection with the payrments to Dolmartong and merely sawno “actionadle” or
“legally sufficient” proof of corruption thit conld be asserted successfuily in the
proceedings against Dolmarton (as coffitmed in Died Aldenhoffs legal opinion of 27
July 2007).

An official Vorstand mesting {(with the remaining member in attendance) took
place on the same day. We cannot ascertain why the Vorstand did not discuss and
approve the Dolmarton se¢filement during its regular mesting. Mo mention of the
Dolmarton settlementds made in the minutes of that Yorsiand meefing or in the
mxinutes of the next Supervisery Board meeting.

Praring the 36 July 2007 mecling, the Porstand members present zesolved 1o

aceept the £11 million settlement proposal, conditional on obtaining a fortber

- description of the services rendered by Dolmazton and confirmation of Dolmarton’s
bensficial ownership, In order to address the first point, Dr. Aldenhoff drafted
declarations stating that Dolmarton had provided legitimate consulting services,
paticlarly in connection with fae privatization of HSY, which the former
Bereichsyorsiand and former head of Marine duly signed when presented to them.
These declarations are nofable in ¥t ev do not contain much of the information
raising potential red flaps that was set out in the memoranda recording the questioning
of these former managers by Dr. Aldenhoff and Control Risks in the summer of 2006.
Dr. Aldenhoif also flew to Copenhagen to secure Avatangelos’ signatuee on a pre-
~drafed affidavil (eidessialilicke Erkldrung) o the effect that he had provi
consuliancy services in connection with the HSY privatization, that he was the sole
beneficiary of Dolmarton (and Witberforce) and that he had not made any cormupt
payments. The two-page affidavit lacked any real substance as to Avatangelos’
activities on behalf of Ferrostaal. Notably, Dr. Aldsnhoff did not verify Avatangelos’
identity or proof of address, Dr. Aldenhoff explained that the mesting took place in
the presance of Avatangelos’ attomey, Dr. Arendt, whom he trusted, and he thus did'

AN



Emmanouil
Γραμμή

Emmanouil
Γραμμή

Emmanouil
Γραμμή

Emmanouil
Γραμμή

Emmanouil
Γραμμή

Emmanouil
Γραμμή

Emmanouil
Γραμμή

Emmanouil
Γραμμή

Emmanouil
Γραμμή

Emmanouil
Γραμμή

Emmanouil
Ορθογώνιο

Emmanouil
Γραμμή

Emmanouil
Γραμμή

Emmanouil
Γραμμή


PRIVILEGED & CONFIDENTIAL-
ATTORNEY WORK PRODUCT- '
ATTORNEY ~ CLIENT COMMUNICATION

CONFIDBNTIAL-EUFPERSONALDATA o R

not request such documentation. Anatiempt by the Investigati

Avatangelos® purpoerted home address in Cyprus, recorded on the affidavit, showed

that this was an office building with no sigh of Avatangeles-or Dolmarton. We have
not been able to locate Avatangelos in Athens, either.

These additional steps on which the acceptance of the settlement had been
made conditional appear to have been no more than efforts to construct a record that
made a further payment defensible for the Verstand and enabled the Company to
make such payment tax-deductible given that the payment regipient’s ultimate
beneficiary, Avatangelos, had been verified. On the latter pointy Dr. Aldenhoifl
confirmed that he was contacted by the then CFO and the then head of Legal after the
€11 million had been paid to double~check precisely whether it was appropriate to
include the payment as a tax-deductible expense. Whatithese additional steps did not
do in any way was to address the previously identified coneerns about the legitimacy
of the underlying arrangements or even to get a spegific explanation of the services
Avatangelos had purportediy rendered.

The totaliiy of the evidence concerniing the Dolmarton issue conveys a strong
impression that it was Ferrostaal’s prineipal aim to gonstruct a defensible basis for
paying the seftlement, rather than to ensure iis substantive legitimacy. The impression
that suspicions or red flags indicative of eriminal conduct were “removed” to pave the
way to settlement is reinforced by the content of Simmons & Simmons’ legal opinion
of October 2007 — two monthseficr the seiflement. This opinton analyzed whether
the Vorstand had & legal duty to assert ¢laims against the former Pereichsvorstand and
the former Marine head for entering into centractual arrangements with Dolmarton in
violation of existing Tules and guidelines. Simmons & Simmons conchuded that no
such duty exisied given the remote likelihood of prevailing in such procecdings and
the considerable misks, inclnding the possibility that a court might view the payments
to Delmarton to havébeén undertaken with corrupt intent. ‘While not expressing a
conclusiye view, the opinion clearly and expressiy left open the possibility that the
Dolmarton arrangements had a covrupt purpose. Yet the legal opinion rendered by
Simmons & Simmons previously on 27 July 2007 to advise the Vorstand on the
entvisaged@ettiement was much more attenuated and did not contain an analysis of the
possibility that the arrangements may indicate underlying ﬁiagahty and of the
impligations for the proposed sett}emvnt

The Investigation cannot draw definitive conclusions on what ultimately
motivated Simmons & Simmons in drafting its opinions and whether they had express
or tacit instructions not to address the red flags or potential illegality in the pre-
settlement opinion advising the Vorstand., But the existence of that opinion, together
with the inaccurate minutes of the Porstand meeting of 3¢ July 2007, suffice to draw
the coaclusion that the net effect was to “whitewash” a highly irregular set of facts
with clear compliance red flags and indicators of potential illegality into nothing more
than the settlement of a somewhat unusnal commercial dispute,
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(@  PDM/Zelan

In connection with three transactions under the Archimedes offsgt contract,
Ferrostaal made six payments between 2002 and 2004 fotaling approximately €7.48
million to PDM Lid. (Jater Project Development and Management Enterprises luc., o
“PDME™) and Zelan Ltd. PDM was a Delaware-based entity with a Swiss bank
account. Zelan was a Cyprus-based company whose director is a Cypriot attoragy,
The beneficiaries of PDM and Zelan are unknown.

Serious questions exist with respect to the rationale for their engagement and
the services purportedly rendered. Thess concerns are heightened by the cemplete
absence of written docurnentation and specific informationebout thelr services and
identities, which no one at the Company could recall. Although Debevoise identified
no conerete evidence that the payments were used or intended as bribes or kickbadks,
it is remarkable that €7.48 million could be paid to two letterbox companies under
these gircumstances. The evidence and explanations provided during interviews
suggest that the payments were made for an improper prepose,

{iy  Rafionale for Encagement and Services
Rendered

Debevoise received no credible explanation as to the process aud ratiopale for
engaging PDM and, subsequently, Zelan and the services purportedly provided. In
interviews, Ferrostaal employces did not recall how or on whose recommendation the
relationships with PDM and Zelan were formed. One employee noted that they were
reguiarly approachediby various people in Greece who offered their services,
including in “hotel lobbies andlifts,” and that was likely how they would have met
P,

_ As to the rationale for engaging PDM and Zelan, the employee responsible for
the Greek offset blisiness who prepared the payments for internal authorization stated -
thatthey helped Ferrostaal receive offset credits from the Greek offset directorste
after Germanos 5.A. — Ferrostaal’s offset connterparty - had suddenly refused to

releage to Ferrostaal crucial documentation, on the grounds that it contained clagsified
militaty information. Although she was not able to explain this with any specificity or
precision, the employee claimed that PDM (and later Zelan) somehow resolved the
impasse, obtained the necessary dosuments from Germanos and thus assisted
Ferrostaal in oblaining the corresponding offset credits for the Gemmanos project. No
convineing explanation was offered as to why MIE, Ferrostaal’s agent 1n Greecs,
coulkd not have performed these services instead. The employee also confirmed that
Germanos had indicated its willingness to release the documents in question 1o PDM

but not to Ferrostaal, although she did not recall that PDM had the necessary
classified clearances to obtain the documents in question.

As confirmed by the relevant Ferrostas] employee, there exists no written
documentation whatsoaver evidencing the consuliants’ purported services. The
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Investigation thus has no verifiable information concerning what qualifications or
expertise the letterbox entities PDM or Zelan possessed that would have enabled thom
to facilitate legitimately the retrieval of classified documentation. In fact, it remains
unknown who operated these entities. The responsible Ferrostaal employee vaguely
associated a “Frou Dr. K.” with PDM (without being able to recall her full name or to
describe her role in detail) and had no recollection of any individuals who worked for
Zelan other than the Cypriot attorney. The employee said that all communications
with the consultants were by telephone.

The former Ferrostaal managers who signed or approved the payments,
including the former Bereichsvorstand and the former head of Marine, had no
recollection as to their precise purpose.

(ii) Coniractual and Payment Modalities
In addition to the substantive concerns about the services rendered by PDM
and Zelan, the contractual and payment modalities contain several questionable

features.

Ferrostaal made its first two payments to PDM in 2002 on the basis af an oral

“agreement. The then controller {{ater a head of Marine) identified this internal

controls violation in a memorandum to the then CFO in November 2002, in which he
also noted, inter alia, that PDM's commission percentage was not fixed butin a
range. Indeed, the success fee siipulated in the service agreement constituted a
percentage range between 1.5% and 3.5% of the offset transaction, and payment
orders to PDM and Zelan cited rémunerations of varying percentages. We received
no eredible explanation fof this highly unusual feature uor, indeed, any documented
evidence of how, if at all, the question raised in the controller’s memorandum was
resolved. One employee stated in an interview that the percentage coramission for
each payment would only be set afler PDM or Zelan called her to say how much they
wanted to be paid for the offset transaction in question.

InApril 2003, PDME notified Ferrostaal that it should make further payments
due undes its contract with PDM to the Cyprus-based entity Zelan, citing “increased
business opportunities of Offset purpeses in Greece and Cyprus” as the reason for the
establishment of Zelan. Debevoise received no further explanation for this change in
Eerrostaal’s offset consultant and the relationships between PDM, PDME and Zelan.
Zelan’s director, the Cypriot attorney, in response fo written questions, was unwilling
to describe the relationship between PDM and Zelan, merely noting that Zelan had
taken over part of the business portfolio of another entity, PDME. His answers were
also notable for what they failed to address: the specifics of the services provided by
the entities and the identities of their beneficial owners. It is highly doubtful that a
practicing Cypriot attorney is himself in a position to provide substantive services in
connection with Ferrostaal®s Greek offfset obligations.
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Notwithstanding that Ferrostaal accordingly made payments to the acconnt of
Zelen as of May 2003, the Company never entered into a contract with Zelaa to
provide a basis for these payments, nor was its agresment with PDM novated to
reflect the fact that future payments would be made to Zelan instead.

2. Submarines Porfugal

{a) Projects Investigated

The investigation focused on a 2004 agresment betwéen the GSC (comprising
Ferrostaal, HDW and Thyssen Nordseewerke GrbH (“INSW))and the Porfuguese
Navy for the supply of two Type 209 submarines. The total wolume of this contract
was £881,48 million, of which Ferrostaal’s share was €132.22 miilion, There were
offset obligations amounting to €1.21 billion.

This project was the subject of significant investigation in Phase I, bothb as to
potential corruption or other somplance violations in connsetion with the work of the
Company’s consultants (in particular Espirito Sante Commerce, or “ESCOM”), tut
also with respect to the Portuguese prosectdorial investigation into allegations of
offset fraud involving the Company’s offset sexvice provider, ACECILA.

Only limited further investigative aciivities were performed in Phase Hin
order to verify the conclusions reaghed in Phase I Debeveise continued a limited
review of custodial data of @fiumber of Vorstand members and members of the
Marine division. Debevaise slso reviswed approximately 30 relevant binders that had
been seized by the Munigh Prosecutor. In addition, Debevoise asked qusstions
relating o the Porgigal subaring project in three interviews, although the project was
not the primary focus of those interviews. Debevoise’s limited review produced no
findings of significance that in any way altered the conclusions formed in Phase L

Rehevoise did not investigate the alleged offset fraud involving ACECIA,
which was pursued solely by Heuking.

(h) ESCOM

it Phase 1, payments amounting to £30.4 million to Espirito Santo Commerce

(UK) Ltd. (“RSCOM UK™} and Espiriio Santo Commerce $.A. (“ESCOM S.A.”)

were identified hetween 2001 and 2007. The large majority (€30.06 million) of the
total was peid to BSCOM UK. Ferrostaal paid an early termination fee in 2008 o
ESCOM UK, which amounted to €1 million.

Phase ] established that ESCOM’s consulting services on behalf of the
Company, which are extensively documented, were genuinely performed. Although it
is not possible for us to assess objectively whether the amount paid 1o ESCOM is
commercially Justified, no evidence uncovered in the Favestigation supgests that it
was not.

36


Emmanouil
Γραμμή

Emmanouil
Γραμμή

Emmanouil
Γραμμή

Emmanouil
Γραμμή

Emmanouil
Γραμμή


PRIVILEGED & CONFIDENTIAL
ATTORNEY WORK PRODUCT
ATTORNEY — CLIENT COMMUNICATION

CONFIDENTIAL - EU PERSONAL DATA

We did not find any farther evidence shedding light on the concerns 1aised in
Phase I, namely the fact that almost all of the payments were made to the UK entity
{(BSCOM UK), with the attendant questions about the nature of that entity and
whether or not the services were in fact provided by it, and, secondly, the convoluted
ownetship structure of both BSCOM entities, which does not provide full
transparency as to their ultimate beneficial ownership.

The investigation during both Phase I and Phase If did not revedl any direct or
even circumstantial evidence of corruption involving ESCOM., Furthérmore, the main
source of the allegations of corruption against ESCOM, the former head of Merchant
Marine, conceded in an interview that he did not have any actual personal knowledge
of improper paymerts having been made by ESCOM.

{cy  Dr. Firgen Adolif

In 2003, Ferrostaal entered into a consuliancy agreemefit pursuant to which
Dr. Jiirgen Adolff would receive 0.3% of the projest value for his assistance in
- securing the submarine contract in Portugaly, There ismo documentary proof of the
services rendered under the consultancy@greemment, which was entered into only after
the purported services had been rendeted.

After the GSC and the Porfuguese government entered into the
aforementioned contract, a dispute between Ferrostaal and Dr. Adolff arose regarding
the emount due under the fonsuliancy agreement. Ferrostaal and Dr. Adolff
concluded a settlement agresment on 9 December 2004, Pursuant to the settlement
agresment, Ferrostaalpaid Dr. Adolff a total of €1,679,342.21 in 2004 and 2005.

The Munich Prose@utor appears to consider this a clear case of bribery, on the
basis of the apparentstatug of an honorary consul as a public official. In light of the
fact thabalt necessary facts were known from Phase I, Debevoise did not carry out any
further investigaticnof this issue.

{d)  Rogerio D’Oliveira

11996, Ferrostaal entered into a consultancy agreement with Vice-Admiral
Rogerio D'Oliveira, under which 13’ Oliveira would provide services in connection )
with the Portuguese submarine contract. Under this contract, Ferrostaal paid a total of
€1 million to D*Oliveira. No documentary proof of the services provided by
D Oliveira was identified.

Debevoise catried out limited additional e-mail review in relation to
D’ Oliveira but was not able to advance its findings beyond those made in Phase 1,
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3, Submarnes South Africa
{a)  Projects Investigated

The Company identifisd ons project in South Afriea with a volume of €660
million, of which €128 million acorned to Ferrostaal, and which involved a number of
consultanis. During Phase [ a significant review of the projeet — the sale of thres Type
209 submarines to the South Afiican Navy by a consortivm consisting of Fetrostasl,
HDW and TNSW — was condusted, Phase II focused on the apen quéstions
pertaining to the consultants, and 4lso tock a broader look at the offset obligations
arising under the contract and the Company’s relations with ope former official.

During Phase 1, three informational briefings were conducted with ons former
Ferrostaal employee who worked on the South Afticapfojest. Dusing Phase 11, cight
interviews were conducted with five current and former emplayees of Ferrostaal, of
which one was an amupesty interview. One former congultant Was interviewed, and
two informational briefings were conducted with three otrrent and former employees.
Key former employees refused {6 be interviewed, Most of the review of project
documents was conducted during Phase fof the Investigation, but it continued during
Phase II. The data of nine key custodians and ntimerous others was reviewed during
Phase T, including documents and@econnting data retrieved from a site visit to
Ferrostaal South Africa (Pty) Lids (“FERISA™).

(b) Gengral Obzervations

The Investigation identified three main issues of concem regarding the South
African submarines project, all.ofwhich indicated a lack of confrols and minimal
coneern at ensuring conipliant businass,

First, Ferrostaalpaid very little care to defining and monitoring the precise

services of its ohief consultants, Tony Georgiadis and Tony Ellingford, even though

these two sonsultants were Ferrostaal’s largest payees on the project, taking in more

~ than 25% of Fewrostaal’ s revenues. There is no sign that anyone at Ferrostaal ever

Kacwwith any specilicily wiat we two consuliants did (or was at jeast willing to state
it dn writing). Their contrasts each contained a detailed list of services; but the lists
were identical, suggesiing both that there was no intent or expectation that they would
provide the indicated services, and that the lists wers ereated merely for appearance’s
gake.

In the one instance where & Ferrosteal employee expressed doubt that a
demand for payment was not property backed up by commensurate services, the
message from the very top came back Jond and clear: whatever had been done by the
consultant was enough, and payment was not to be delayed or withheld on any
account. On that occasion, at the start of 2003, the then CFO officially objected to
both a fellow Forstand mernber and to the then CEO that the scant documentation
attached to 8 €2 million invoice from Georgladis was insufficient to justify such a
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large payment. The CEO peremptorily told the CFO that he was wrong and ordered
that the payment be made. The CFO did not raise further objections or sonduct
additional ehecks.

Secord, Ferrostaal spent a considetable amount of money (more than €60
million) on offset projects, most of which failed or performed poorly. Responsibility
for offset for long periods of time was in the bands of relatively juniozemplovees in
South Africa, away from the controls of Essen. The Vorstand member then
responsible for offset appeared uninterested in it, despite the risk profile that attached
to the business, When a senior employee reported that offset was mierely awehicle for
Natzliche Aufwendungen, there was no investigation into whether his allegation was
true.

Third, from 2002 to 2007, Ferrostaal in. South Africa had close business
connections with Chippy Shaik, the head of acguisitions at the Minisiry of Defence
from 1997 until 2001, and as such, one of the key people it detexmining who would
win the submarines contract. Such a relationship with 2 former key decision-maker is
not per se improper — if due care and consideration igapplied prior to entering into
any business. Yet there is sca.nt dign that anyone gonsidered the propriety of doing
business with Chippy at ail;'? in fact, numerous red flags — Chippy’s former position;
one brother’s role as a South African consul in Germany; another brother’s conviction
for comruption; and Chippy’s owsl purchase of shares from Ferrostaal at a significant
loss to the Company — wefe Simply lznored. ‘When in 2008 the press queried
Ferrostasl’s business dealings with Chippy, Ferrostaa] made the inaccurate statement
that it had broken off business relations with Chippy’s company as soon as it had
learnad of his ingdlvement,

& Key Consultants
This section proceeds, first of all, to examine the key consultant relationships,
then summarizes the Investigation’s work on the offset business and, finally, reviews
Ferrostaal’s selationship with Chippy.

{ Tony Georgiadis

i5 {Greece) 5.4, Georgiadis was

paid €16.5 million by Ferrostaal between 2000 and 2004. Georgiadis was introduced

1o Feostaal by Thyssen Rheinstabl-Technik GmobH (“TRT). with whom Ferrostaal

had worked on the first phasc of the South African naval project, which was later
separated into submarine and frigate components. In 1997, Christoph Hoenings of

TRT told the Ferrostaal employee then responsible for the submarines project that /
Ferrostaal should pay Georgiadis $20 million “for the purpose of securing the

German package” and that Georgladls would use the payment to convince “key

¥ Werefer to Chippy by his first ndme beecause he had three bmthars Shabir, Moe and Yuels —
tevo of whom had dealings with Perrostaal as well.
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decision-makers” to support the German bid. The responsible offset employee sought

~approval from Bis superior, the then head of Marice, which the latter gave, apparently,
without concern,

In October 1998, Ferrostzal and Georgiadis signed an agreement whereby
Georgladis wonld receive 2.5% of the contract value in retum for advising afd
supporting Fenostaal in its efforts fo win the submarine bid, That 2.5% ultimately
worked out to approximately $20 million. Attached to a revised version of the
contract was 4 list of services that Georgiadis was to providedo Ferrostaal. This list
was idenfical to that appended fo a Ferrostaal contract with the ether main consultant,
Tony Ellingford, which indicstes that the list was appended to the ¢ontractmercly for
appearance’s sake, and raises guestions as to whether Georgiadis was expected o
perform any of the listed services.

Fi ig apperent that Georgiadis’ chief role wds as a conduit to politicians. The
hows that he knew a number of senior politicians, ineluding President Thabo

thel sibly Malzon Mandela d introduced Ferroctasl employees to these
politicians. Indeed, the former head of Matine informed the former CFO in 2003 that

_—“polffical contacts” with Miallar (and previously TRT) had a decisive influence on the
tender for the submarines, The CBO’s oveniding of the CFO’s objections 1o paying
the €2 million invoice in 2003, set out aboye, shows how highly Georgiadis’ services
were valued at the top of the Comapany.

Mallar also had sOme invelvement with the offset program. 1t was infended
that Mallar would co-invest with Ferrostaal on one offiset project, although that does
not seem to have eyeninated.

Overall, there is little evidence to suggest that Georgiadis did work
cormfiensurate with the fe received, By the same token, however, there is no direct
evidense that he gave any of the money he received from Ferrostaal to third parties.”

There are unansweted guestions about a third Georgiadis company, Eimar
Maritifre Inc. In November 1998, Ferrostaal agreed to pay Elmar approximately §2
million for the fransport of oil to South Afiica, as part of “pre-offset obligations.” It

peid Elmar $1.865 million in November 2000, It is not clear how “pre-offsef
obligations” could have arisen more than a year before Ferrostaal had even won the
submarines contract, or why Ferrostaal needed 1o bring oil to South Africa. Ot

¥ There is some evidenca that Georgiadis passed on money received in connection with & contract

o sell frigates to Seuth Africa, & project that invelved a Thyssen subsiciary but ot Ferrestaal,
These payments, among others, were investigated by the Ditsseldorf prosecutor in 2006-2008, but
the prosecutor dropped the case for lack of evidence. As part of the investigation, the prosecutor
raided Ferrostaal’s offices. It passed its findings regarding Forrostaal to the Bssen public

_ prosecutor, who passed the case fo the Bochum Economic Crimes Unit, Bochum ceased
investigations in 2008,
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seerms the more likely original author of these letters because they reported
information which, based on Mathers® background and other letters and reports
written by him, appeared to be within his knowledge. It is therefore possible that
copies were made by Ferrostaal, to be signed by Ellingford and placed in his file, in
otder to provide docomentary evidence of services rendered by him and thus seek to
justify the amounts paid to him, if they were ever questioned by the internal gantrols
organs ot, indeed, 4 tax audit.

Ellingfosd did not respond to requests for a meeting.
(ifi) Jeremy Mathers

Jeremy Mathers was a retired admirat hired by Ferrostaal to suppost the bid,
specifically by providing information on the Navy's requirements, Between 1998 and
2008, Ferrostaal peid Mathers €1.2 million under three contracts.

The firet contract, signed in 1998, inckaded both monthly payments anda
success fee based on the ultimate price of the contrast. Mathers said that he did not
ask for the snecess fee and was surprised:whin his Fersostaal counterpart inserted it
into the coniract presented to him. 1599, before the subrarines coniract was
awarded, Fetrostaal suspended Maghers® contract and told him that it would not pay
him the success fee. Mathers leamed that $he reasons included a complaint by
Accovnting about the success fee. Over the next few years, Mathers negotiated with
Feirostaal, principally with the then head of Marine, fora resumption of the
contraciual relationship and/or a payment of his success fee. Eventually, he and the
then head of Marine agreed to enter into two new contracts, sven though both of them
knew that Mathers would notibé doing substantial work under the contracts; in other
words, the contracts werd merely a new documented basis aliowing Mathers to get the
snccess fee He was dne under the 1998 contzact. During his interview, Mathers said
that entering the new contracts “turned an enormous amount of money into something
that was more plausible.”

The cofitracts were signed in 2001, Under the terms of one contract, Mathers
haddo produce various stadies. He did so, although in his interview be admitted both
that they were of little or no use to Ferrostaal and that the amount of work that weni
into them wes only a fraction of what Ferrostaal was going to pay him. One of the
studies, for example, congerned the potential naval market in other countries in the
gegion, such as Angola and Mozambique — places where Ferrostaat had no intention
of doing naval business. Years later, when Tax was going closely through various
payments to Mathers, the successot to the head of Marine gave the various studies and
repoxts that Mathers had compiled to the then head of Tax, telling him that the studies
were all “rubbish. '

Nonetheless, Mathers was paid more than €1 million under the two 2001
agreements. In 2005, for reasons as yet unexplained, Ferrostaal stopped payment to
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imports were not part of Ferrostaal’s offset obligations. Nobody has been able to
explain the need or rationale for this agreement and payment.

Georgiadis refused a request for a mesting,

(i)  Tony Eillingford

Tony Ellingford was a former executive in the defense indusfry hired by
Ferrostaal in 1998 to advise on the submarines coniract. Like Georgiadis, he was paid
€16.5 mitlion by Ferrostaal between 2000 and 2003, through his company Kelco
Associates S.A. (“Keleo™). Accotding to consultant Jeremy Mathers, Ellingford was
hired because the responsible Ferrostaal Bereichsvorstand in the late 1990s, wanted
someone with “political connections” 1o help Ferrostaal'win the contract. Mathers
asked Llewellyn Swan, an 0ld contact from the South African defense industry, for
advice; Swan recommended Ellingford, who was then hired by Ferrostaal, Ellingford,

lilce Georgiadis, alse had multiple political comnectio d introduced Perrostaal 1o
—varigus decision-makers, inchiding Defence Minister Joe Modise,

As noted, the list of services appendedio Elfingford’s contract was identical to
that of Georgladis. There is evidence of meetings arranged and intelligence gathered
by Ellingford, but the amount of work dene does not seem sommensurate with the
payments he received. It appears that he, like Georgiadis, was paid to provide
political access.

The involvement of Swan was another likely instance of payment for access to
deciston-makers, Swin was CEO of ARMSCOR Ltd., the South African arms
procurement patastaial, from late 1998 until late 1999. In that position, he was one of
the key indiyiduals deciding who would win, the submarine contract.

In November 1999 — weeks before the submarine contract was awarded —
Swan unexpectedly tesigned from ARMSCOR. No later than March 2000, he was
working for Berrostaal, albeit indirectly: at that time, Ellingford informed Ferrostaal
that Kelcowwas working with a subcontractor called MOIST ce, represented by Swan.
in fact, this may not have been Swan’s first involvement with Ferrostaal; Mathers
stated s an interview that Swan was working for Ferrostazl at least as of 1998, before
e became CEO of Armseor, That is, Swan may have worked for Fercostaal both
before and after he wag in charge of arms procurement in South Africa. The
Investigation found no evidence that Swan tendered his decision in favor of Ferrostaal
in return for either payment or promises of payment, but Swan’s position was a
significant red flag that Perrostaal ignored.

There is another unexplained similarity between the documentation for
consultants’ services: three letiers to Ferrostaal that were purporiedly written by
Ellingford are virtually identical to three letters purportedly written by Mathers.
During his interview, Mathers remembered writing the letters, but he could not
explain why nearly identical versions appeared under Ellingford’s name. Mathers
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Mathers while €400,000 under the two contracts remained unpaid. Mathers continues
to contend that he is owed this money by Ferrostaal.

As noted above, Mathers was asked about the identical copies of letters in his
and Ellingford’s names, but could not provide an explanation, at least as to thegenesis
of the Bilingford version.

Aithough the mechanism by which Mathers® 1998 contract was replaced and
the envisaged success fee resurrected reveals a lack of controls and gompliance with
accourting and financial standards, there i3 no sign that any of the payments to
Mathers were passed on to decision-makers ot that they were intended tobes” The
consultant’s agreement to meet for an interview suggests a level of openness and
transparency about the services he provided that was ebsent from the vast majority of
consultants encountered on the Investigation {although his outstanding claim for
payment may also have played a role).

(d)  Offset Projects

Offset commitments were a particularly important part of the tenders for the
submarines contract. In fact, official@outh African government documents show that
the Ferrostaal consortiuvm won theContract because of its superior offset offer.

The consortium agreed to deliver offset spending worth almost €3 billion. It
should be noted that this did notrequite investment actually worth €3 billion; rathet,
pffset investments are granted muliipliers by South Africa’s Department of Trade and
Industry (“DTI”), one.of the contract signatorics on the South African side. The
offset provider would thus invest a figure that was unknown at the start of the project
but in any event significafily less than €3 billion. In its intemal caleulations,
Ferrostaal expected that it would only need io provide investment of approximately
1.5% 102% of that amount, and indeed it ultimately spent €62 miltion, approximately
2% of €3 billiox

Offset in South Afyica was forrnally divided info two types: Defence
Industrial Participation, (*DIP™) and Non-Defence Industrial Participation (*“NIP*).
The DIP portion was by far the smalier and is of little concern from a compliance
perspective,

The NIP bid was predicated on one very large project: a stainless steel plant at

Coega on the South African coast. However, between the signing of the contract in
December 1999 and its coming into force in July 2000, it became clear to Ferrostaal
that it would not be able to proceed with the Coega project. The DTT at that stage
agreed that Ferrostaal could fulfill its offset obligations through other projects. In
order 10 find and invest in these other projects, Ferrostaal established a new Sowth
African subsidiary, FERISA. Between 2001 and 2010, Ferrostaal AG transferred
approximately €35.1 million to FERISA, most of which FERISA spent on loans and
capital confributions to offset companies. Ferrostaal AG wrote off almost all of that
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amonni. The remainder of the spending on offset companies was made directly by
Ferrostaal AG, principaily after 2006.

As noted, investment figures in the offset world are not 45 they scem at first
glance, A project is proposed to the DT1, which then assesses itona number of
eriteria, particularly the following three: sustainability (that the project willbe long
Tasting and provide benefits into the future); additionality {that it will provide benefits
which did not exist before); and causality-(that the project would not happen without
the offset pertner). Other criterie include involvement of nog-whites {Historigally
Disadvantaged Individuals, n South African government terminology) and the
expected amount of exports to be generated.

The DTI applics its multiplier based on these criteria. Hor example, if
Ferrostaal proposes investing €10 million in an eleotronics pompany, and that
investment scores highly on the stated criterie, the ITT might apply & multiplier of 60,
making that investment worth €600 million in offset eredits. What evidently mattered
to Ferrostazl in determining whether to proceed with a proposed investment was
fherefore not the basiness case for the invesiment, of the likelibood of good retumns,
but its prediction of how much the DTEwould like the project, based on the DTD’s
published eriteria and what multipliet it would reegive. This had the potential to
create unusnal incentives, and it i§ possible that these played a part in the selection of
some projects.

The Investigationfound no evidence that projects were selected for improper
reasons, such as, for example, to fimnel money o 2 company owned by a relative of 2
DT official. But thesprojects, looked at individually and as a whele, are nonetheless
problematic,

At 4 meeting in 2003, the employee formerly in charge of the offset program
in South Afiica alleged that a Yorstard member had said that South African offset
projects had beenused to pay Ndizliche dufwendungen. He also said that consaliants
Ellifigford, Georgindis and Swan had approached him in thatre gard, and that he bad
scon alt agreemient regarding these payments. Debevoise was unable to obtain an
explanation of fhis statement, as both the employes and the relevant Vorstand
members declined o be interviewed, But the lack of investigation or corrective action
is in keeping with the Company’s general lack of follow-up when serious allegations
Were made, as noted in other sections of this Report.

Set ouit below are the offset projects that raise particular concerns, based on
. ¢he circumstances of the investment or the offset companies involved.

. MAGWA: MAGWA was 4 tea plantation in the Eastern Cape province of
South Africa, the home of many leading politicians from the African National
Congress. Ferrostaal made the investment to the Bastern Cape Development
Corporation, a quasi-governmental body. Chippy supposedly brought the
projest to Ferrostaal. Ferrostaal invested ZAR 23.5 miltion on this preject in
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2005. As this was paid via a “non-refundable foan,” Ferrostaal received
nething in return,

.. SAMES: Ferrostaal logned ZAR 42.2 million to SAMES between 2005 and
2007, of which the majority has not been repaid. SAMES is a subsidiary of
Labat Africa Ltd., a company with close tics to the African NationaldCongress:
Labat Africa was also chaired by Defence Minister Modige until he diedin
2001,

. Aflantis Development Trust: Perrostaal invested more than ZAR 26 million in
Atlaptis Development, an educational body, betwesn 2003 and 20060 The
body fatled and there were allegations of fraud; befare that, hewever, the head
of Ferrostaal’s South African operation had infopmed Atlantis Development
that it would never have to repay the money providedito it.

. Other: In at least two other cases, the praject nvested in failed uiterly and the
entire investment had to be written off: Condomi {ZAR 1.5 million invested
in 2002 and 2003} and Trimica (ZAR 9 millicn invested in 2003).

Ferrostaal emplovees referreds to the frequient use of a “ron-refundable
loan’” to make offset investments. Functionally, there is no difference between this
and a straightforward grant, which was confipned by the accounting and tax personnel
interviewed in the course of the Investigation. The examples above illustrate that
Ferrostaal was prepared 18 support and invest in projects, including through such
loans, that it seemed to have bad liftle interest in succeeding. One former manager
responsible for offsetisaid that this just confirmed the questionable nature of the offset
business, in which DTT cradits were the only real factor driving Ferrostaal’s
investment decisipns,

{e) Chippy Shaik and His Brothers

As noted, Chippy was in charge of acquisitions at the Ministry of Defence
from 1997 to 2001. As such, he was one of the key people in determining who would
win the subinarines contract. As was to he expectéd, Ferrostaal had murnerous
dealings with Chippy during his tenure at the Ministry. On one occasion, one
nterviewee said, Chippy told Ferrostaal and its consortium pariners that they must
grant ths subcontract for the submarine combat suite to African Defonce Systems
(Pty) Ltd. (*ADS™) a company controlied by Chippy's brother, Shabir, According to
the same interviewee, HD'W, the shipbuilding member of the consortium, refused to
do so because of ADS’ partnership with a French company.* This incident is

M ADS was in fact used to provide the combat suite on the frigaies confract for the Sounth African

Navy. Chippy's involvement in that decision was conlroversial, and he was censured by the
Ministry of Defence. Shabir himself spent four vears in jail for corruption in bis relations with
then Vice President and later Presidant Jacub Zuma.

&5


Emmanouil
Γραμμή


PRIVILEGED & CONFIDENTIAL
ATTORNEY WORK PRODUCT. - -
ATTORNEY ~ CLIENT COMMUNICATION
CONFIDENTIAL - EU PERSONAL DATA

nonetheless indicative of the possibility that Chippy may have sought to derive a
personal benefit from his public funetion.

Ferrostasl had nuraerous buginess dealings with Chippy after he left the
Ministry in 2001, These dealings, although not per se improper, are problematic; it
particular, the commercial ratfonale for some of them is difficult to understand, and
there is no sign that Ferrostaal took appropriate care, of conducted any due diligence,
before engaging with Chippy.

Chippy's most extended coopetation with Ferrostaal came through a joint
veature called TAN Mining and Exploration (Pty) Ltd. (“TAN"). In 2004, Ferrostaal,
Chippy’s company Enable Mining (Pty) Ltd. and Mining Projects Deyelopment (Pty)
Lid, {“MPD"™), a South Aftican engineering company, formed TAN with the purpose
of mining taptalum in Mozambigue and selling it to Mmanufaeturersin Burope. The
terms of the joint venture agreement required sach‘partaer to gontribute capital to
TAN, although MPD was allowed to contfibutela significant portion of its capital in
kind because of its engineering expertise.

Ferrostaal contributed just undef $1.5 million to the joint venture between
2004 and 2006. Tt appears that neithér MPD not Bhable Mining made any cash
contributions fo the joint venture; &t one stage, Ferrosiaal considered loaning Paable
Mining the stake it needed to invest. Ultimately, the joint venture failed and in 2607
Ferrostaal sold its stake in TAN to Enable Mining for ZAR. 310,000 (about $40,000).
"This was not only signifi¢antly 1ess than Ferrostaal had invested in the company, buf
also a fraction of the amount i had been offered for its stake one year previously,
Indeed, at that timey BDO advised that Ferrostaal’s stake was worth ZAR 10 million
{about 81,25 million).

In 2608, members of the press asked Ferrostaal about its association with
Chippy through TAN. Ferrostaal replied that it had ended its association with Enable
Mining as spon as i discovered that Chippy wes behind the company. This answer
wad plainly false, as it was known to Ferrostaal all along that he was behind Bnable
Mining; mdeed, Ferrostaal negotiated directly with him.

Bvidence suggests that Chippy may also have been behind 2 company called
Llima Community Financial Services (Pty} Lid, (“Iima™), & consuliant that
supposedly had “vast knowledge of the South African business environment.”
FERISA paid lima ZAR 1.8 million in 2005, suppesedly in retwmn for services
velating to various offset companies and other joint ventures. But Wlima’s identity and
purpose — apd whether it performed any of the stated services — ars unclear, Its
-directors were listed as Moses Mayekiso and Julekha Mahomed, both politically
connecied people (Mayekiso was a leading trade unionist and Mahomed is Jacob
Zama’s attorney). However, at 2 meeting at FERISA in 2006, Ferrostaal staff
aftacked the management for its ties to Iliima and claimed that the engagement of
Hiima was solely a way to pay Chippy. Given the unevailability of key former
employees, we have not been able o obiain any explanation of this issue.
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Further connections with the Shaiks include:

. Iu 1998, while Ferrostaal was bidding for the submarine contract, Chippy’s
' brother Moe, the South African consul in Hamburg, asked Ferrostaal {asd
other German companies) to donate money {0 a concert at the Hamburg
consulate,

. Perrostaal paid for Chippy’s round-trip, business-class travel to Egyptin 2002
in connection with a gold mining project that was never realized.

. Chippy may have introduced the MAGWA proj ect to Ferrostaal,

. Chippy’s brother Yunis tried to broker a deal between Ferrostaal and an offset
company, and represented Enable Mining in the purchase of TAN shares.

As already noted, none of these interactions or kransactions with Chippy per 5¢
constitute illegal or even improper conduct, absent the existence of corresponding
promises on the part of the Company atthe time whewhe was the principal
interlocutor to confer benefits or advantages on him sfier he ceased being in
goverament, Nonetheless, the level of dealings with a former government official and
the complete lack of serutiny and examination to which these dealings were put, rajse
important questions about the compliance and risk culture at the Company, as well as
the systems and controls isi place af the fime.

4. Dffshore Patrot Vessels

{8)  Prajects Investipated

The Munich Prpsecuior has been investigating allegations that irproper
payments were made in Argentina in connsction with the award of a contract for the
design of ans offshore patrol vessel (“OPV™) in 2008. Debevoise investigated the
respective OBV profects in Argentina, Colombia and (to a much more limited extent)
Chilsl These projects were not investigated in Phase L.

Debevoise conducted a total of nine interviews with seven current or former
amployees and ons consultant. Debevoise also carried out one informational briefing.
Certain key employees, including the current head of the responsible division at Fritz
Werner Industrie-Ausriistungen GmbH and the former Bereichsvorstand for Marine,
declined to meet for interviews, Debayvoise reviewed the elecironic data of 20 current
and former emplovees, as well as hard copy files of potentially relevant docnments.

(b)  Argentina

(i}  Summary of Allegations

Ferrostaal acted as the representative of the German shipbuilding company Fr.
Fassmer GmbH & Co. K G (“Fassmer”) in connéction with the potential sale of OPVs
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to the Argentine Navy. Current and former employees of Ferrostaal AG and

Ferrostaal Argentina S.A. (“FSA™) alleged to have known of the bribe payments to
Argentine officizls in connection with the OPV project include the former head of
Merchant Marine, the former Bereichsvorstand for Marine, as well as a formez FSA
CEO and a former FSA consultant and director (a previous CEO of FSA from 19651t0
1997, then retained by Ferrostasl AG on a consultancy basis in 1999 and ré=appointed
as a director of FSA in 2007 for tax reasons). Indeed, the former head of Merchant
Marine appeats to have been the person instrumental in making some of thekey
agreements regarding those payments and devising the initisd plan 10 effect them as
early as 2005. He admitted his involvement in statements to the Mutick Prosecutor
and in iaterviews with Debevoise. He is a principal sourcs behind the allegations
against the other Perrostaal AG and FSA employees, although Passmer’s principal has
reportedly also have given corroborating evidence togheMunich Presecutor,

The consuliant/director of FSA is alleged to have served as the point person
tasked with intermediating between the principal Argeniing efficial requesting the
bribes (Navy lawyer Osvaldo Parrinetia) and Ferrostasl AG/Fassmer, including as to
the pajment channels 1o be used. He thus allegedly played @ pivotal role inthe
improper activities and was (unlike the formerhead of Merchant Marine) fully aware
of the mechanics of the improperpayments. The allegsations against the CEO of FSA.
put him in a less prominent role, but he isalleged to have been fully informed of the
fact that bribes were being paid and to whom. Moreover, he is said to have proposed
1o the former head of Metohant Marine that other decision-makers should be paid and
that alternative payment channels should be used. Finally, the former
Bereichsvorsiand is said to have been informed by the head of Merchant Marine that
bribes were being paid in theeontext of the project, a course of action he allegedly
approved. We identifiedno documentary evidence to substantiate that allegation and
anderstanddhat the former Bereichsvorstand has denied it.

(i)  Ferrostaal Commission for Sale of OPV Design and
Basic Enginsering :

Férrostaal had initially envisaged a turnkey confract that would have
eficompassed the construction end sale by Fassmer of several OFVs to the Argentine
Navy, with an anticipated volume exceeding €200 million, Discussions to putsue
Such a contract reach back to the mid-2000s.

Following a decision by the Argentine government in or around 2006 not to
pursue z direct contract with Fassmer/Ferrostaal for the construction and purchase of
several OPVs, however, the negotiations in Argentina focused on & significantly
senaller project in scope and volume. Tn late 2007 or early 2008, the Chiloan shipyard
ASMAR and the Argentinean Navy uitimately concluded a contract worth €2.23
mdltion for a naval and ship system design package. In turn, ASMAR purchased basic
engineering and design from Fassmer in January 2008 for a contract voltumne of
€2,047,500. Terrostasl was due a cornmission of 8.5% of the contractual value from
Fassmer, or €174.,038, Of that amount, Fervostaal AG’s share was 5% (amounting to
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€102,375), while 3.5% (€71,663) was paid to FSA. The total amount actually paid to
Ferrostaal AG by Fassmer was reduced by €25,000 on account of (i) 2 €15,000 cash
payment apparently made by the former head of Merchant Marine to consultant Peter
Fischer-Hollweg in Essen and (i) €10,000 paid by Fassmer to the consultant/divestor
of FSA which, according to the former head of Merchant Marine, had been agreed a8
an sdditional bonus for his work on the OPV project.

In August 2009, Fassmer also executed g license agreement with the Argentine
Navy for the construction of said OPV. The volume of the Hoense agreement was
€500,000 and FSA. received the entire conmission amount of 8% (40,6003,

The Investigation found no indications that any of these payments were passed
on to decision-makers. The former head of Merchant Matine statedin an interview
that none of the payments set out above were used or intended to be used for impreper
purposes. Nonetheless, two of the payments raise questions about the adequacy of the
internal confrols at the Company. Why an additional bonua to an external
consultant/director of FSA should be pridby Fassmer directly and then deducted from.
Ferrostaal A(¥’s official commission, rather than officially paid and accountsd for as a
bonus payment, is simply unexplained. Mors fingoritantly, the cash payment to
Fischer-Hollweg, described in theinvoiee to Fassmer as a payment for “Jocal
services,” was apparently made by the former head of Merchant Marine because the
consultant required this payment asa cash advance pald in Germany {spparently for
his wife, who was vesidesit there), The former head of Merchant Marine stated that
Fischer-Hollweg subsequently reitnbursed the Company that amount, although we
have not verified this.or the accounting/booking treatment of this alleged
reimbursement.

(iiy Alleged Agreement to Pay Bribes Amounting to 6.3%
of Contrast Value

Asgording to the former head of Merchant Matine, Parrinella had reached an
agxeement with Ferrostaal and Fassmer that a comrmission of 6.5% of the value of the
gonitact between Fassmer and ASMAR would be paid to him. During his interviews,
he articulated his understanding that a portion of the funds paid to Parrinella — himself
a public official — would be passed on to the relevant decision-makers in the
Argentine Navy, including (but not limited to) an Admiral Lepron and a Captain
Pakua.

The former head of Merchant Marine recalled how he was himself involved in
negotiations at which a 3,5% commiission was agreed for Parrinelia. He further stated
that that he was angered by Fassmer’s subsequent decision o agtes to 2 6.5%
comrnission with Parrinella, which he only found owt after the fact. A cost calculation
sheet sent by Fassmer to the former head of Merchant Marine on 1 August 2003
includes specific line items for commissions to “Goldlocke” in the amount of 1.5%

. (Parrinella) and “Leppi,” confirmed to denote Admiral Lepron, in the amount of 0.5%,
tespectively. The existence of this calculation sheet adds credibifity to the aceount of
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the former head of Merchant Marine of the clear intention to make bribe payments ofi
the project.

The former head of Merchant Marine further contended that payments to
Parrinelia were logistically coordinated by the consultant/director of FSA, with the
£l knowledge of the CEO of FSA. The consultant/dirsctor is said to have teceived
payment requests from Parrinells and communicated those requests to the former hoad
of Merchant Marine, who wonld inform Fassmer of the need to provide the funds to
an account noxsinated by the consultant/director of FSA, who would in turn distribute
the funds to Parrinella. According to the former head of Merchént Marine, this
practice was altered subsequently, with him uo longer befagéetively involved in the
communications about the payments to Parrinella. As such, it his integview the
former head of Merchant Marine was rot ta a positiondoisay farough which accounts
or entities Fassmer was routing the payments in question, a3 fhese Wete matters that
the consultant/director of FSA was coordinating directly with Fassmer, Importantly,
he confirmed that Ferrostaa! was not making any improper payments itselfl

The Investigation focused on identifying evidence that would corroborate the
allegations made. The custodial data gollectedat FSA contained copies of the
following documents:

s A draft consuitancy agreement belween Fassmer and Uruguayan company
Witer 8.A. dated 9daniary 2008 (just days after the signature of the contract
between Fassmer and ASMAR). According to its preamble, the purpose of the
agreement was for Wiler to promots in Chile the sale “of the design and basic
engineering of the vesselFassmer OPV 80 [...7 that can have as its final
destination the Navy of the Argentine Republic” in exchange for payment of
£13 5,000 in three installments. The vague deseription of the project in
question talliggwith the OPV Argentina project.

» AT July 2008 addendum to the consuliancy agreement providing for an
additional payment of €10,100 to Wiler. The siated putpoge of this agreement
was to “provide further support in the sale of the Fassmer OFPV80 for the
Colombian Navy,” but in fact the payment envisaged appears 1o relate to the
Argentina OPV project, not the Colombia OPV project.

* E-mails showing that the CFQ and the consultant/director of FSA played a
role in transferring documents (including Wiler invoices and the addendums to
the consultancy agreerment) between Fassmer and Wiler, as well as having
arranged for Wiler to sign contractual documentation and to confirm receipt by
Wiler of payment from Fassmer.

Business intelligence research conducted by Emst & Young indicates that
Wiler was owned and managed by Roberto Perasso (as president) and his wife (as
vice-president). Perasso was a long-time business associate of the CEO of FSA and
his fellow shareholder in two entities in which Ferrostaal AG used 1o have an indirect
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holding: FerroExport 8.A. and Plod Company 8.4, (discussed further below). The
imvolvement of Perasso and his company point towards the involvement of the CEO
of FRA in the matter. Indeed, documents from custodial data of FSA reveal
communications between the CEQ of FSA and Perasso in which the former cofiveys
to the latter Fassmer’s request for Wiler’s signatures on the consultanoy agreement in
question in the following terns: “Fassmer needs you to send him two versions signed
by Wiler. Please let me know when you will send them to him.”

The initially agreed zpon commission amount with Wiler — eguivaieni to
6.59% of the contract between Fassmer and ASMAR -~ is pearly identical 1o fhe 6.5%
of the value of the OPV contract purportedly promised to Parrinelia by Fassmer,
Further, the sequencing of the payment schedule set out in the draft Wiler consultancy
agreement broadly tallies with the expected paymenty from ASMAR 1o Fassmer
pursuant to the basic engineering and design contraet, suggesting that Wiler was
receiving some form of success fee on receipt of customer payments by Fassmer.
Both the consultant/ditectot and the CEO of FSA disclaitnied any knowledge of the
substance of these artangements which they said must have been made by Fassmer
without their knowledge and firrther desiied that they were designed to make payments
to Parinella and other officials, The¥ had no explanation of what services Wiler
allegedly provided. In fact, the consultant/director of FSA who acknowledged that he
had played a “messenger”™ functien for Fassmer (forwarding Wiler documents o
Fassmer), was not aware of Wiler baving provided any actual services on the OPV
Axgentina project. He had no sxplanation for the fact that Fassmer had agreed io pay
this apparently unknown Uruguayan entity approximately twice as much as FSA's
official hard-earned and hard-fought commission. All of these factors, taken in the
round, underming the credibility of the denials provided by the CEOQ and
consultant/director of FRA and provide strong evidence that the arrangements with
Wiler represented the alleged 6.5% bribe arrangement with Parrinella.

While we have not received a clear explanation for the further payment to
Wilerenvisaged under the addendum, the Munich Prosesutor is reportedly
investigating allegations that this payment wag made at the request of Parrinella, who
had complained of receiving insufficient funds. One possible explanation, posited by
the formet head of Merchant Marine, 1s that Wiler would have retained a handling fee
foy its Services and that this shortfallin payments to Patrinella needed to be made up
through the additional payment pursuant to the Addendurn, We saw no evidence to
verify this allegation. We also saw no payment documentation establishing whether
Wiler itself, or Parzinella and possibly cther Argentine officials, in fact received any
funds.

{iv) Earlier Alleged Bribe Payments Through Plod
Company S.A.

- A further line of enquiry by the Munich Prosecutor centers on the allegation
that earlier payments were effecied to Parrinella via two companies in which
Ferrostaal had a shareholding nuntit 20086, together with the CEQ of FSA and Perasso:


Emmanouil
Γραμμή


PRIVILEGED & CONFIDENTIAL
ATTORNEY WORK PRODUCT - -
ATTORNEY - CLIENT COMMUNICATION

CONFIDENTIAL — EU PERSONAL DATA

FerroBxport S.A. (“FerroExport”) and Plod. The Munich Prossontor suspeets that the
alleged payments from Fassmer to Plod were effected in connection with the award of
the OPV contraet in Chile, although the intended recipient of the payments appears to
have been Parrinells, in return for his support in helping Fassmer win the Chile
contfract,

FerroBxport is an Argentine company said 10 have supported Ferrostaal AG in
the steel trading business, receiving commissions for successful sales from Ferrostaal
AG. Internal documentation suggests that FerroExport requested Fesrostaal AG to
pay pert of its commission to Pled, a Uruguayan company with a US-based bask
account. Ferrostaal AG appears to have owned 50% of the sharcs of Ferrokixport
through its Swiss holding entity, Investment Holdings, with fhe CEO of FSA. (40%)
and Perasso (10%) owning the remaining shares, The shareholdings in Plod were
identical to those in FerroBxport. The CEO of FSA is#aid to have acquired the 30%
shares in FerroRxport and Plod sold by Ferrostaal inl2006 or 2007 when Ferrostaal
decided to exit the steel trading business. The Investigation did not conduct a full
review of the shareholdings in these entities, but didireceive confirmation from the
former CEQ of FSA that he and Perasso hadthe personal shareholdings described
above at the relevant time when the payffients under review were made.

The Investigation identified'a draftdebit note from Plod to Fassmer in the
amount of $45,675, dated 4 July 2005, The debit note refers to “vonsultancy services
conducted for the promotion.of Fasstaer products in South America.” The cover lefter
to which the debit note is dttachedis on FertoBxport letterhead and addressed by
Perasso 1o the former head of Merchant Marine, with copies to the CEQ and
consuliant/director ofESA. During bis interview, the former head of Merchant
Matine recalled how Fassmer had informed him that he was making a $45,000
payment to Parritglla in thrée tranches, something that is corroborated by a
contemporaneous e-mail gommunication from Fassmer to him refersing to the
paymentto Plod in three frapches. He further recalled how this payment was to be
paid out in cash to Parrinella on site in Argentina and that the consultant/director of
TS condinated the cash payment on behalf of Fassmer.

In intervicws at FSA, the CEO and consultant/director both disavowed any
kpowledge of the arrangements between Fassmer and Plod. The CEO did, however,
confirm his shareholding in Plod, whick he described as a Urnguayan offshote entity
ingorporated to conduct non-Uruguayan business, He also confirmed that Plod was
paid patt of FerroExport’s commissions by Ferrostaal AG in the steel trading
business.

The former head of Merchant Marine’s recollection of the discussions with
Harold Fassmer and the consultant/dizector of FSA regarding this matter, supparted
by the documentary record, make this a rare case where a specific payment 1o an
entity can be identified as an intended bribe. No other explanation of the payment fo
Plod has been put forward in the interviews we conducted. However, and given that
the payments in question were to be made by Fassmer, not the Company, we have no
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way of verifying whether they were made, or whether Parrinella received the funds
apparently intended for hitn.

(v} General Cbservations and Level of Vorstand
Involvement

The facts outlined above provide credible evidence that the PSACEO and
consultant/direcior of FSA, in addition io the former head of Merchant Marine,
worked together with Fassmer in order to effoct the payment of pofential bribes by
Fassmer — not Ferrostaal — to Argentine public officials. . The évidence also suggesis
that they did so through the use of corporate entities in which one o both of them (or
individuals ¢loss to them) had an interest or some form of affiliation, giving rise to a
suspicion of them having made & personal profit fromthese transactions. As such, our
review of the OPV Argentina project has revealedwery serious compliance concerns,
periicutarly in view of the fact that the two employees of FSA invoived wntil very
recently held the most senjor positions at a Ferrostaal lscaleompany.

As regards the knowledge and involvement afthe Forsrand with respect to
these compliance violations, absent further corzoberating evidence we cannot attribute
sufficient probative value to the statements of the former head of Merchant Marine
that he informed the former Bepgichsvorstand of the fact that bribe payments were
being made on the praject, a course of action he allegedly senctioned. The former
Bereichsvorstand has depied thoese allegations in discussions with the Company’s
praject office. Debevoise did not have the opportuaity to interview him.

Certain cifeumstantisl evidence does suggest, however, that the compliance
risks of the OPV Argentifia project couid and should have been identified by the
Company’smost senior managerent. According to several employees interviewed,
the former CEQ of Berrostasl AG had taken an unusually elose interest in this project
at the stage when it was stil] being pursued as a turpkey project. His personal
involyement apparently went as far as making a decision to engage Helmut Cristian
Grag, an Argentine lawyer of Genmnan descent, and Fischer-Hollweg, o formaer German
diplomat; as external consultants. Debevoise was informed that both were intended 1o
lebby the Asgentine povernment, and in particular the Navy and the Mindstry of
Defense, on behalf of the Company. This met with strong opposition both from the
formmer CEQ, the then consultant/director of FSA and the former head of Merchant
Marine, all of whom made their unhappiness with the activities of Graf/Fischer-
Hollweg known inside the Company. - The convergence of two related incidentsin
this regard show how the compliance risks were brought to the attention of the former
CEO.

Firsi, Fischer-Hollweg sent the former CEO a seriss of e-mails during the
course of 2005 in which he complained about the fact that the former head of
Merchant Marine used “the corrupt Parvineila” who he also claimed had been
associated by other officials in the Argentine Navy as being on the Company’s
“payroll.” While these e-tnails may have been written as an atlempt to undermine the
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activities of the rival camp inside the Company (composed of the former head of
Merchant Marine, the CEQ and consultant/dirsctor of FSA), they nonetheless contain
allegations of sufficient severity against Parrinella that would have metited further
investigation of the Company’s dealings with this individual. The Investigation found
no indication that this was in fact done.

Second, the former head of Merchant Marine stated in an interview that he
complained to the former CEO about the decision to use Graf and presented the
formasr CEO with a straightforward choice of continuing fo prsue the OPV Argentioa
project with cithet him or Graf. He recalied explaining his oppesitionto Grafand the
tatter’s request for a 10% consulting commission on the basig'that Graf wasnot
tobbying the right officials in Argentina and would thereforeiot be paying the right
people, meaning that the Company would be wasting itsmoney. He also allegedly
informed the Former CEO that he and PSA had identified theright interlocutor in
Parrinelia, someone with a “proven trackrecord.” The former head of Merchant
Marine stated in an interview that his discussionwith the former CEO was open and
direct and that he was clear that his opposition to Graf was ot on the basis of'a
compliasnce concern, but rather a commercial assessment of the value of paying a high
commission to a consultant who had failed to identify the appropriate end recipients to
promote the Company’s interests successfully i retumn for payment. While it is
unclear why the final decision to terminate the refationship with Graf and Fischer-
Hollweg was taken and whether oznot it is true that the former CEO made this
decision following the diseliesion with the former head of Merchant Maiine, as
alleped, internal documentation does confirm that the relationship was indeed
termiinated towards the end of 2005 and that the former CEO was involved in the
discussions on thé matter.

Put together, thess two facts raise the possibility that the former CEQ may
have personally knownef the intended bribe payments on the project. Even if'the
forroer Bead of Merchant Marine’s account of his private discussion with the former
CEQ.is discounted, however, ons is left with e-mail documentation from a Company
gonsultant - apparently porsonally chosén by the former CEO —in which. the risk of
corriptiof involved in dealing with a government official, or at least the perception of
such a tisk on the part of the Argentine government, is very cleatly set out for the
former CEO. The subsequent decision to sever ties with the consultant making the
allegations and to continue working with the very man accused of corruption at the
very least displays a lack of compliance awareness and a compliance failure.

This Report must, of course, be read subject to the caveat that we did not have
an opporfunity to question the former CEQ about this matter.

{c)  Colombia OPV Project

Ferrostaal also acted as Fassmer’s tepresentative in connection with the sale of
offshore patrol vessels in Colombia. Tn August 2008, Fassmer signed a contract worth
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2 total of €17.26 millior with the Colombian shipyard Cotecmar o provide a design,
material packages and technical assistance for the construction of one OPV.

Fassmer agreed to pay comumissions to various Ferrostaal entifies which
amounted to 8% for the design and technical assistance, and 5% for the matesial
package portion. Of the 8% for the design and technical assistance, 5% wasto goto
Ferrostaal AG and 3% was for Ferrostaal de Colombia Ltda, (“FSC ), with Fetrostaal
AQ being obliged to pay 1.5% of the confract value to their Colombian agent (and -
former CEO of FSC) Jose Huerga, Of the 5% for the material packages, 3.125% was
10 go to Ferrostaal AG and 1.875% was to go to FSC, with Ferrestaal AG obliged to
ray 150 of the contract value to Jose Huerga.

Debevoise understands that the Munich Prosecitttp wes initially investigating
allegations, based on generalized assertions made by the former head of Merchant
Marine during his initial interrogations, that bribes amounting to 2.5-3% of the value
of the contract were paid to unidentified recipients. Debevoise has identified no
evidence to support these allegations. Indeed, the former head of Merchant Marine
during his interview distanced himsalf from the allegations made, stating that be had
no actual knowledge whether impropet payments were in fact made in connection
with the project, Debevoise further upiderstands that the Munich Prosecutor is no
longer investigating the initial aliegations made.

{D Chile OPV Project

Ferrostaal Chile 8.A.C. (“FSCHI") acted as the representative of Fassmer in
cormection with ag OPV prajectt In 2005, Fassmer entered into a contract with
ASMAR to supply a design and technical information, together with a licence to
construct two OPVs from this design. The total value of the contract was €1.52
million. Talike in Atgentina and Colombia, a wiitten consultancy agreement was
entered Into with Fassmer, pursuant to which FSCHI was paid a fee of €76,000
(equating to 5% of the value of the customer contract).

Asg outlined above in connection with Plod, there is an allegation of impropexr
pagments having been made in connection with this project. However, other than the
termporal connection between the Plod payments and the OPV Chile project, the
Livestigation identified no evidence that this payment was in fact connected to the

- work of FSCHI with respect to the OPV project ot that the funds wers paid to Chilean
public officials,

5. Eeypt/Ferromisy
{a)  Projects Investigated
In Phase X1, we investigated a project for the sale of one 100 toxt tug boat to the

Suez Canal Authority (“SCA”), another project in respect of which allegations of
bribery had been made to the Munich Prosecutor by the former head of Merchant

b 14




PRIVILEGED & CONFIDENTIAL
ATTORNEY WORK PRODUCT : _
ATTORNEY — CLIENT COMMUNICATION

CONFIDENTIAL - EU PERSONAL DATA _ :

Marine. We also carried out & much more Hmited investigation of two other projects
involving the same Egyptian agent who had worked on the 100 ton tug boat project.
None of these projects were the subject of investigation in Phase L.

A total of four interviews and one informational briefing were conducted.
Certain key former employees, including a former Bereichsvorsiand who was
responsible for the project in iz latter stages, the former head of the responsible
department, and the commaercial manager of the project in its initial stages, declined to
be interviewed. Ferrostaal’'s Egyptian agent, Mahmoud Salama (the principal of
Ferromisr Commercial Agencies Co., “Ferromise™), agreed 10 an interview buf thep
cancelled i1 ot short notice and ultimately refused to he interviewed, Wegewiewed the
electronic data of 15 cument and former employees, as well as hard copy files of
poientially relevant documents.

(by  Bgypt 100 Ton Tug Boat

In May 2002, Perrostaal signed s contractywith the SCA for the delivery of one
100 ton tug boat. 'The tota! value of the contract was €12 Smillion. In connection
with this contract, Ferrostaal pald a conimission of 2% of the value of the contract
(€250,000) to Bgyptian agent Ferromise. The project ran into-s number of problems
which significantly delayed delivéry ofthe vessel, but were ultimately resolved by a
settlement agreement on 1 November 2007, On 4 December 2008 Ferrostaal received
back its warranty bond, thus bringing the project to comypletion.

{ii No Bvidence Corroborating Allegation of Bribery
Through Salama/Ferromisr

Two speeific allegations of improper payments were made in connection with
this contract. The frst was that improper payments were made from
Salama/Ferromiss®s commission fee in the initial stages of the project, in order to
seeure the ordérfrom the SCA. The second allegation was that a second commission
payment of €256,000 was raade to Salama/Ferromisr in April 2008, from which
Bribes were paid in order to secure the release and non-extension (and thus
tepayment) of the outsianding warranty bond. Both of these allegations were made by
the former head of Merchant Marine in a staternent given to the Munich Prosecutor in
February 2010, and were reiterated during an interview,

The Investigation found no evidence to corzoborate either allegation of
bribery. Asregards the first allegation, the former head of Merchant Marine clarified
that his assertion was not based on personal knowledge, but rather statements made o
him by his predecessor; Although we found documents in which Salama attempted to
justify demands for a higher commission percentage by referring to “obligations” that
had to be fulfilled, we do not consider such suggestive language to be sufficient,
without more, to corraborate the allegation of bribery. As regards the second
allegation, the former head of Merchant Marine insisted in an interview that he had
attempted to make this payment in April 2008, and that as far as he was aware, this
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payment was doly made, However, an in~-depth search of documents and Ferrostaal’s
accounting and banking data revealed no evidence of a second payment to
Salama/Ferromise in or around April 2008,

{if} Potential Compliance Violations in Connection with
Other Salama/Ferromisr Invoices

The Invesiigation did identify evidence of potential compliasice violationsin

‘connection with other invoices rendered by Salama. Four invoices that were booked

1o the 100 ton tug boat project all referved to “materials and equipment.” We found
no evidence that Ferrorsisr was ever involved in the purchase of materials and
squipment in Bgypt. In fact, there are a number of indications to the gentrary. To
begin with, tweo interviewees who were closely conneéted with the project stated that
they were not eware that Satama ever purchased materials and equipment and stated
that local purchasing was not part of his mandage or fole. Second, when Salama was
recently asked by the project manager to produce the usual back-up documentation
such as invoices for the material and equipment pugehaged, Salama informed hir that
such evidenee had already been destroyed inaccordance with applicable legal
requirernents. Third, in relation to awvery similazinvoice from Salama (albeit one that
was actually booked to a different projeet), there 1s evidence of a former employee

-expliciily insiructing Salama tolgend him an invoice referencing the purchase of

muatetials and equipment if he wished to get paid. The clear implication of this e-mail
is that Salama simply nsed the “materials and equipment” title on lnvoices in order to
obiain payment from Férrostaal which would otherwise not have been due to him. In
addition, interviewses expressed doubts that invoices for materials and equipment
would have amotinted to round munbers, as they always appeared to in these
circumstances.

While there i5'$hus strong evidence that several Salama/Ferromisy invoices
were falsified)the Investigation found no indication that monies paid pursuant to such
inveiecs were passed on to public officials. As such, it is possible that the payments
were simmiply made in order to advance Salama/Ferromisy monies that would gtherwise
nothave been due under the success-based agency agreement or, alternatively, to
ingreasethe compmission to which Salama/Ferromisr was contractually entitled. Both
possibilities raise internal control and compliance issues, even absent any eévidence
pointing towards a corrupt intention. As all relevant payments were made prior {o
November 2004 and under the watch of former employees who declined o be
interviewed, the Investigation was unable to teach any clear conclusions on this issue.

(¢} Indications of Salama Passing Monies on to Third Parties

The Investigation identified evidence suggesting that Salama passed monies
on to thied parties in connection with another Ferrostazl project. In an e-mail to the
former head of the commercial shipbuilding division, a former commercial manager
on the 100 ton tug boat project reposted on a conversation with Salama during which
the latter had “confidentially” informed him that he had decided to “invest money” in
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order o accelerate the flow of information. The former commercial manager further
proposed that Ferrostaal AG contribute to Salama’s expenses with a “modest” amount
which would be deducted from any commission ultimately due to Salama/Fesromist.
The former cotametcial manager then deseribed how a decision had been reached
with the project manager of the tug boat project that the amount in question (€1 0,000
should be given to Selama and booked on the project. Indeed, an invoics was
generated on the same date, referring to “spare paris for the Schattel Propeller” in
the amount of €10,000. The payment instruction referenced a project for 2 40 ton
floating crane for the SCA. We were unable to identify to which praject this payment
related. The payment was made approxitnstely one month laters The praject manager
of the tug boat project could not provide us any informationto clarify theincident, but
it is safe to conclude that a consultant paying unidentified¢hizd parties to acquire
information implicates compliance violations.

6. MFEL
(a) Summary of the Compliance Audit

In view of the allegations of coffuption in the submaring business, Ferrostaal
proposed that Debevoise conduct a cempliance review of MFI, the 50:50 joint venture
between Farrostaal and HDW/ThyssenKrupp, formed in 2004 to undertake the sales
and commercial aspects of the sibmarine business previously carried out by the
HDW/Ferrostaal consoriimm '

The Compliance Audit was aceompanied by Hengeler Mueller, representing
Thyssenirupp, HW:s cuzrent majority shareholder. Unlike many Eerrostaal
projects discussed in this Repért, the Compliance Audit did not pursue existing
allegations of improper payments. Instead, Debevoise focused on assessing MFI's
compliancd systems andddentifying potential risk areas, in addition to determining
whethe any improper payments may have oceurred in the past. '

\Debevoise reviewed past, ongoing and aniicipated projects in thirteen
countries, incliding Algeria, Brazil, Colombia, Egypt, Greece, India, Indonesia, Ialy, |
Kofea, Pakistan, Turkey, United Arab Emitates and Venezuela. Debevoise conducted
thirtecadntorviews of MFI employees (including the outrent managing directors and
the senior sales executive) and reviewed the o-mail data of all but one current MFI
amnployee, s well as that of two former MF1 managing directors who have since
returned to Ferrostaal. In addition to interviews, we collected e-mail data, server data,
and hard copy documens at MFL, approximately 120 binders in fotal, including all
relevant materisls on consultants and third-party relationships. Moreover, Emst &
Young acquired the complete accounting data from MFI's exiemal accountant,
Venthams Ltd., reviewed MFD's cteditor accounts and bank entries and searched for
sslect entities and payments in the accounting data,

‘As meoationed in Sestion I, Debevoise did not identify any Category 1 or 2
payments made by MFI, The €250,000 payment to Turkish offset service provider
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Triton Consultancy and Trading Ltd. (“Triton™} in conneciion with the Yonca-Onuk
A0, offset project qualifies as a Category 3 payment, although the information we
have is too limited to come to a definitive conclusion. Given certain statements made
by MFI’s former Indonesian service provider as to his interttion to “grease” the
“pockets” of Indonesian officials, sll payments to him. also fall within Category 3,
amounting to 2 total of £320,926.68.

The general absence of questicnable payments is, of course, a very pesitive
message that merits special attention. Nonetheless, the Compliance Audit identified
areas of concern, both as regards MFI's existing projects and consultancy
arrangements, but also structural issues regarding its compliance program and system,
that will need to be addressed in order to reduce the rigk profile of the Buainess,
partionlarly in view of the exigencies of the UK Bribery Act

(b  History of MF1

After the effective end of their consortium relationship in 2003, HDW and
Fetrostasl decided fo place all sales and commercial functions of the submarine
business info a new joint venture entity, with the former consortivin partners refaining
the ongoing projects in Greece, Portugaband South Afiica.

MEI was first established a8.a limited liability partnership in April 2604,
constituting a 50:50 shacgholding between HDW and Fertostaal. The enfity becatme
operational on 1 January 2006 (fellowing the signature of an amended deed of
partaership) and has its seat and office in Londen.

@ Criminal Law Consideration in Choosing Location

London was sglécted as MFI"s place of business — over Singapore, Dubai and
Monaco = faranumber of commercial reasons, inchiding its centrality in the world of
banking, finance and shipping, its developed offset market, and its accessibility from
Germany and elsewhere. The intent of its sharcholders to insulate themselves from
poteatial fax and prosecutorial investigations in Germany by effectively outsowrcing
somimission payments to a foretgn joint venture entity represented an additional |
fmportant consideration.

Debevoise Identified mumerous communications that underscore the extent to
which the practice of the Besriehsprifung in connection with audits of foreign
consultancy payroents, and related criminal law considerations, played a partin
deciding to set up MFI in London. Memoranda and presentations from Ferrostaal’s
outside counsel, Simmons & Simmons, compare and contrast the procedural and
substantive provisions of the UK and German legal systems, with an emphasis on
crimiaal law factors such as the treatment of bribes — a term used expressly in one
pawerpoint presentation, — by tax authorities and prosecutoss, as well as the question
whether there existed a prosecutorial discretion or obligation to investigate suspected
bribery. Ferrostaal, in particulaz, appeared concerned about the view taken by
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German authorities on foreign commission payments and, in particular, by what it
viewed as overzealous inguitics by the German Betriebspriifung, which was obliged
to pass information about such payments to public prosecutors and, since 2003,
intensified its efforts in this regurd, thus opening the way to unwelcome prosecutorial
investigations at Ferrostaal or HDW.

{ify Insulation of Shareholders and “Firewall™

In paralle] to selecting a suitable location, the sharchalders sought ways to
protect themselves from proceedings of the German authorities @nd potential liability
for commission payments made by MFI through the erection(®f 2 se-calted firewall.
A central aspect animating the discussions of such firewall concerned the comparative
proteciions offered by a “Limited Liability Partnership?(*LLP%) and a “Limited”
“Lid.”).

The sharsholders began discussing how(te insulate themselves from Hability
before MFL was created and continued to explore the congept of a fivewall nntil well
after MFI bad become operational, culminating in Fettostaal's decision to install an
intermediate entity as MFD’s shareholder. Intreducing the exgplicit intent to shield the
sharcholders from investigations into ¢ommission payments, a meeting metnozandum
from November 2003 involving Simimons& Simmons lawyers aod HDW and
Fetrostaal representatives responsible for sstting up MFI stated: “PB explained the
concerns relating to Ferrastaal.and HDW s role in the UK entily and the need io have
Yirewalls’ in place relating to services provided by the UK entity fincluding the
activities of agesnts and commission payments)...PB also explained the issue relating
to commission payments and HDW s desire to keep a ‘low profile’ with the Inland
Revenue and io Himit the nisk of the commission payments to ngenis being investigaied
by the tmd/crimingl authorities in the UK...”

The discussions over whether MFI should be incorporated asa Ltd. ora LLY
centered on the tax benefits of the LLP, but, crucially, also noted the advantage of the
L4d. in shieiding sharcholders from possible investigations by German authorities.
Conecluding that even a LEP could provide sufficient protections for the shareholders,
" D! Aldenboff of Simmons & Simmons informed his key contacts at Ferrostaal and
HDWin January 2004 that, although a complate consolidation of the LLP eould not
bé avoided, the solution proposed accomplished the desived “avoidance of visibility of
single expenses and payments on shareholder/pariner level” The intention, as
explained by Dr, Aldenhoff in an interview, was to avoid giving the German
Beiriebsprafung direct access to information that would allow it to question MFI
expense items, such as commission payments, on a line item basis,

Not only did Fervostaal’s outside counset advise on the effectiveness of a
firewall and the appropriate legal form of MFI, but the topic constituted & source of
discussion among the principals of Ferrostaal’s tax and finance departments and
several Vorstand members following incorporation of M¥1 as a LLP in April 2604, A
merorandum from the former head of Tax to the former CFO in October 2004

on
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expressed conpems over unjustified investigations by the Betriebspriifung and noted
the non-deductibility of Nilizliche 4ufwendungen in both the UK and Germany in
describing factors that could trigger investigations by German authorities.
Concluding that the risk of investigations by German avthorities was lower iffhe
entity was organized as a Lid,, the former head of Tax denoted his preferenge for re-
incorporating MFI as a Ltd. instead of a LLP.

This question of re-incorporation against the background of firewall
copsiderations remained alive not only until the operational siart of MFLon 1 January
2006, but continued info 2007 when MFI and its sharsholdess weighed upithe
feasibility of re-incorporation (Neugriindung) to better insulate themselves by adding
an intermediate layer to the corporate siructure, The pringipal Simmons & Simmons
partner advising MFI and its shareholders on the issgie desetibed the topic inan
internal e-mail as 3 “highly sensitive area which iS on board level at both Thyssen and
MAN" While HD'W retained its shareholding tructute, Ferrostaal ultimately
interposed another layer between Ferrostaal AG and M¥FI by transferring MFKI's
shareholding from Ferrostasl AG to UK-based Ferrostaal London Litd.

The available evidence sbout discussions €oncerning insulation from the xisk
of investigation by authorities of commission payments and the implementation of a
firewall does not expressly reference an intention ou the part of the shareholders that
MF1 make improper payments, Rather, it appears that the shareholders debated these
considerations against the backdrop of what they perceived to be ill-founded and
unjustified investigations, tripgered by the practice of the Betriebspriifimg, into
legitimate commissign payments that would result in substantial cost and reputational
demage to the sharcholders, As such, we cannot draw any conclusions as to whether
there was an intention, af least on the part of Ferrostaal, to continue making
potentially guestiogable payments in the submarine business through MFI rathet than
directlys, Howevet, the frequency of the criminal law discussions and the much
debated question of the firewal], viewed in conjunction with the Company’s history of
guestionable payments (at least on the Greek submarine project) ~ of which the
pringipal author of the MFI idea and Ferrostaal’s key negotiator, the former head of
Marine, was aware in 2004 at the latest - do not permit us to exclude this possibility.
Atthevery least, there is no evidence that Ferrostaal intended for MFIto take g
markedly different approach to commission payments o consultants than the
approach foliowed by Ferrostaal itself

{c} Greece

@ Aliproblem Griechenland: Potential Overlap with
Outstanding Ferrostaal Obligations

MEFI did not have any active projects in Greece but the tecord shows
negotiations with MIE regarding the conclusion of a consuliancy and other
agreements during the course of 2606.
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As discussed above (see Section ITLA. 1), it is a point of contention iu the
evidence whether the former head of Marine in the 2004 meetings with Gebeiskreis
representative and their lawyer, Way, gave assurances that their outstanding claim
would be setiled via MF1, The MFI data shows no payments to any of the entities
affifiated with the Gebetskhrels and we have found no svidence inthe MFI data
concerning the Gebetskreis.

Section IIL.A.1 describes in detail the circumstances under which Ferostaal
paid its Greek agent MIE €83.97 million in commissions between 2000 and 2003,
Debevoise identified no formal claims by MIE in excess of this amount or addifional
payments following the final setlement payrment from Fertpstaal g October2003.
Cireumnstantial evidence, however, indicates that in 2006, MFlLand its shareholders
considered entering into contracts of questionable wtility.with entitics affiliated with
Matartos providing for an aggregate of €6 millien in fixed sum paymenats, not for
genuine commercial reasons related to MFI and set'gut in the agreements themselves,
but in order 1o settle claims Matantos was asserting against Fetrostaal and/or possibly.
HDW.

The draft minutes of a meefing ift Fannary 2006 attepded by HD'W and
Ferrostaal executives, as well as MFI employees, féference a problem of €20 million
in outstanding payment obligations in Greece, according to HDW, and suggest that
the responsible Ferrostaal Vorstand would resolve the issue. The meeting notes
further state that additional projects with MIE could be arranged only after the “legacy
problem” {(Aliproblens) had bean solved,

During intervigws, MFI managers had little or no recollection of the matter
described in the draft meeting note and of its discussion. A MFI managing director
said that the amotni of €20 million sounded excessive and that he recalled hearing
that MIE was claimitg either €4 million or 86 million from Ferrostaal. The former
head of Marine, on the other hand, asserted that the outstanding payment obligations
referenced related not to Ferrostaal, but to promises made by ThyssenKrupp's
subSidiary Blohin & Vess in connection with frigates contracts that never
materiglized,

i March 2006, concrete discussions took place between MFI and its
shareholders to advance a draft consultancy agreement between MFI and MIE relating
to Greece which, according to the record, was first sent by MIE to MFIin 2004, In
ifterviews, no one could explain why such a draft would have been sent io M¥lat a
time when it was not even operational; all MFI and Ferrostasl managers whom we
interviewad denied that the 2004 draft proposal'was in any way related to the payment
demands being made during 2004 by Avatangelos and Filipidis, as described n
Section BLALL

The 2006 mark-up of the draft MIE consultancy agreement contains

handwritten notes from one of the two MFI managing dirsctors at the time, addressed
to the other managing director stating that the percentage compensation for MIE had
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to be left blank pending an agreement on an amount between Matantos and the
responsible Ferrostasl Vorstand member and HD'W Vorstand Walter Freitag,
following which they (meaning the MFI managing directors) would insart the
approptiate “fee” in the draft contract. If is difficuit to understand why the HDW and
Perrostaal Porstand members would be negotiating a percentage commission on
behelf of MFY, o be tuserted in a consultancy agreement envisaging future biisiness
for Matantos with MFI. The more plansible explanation — consistentwitha natuzat
reading of the wording in the handwriiten notes and with the previous discussions
regarding the Altproblem involving MIE - is that the two Forsiand members of
Perrostaal and HD'W, respectively, would be discussing 8 setilement ataount with
Matantos for his outstanding claim against one or both of the shareholders. The MFI
managing directors would then reflect the settlement emount By inserting the
equivalent “fee” into the draft consultancy agreement between MEI and MIE.,

One MFI managing director and addressee ofthat handwritten note

- acknowledged that the draft consultancy agreerngat with MIFT wonld have been one
way for Matantos to “earn” the outstanding amounts by providing further services to
MFI. He denied, however, that the ver¥ puspose of the draft consultancy agreement
was fo find a way in which one or beth sharcholders could settle pre-existing
abligations to Matantos that werd unrelated to the business of MYL The former MPI
managiog divector who authoréd the handwritten note siated that he wus not aware of
any pre-existing obligations on the part of Ferrostaal towards MIE and that be had
uaderstood the anticipated diseussion between the Ferrostaal and HD'W Vorstand
members and Matantos o relate solsly to a firture vollaboration between MFI and
MIE.

A day after the mieeting of Matantos and the HDW and Ferrostaal Vorstand
members previewed in the handwritten note, MFI conducted its regularly scheduled
members mesting (in which the MFI managing directors and the responsibie Vorsiand
- mermbers of HDW and Ferrostaal participated) on 10 March 2006. While no
referentce {6 the pre~existing obligations is made in the meeting minutes, on the same
day the Ferrostaal Yorsrand mernber sent an e-mail to the head of Marine, entitled
“mfi.” in Which he stated the following:

AMr. Mmantos continues o be releniless. He insists on the paymeni of the large
amouni, which he cansiders still ro be owed to him, In addition io this, Frefiag [the
respective HDW Vorstend] iz pointing fo further very large remafning claims of the
known circle. He aftributer the problems in the execufion of the Greece businsss
wery clearly 1o this issue,

The evidence suggests that in response to the meetings in London beiween
Matantos and the responsible Vorstand members of Ferrostaal and HD'W, various
individuals at Ferrostaal weze involved in providing MFI a template consultancy
agreement. Within days, the Vorstand member then responsible for Marine helda
meeting with the head of Legal at the tirpe to discuss a template consultancy
agreement for MFL. On the sama day, 14 March 2006, the head of Marine e-mailed
the head of Legal a template for a MFI consultancy contract identical to the draft
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consultancy contract between MFI and MIE described above. The Vorstand member
responsible for Marine also received an e-mail from the former head of Marine
attaching an overview of all payments made by Ferrostaal to MIE between 2000 and
2003 under the existing consultancy agreements, which in itself suggests that the
question of claims to further payment had been asserted by MIE.

(i) Three Initialed Contracts for €6 Million

The clestronic data of 2 MF1 employes and now managing director who atthe
fime was tesponsible for conirolling contained two draft Hquidity planning charts
showing anticipated payments to MIE of €6 million over the space of several months
starting in 2006, Although we could not establish the precise reasons these draft
liquidity charts were created or to whom they were sent —none of MEPs official
monthly liquidity charts that were sent 1o the sharehglders gontaingd = comparabie
line item -~ they provide clear documentary evidents of the faet that making fixed
payments to MIE in the sum of £6 million mustfiave been at least contemplated by
MFIL None of the MFI managers interviewed, including the former confroller in
whose data the document was Tound, couli provide an explanation of the chart.

The Investigation traced the figure of €6 million to the fixed payment
obligations contained in thres cofifracts between MFY and Matanios entities which the
parties initialed in August 20067

* The consultancy Agreement between MFI and MIE Burope Lid., discussed
above, which related to MEI’s aciivities in Greece and provided for a success
fee of 5%, plus 2 €1 million advance payment upon signature of the
agresment,

. A chntract for a research study for the benefit of the Greek Navy, under which
MET would pay £2.5 million to MIE Europe Ltd. upon completion of the
study,

. A contract with Marconsult Lid, (another Matantos entity} for a building
evalnation of a deadweight posi-panamax vessel o be sold to Venezuels,
which also provided for a fixed fee of €2.5 million.

The purported commercial rationale for these three agreements, as it was
explained I imterviews, was less than convincing and teods to support the notion that
the agreements were devised for another purpose, namely to provide a mechanism fo
make future payments to Matantos promised to him by one or both of the
sharehalders.

MFI ultimatsly did not enter into these contracts or any other contracts with
Matantos or MIE. But the mere fact that it not only pursued the idea, but
contemplated paying Matantos/MIE a fixed suna of €6 million in 2006 (in addition to
any success fee due under the consultancy agresraent) is remarkable, sonsidering (i)
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the significant difficulties the shareholders were already facing at the titne o recover
the huge debts owed by the Greek state under the existing submarines projects, (il) the
related poor prospects for future submarines orders in Greece and (iil) MFL's
precarious financial situation during this stari-up phase, when it generated no income
and was wholly dependent on financial support in the form of sharcholder loans.

Moreovet, it is noteworthy that the initialed August 2006 versionief the
consultancy agreement, uniike its precursar discussed in Match 2006, now comtained
the additional — and unusual - obligation on MFI to pay 2 non-refundable €1 mitiion
advance upon contract signature. With one possible exception (sec the payment to Dr.
Mathioponiog, below), we saw no paraliel of this non-refilndable argangement in any
other MF1 consultancy agreement or, indeed, in the Ferrostaal agreements with MIE.

As regards the Greek study agreament, no gredible explanation was provided
as to why paying €2.5 million to MIE in order to provids the Greek Navy with 2
logisties study would have been money well spent. Thexationale for this arrangement
is 110 hard io reconcile with the fact thatthe consortium was in effect already clearty
present in the Greek market, both by vittue of the dzchimedes and Nepfux If contracts,
but also given that it owned and managed HSY., Aggain, we have scen no paraliel at
MFI of €2.5 million being paid fof'any study, Similar questions arise in velation to
the study agreement relating to'the Venczuslan offset project.

MFI eventually abandened efforts to finalize these contracts in October 2006,
when it signed “letter agreements” with MIE and Marconsult that referred to M¥Es
inebility to enter into. the contracts “due fo the reasons mentioned io you,” identitied
in an interview a8 Nquidity zeasons. The letters stated that the initialed contracts
would not be sigued at tHat time but only upon entering info a submarine contract in
Greece andVenezuela, respectively. The notion that MFI could not enter into the
conternplated agreements due to liquidity reasons is, of course, entirely consistent not
only with the'state.of MFI’s finances at the time, but also the possibility that MFT’s
shaveholders ultimately did not sanction the agreements — devised for the
ghareholders” benefit in settiing their ohligations to Matantos — becguse they were not
prepared to make the appropriate funds available to MFI. None of the M1 managers
whom we interviewed accepted that the decision was in any way dtiven or influenced
by a decision on the paet of the shareholders regarding settlement of the pre-existing
Saim, The MFI managing director confirmed that MEY's continued Liquidity
problems wete the sole reason foi entering into the “letter agreerents,” but that it
subsequently also became clear that there were no forsseeable short-to-medium term
prospects for submarine contracts in Greecs or in Venczuela, At jeast as regards
Greece, it is hard to credit the assertion that this was not already clear in sarly/mid-
2006, when MFI started negotiating the draft sonsultancy agrecment.

Notwithstanding assertions in interviews by MFI mapagers to the effect that
the contracts were not devised to fulfill outstanding obligations but represented
- genuine commercial opportunities, the evidence indicates that MFD's shareholders
directed all relevant efforts in this matter, displaying an vnusual degree of
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tnvolvement and suggesting that they, or at least Ferrostaal, likely intended to use
MFT as a vehicle for further payments. ‘While the arangements were not concluded
and no payments were made to MIE or any other Matantos entity, the episode is thus
imaportant nonetheless, to the extent that it indicates that the shareholders, or ong.of
them, may have intended to use MFI — with the connivance of its managing directors
—to make payments they did not want to or could not make directly.

(@  Overview of MFI Compliance Program

MET maintains and applies a functioning compliance program, with significent
input from external advisers. MFI receives regular advice o compliance-felevant
- aspects before engaging consultants from its external commsel (Simmons & Simmons})
and Control Risks. In addition, MFI’s board, consistingef two managing directors,
customarily produces a due diligence memorandumn that susimarizes the available
~ information about a prospective consultant or agent.

MFT’s sharcholders conduct regular “members meetings” at which important
strategic decisions, as well as topies relatédito the sngagement of consultants and
agents, are discussed. According to ad mnternal MFI policy, the shareholders should in
principle be notified of all consultanoy agreements. Moreover, and according to the
same internal policy, any proposed consuitancy agreement with a success fee
exceeding 5% must be expressly approved by the members. In practice, virtuaily alt
copsultancy agreements havelhad suecess fees not exceeding 5%.

MF1's internal capacity on compliance issues was enhanced in late 2009 when
its in-house counsel'Was also appointed to the position of complience officer, although
the parameters of her sxast fole, responsibility and authority have yet to be defined.
Until then, MFI's managing director had served in dual roles as managing director
and Gompliance offieess Although the merging of these two roles in one individusl
undoublediy put resource constraints on his time and leads to the question whether a
managing director could, in fact, perform the compliance role properly and
independently of business considerations, designating the most senior person in the
orgagization as the compliance officer doss, on the other hand, establish a “tone at the
top” which emphasizes the importance of compliance. With the help of its external
comniel, MET has developed an updated deaft of its existing compliance policies with
aview towards the anticipated implementation of the UK Bribery Act.

The Investigation identified procedural compliance and internal controis
weaknesses in certain cases, The undetected submission of what appear to be false
invoices by MFI’s former Indonesian service provider in connection with a
reimbursement of costs for a bid bond highlights the need to formalize certain
procedures, including by assigning respensibility for the substantive review of
invoices (evidenced by stamps and signatures) to the respective emplayes. The
current system containg no such precedure and thus acks a mechanism to verify the
subsiantive correctness of invoices.
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Select statements of MFT employees during intexviews give rise to some
concern over their complisnce awareness and a potential attitude of wiltful blindness.
Most notably, the MFI sales executive responsible for Pakistan indicated that he had
no inferest in knowing what a consultant did with his fees — even if there were
positive indications that the consultant intended to make payments to public officials.

MFT has suspended or terminated business relationships with thivd partiesas a
resuit of compliance concerns, Several of these cases are firther discussed below,
they indicate an appropriate awareness of and sensitivity to compliance. With respeet
to its long-time agents in Egypt and Pakistan, MFI recently determined not #o extend
their contracts pending the conclusion of the Complianee Audit. In the cass of its
Indonesian service provider, MFI refrained from entering int6 a consultancy
sgrecment due to amount of the desired commissiony of which beintended to
distribute part to an Armed Forees welfare/social faad of dublous legality, Finally,
with respect to the contemplated retention of amoffsebservices consultant for a
prospeciive submmarine contract in India, MTI decided not to retain the consultant after
learning negative background informationin a Contrel Risks report.

In i /e, etmted consultants and made payments

ﬂomfhstﬁndwf-’ signiffcant complience eoncerns. These cases 1aise questions sbout

the entity’s approac-!’z 10 eompliancee whcn substantial busmms
d the exte ; -

procedure& is apphsd Examples .of dﬁGISIO‘lS faiimg inig this categnry mc}uda

» The engagement of a consultant for a very lucrative coniract in Xorea,
notwithstanding his prior conviction of bribery, which appears particularly
risky in light of the requirements of “adequate procedures™ under the new UK
Britery Act

* The payment of e i ider in Turke
documented reservations by the compliance officer about its legality.

. The use of an Indonesian service provider who made explicit refezences to
thied-party payments to the former MFI managing director but was neither
reprimanded nor terninated.

o The retention of consultants in ftaly (Bussei) and Egypt/Croatia
(Mathiopoulos} who are known to MET managers to bave been involved in
potentiatly problematic activities on behalf of MFI’s shareholders.

The following sections contain more detailed descriptions of our observations
o‘f the applications of MFI’s compliance program. Ouly specific exarnples that are
most pertinent to the themes identified during the Compliance Aundit are included;
several countries/projects where no issues of significance were identified are omitted.
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(&) Korea

In Angust 2008, HDW/MFI entered into a-contract with the Korean Defence
Acquisition Program Adminisiration (“DAPA’"), pursuant to which DAPA would
purchase from HDW/MFI commodities for the construction of six Type 214
submarines (“KSS 2™ batch”), A separate offset contract bstween the same
contractual parties provides for direct offset obligations of €325.6 million.

MF] signed two agresments in 2006 for commercial dnd matketing services,
respectively, in Korea with Super Supply & Trade, a Hong Kong based consultancy
firm. The peneral agreement provided for a retainer of €50,000 per quarter, whereas
the specific agreement foresaw 2 success fee of 3%. Approximately one year later,
the MFT board resolved in Noverber 2007 to terminatethe agreements, instead opting
to pursue a consultancy contract witk Ubmtech Korea Co. Lig. {*Ubmtech™). The
MFI managing director stated i an interview that both entities are controlled by the
same individual, E.3. Chung,

MF] instructed Control Risks fo pfepare a dugdiligence report on Ubmtech
emd its principal in anticipation of a potential gentraet. The Control Risks report,
dated 5 December 2007, raised several significant compliance concerns, chiefly the
bribery conviction of the company’s founder and principal, E.8. Chung, Chung was
convicted in 1993 for bribery of several Korean defense officials and paying
approximately $320,000 toti@eormmander of the Royal Korean Navy in connection
with a destroyer contract He subsequently served two years of his three-year
sentence before being pardoned in 1995.

Notwithstanding the prior conviction and other concerns about his business
dealings in the Control Risks report, MFI pursued negotiations with Ubmtech and —
per Board resolutionieven appeared willing to meet Ubmitech’s original commission
demand of 7%, which markedly exceeds the percentage in MFPI’s other copsulfancy
agreements, In [ight of the obvions concem arising from Chung’s prior bribery
conviction, the MPI managing director conducted a one-on-one meeting with Chung
which hegummarized in a due diligence report that accompanied the MFI board
daeision fo retain Ubmtech: :

Mr. Chung E-Sung reacied In a very moderate, calm and honest
approach stating that this information [eoncerning the conviction] is
correct. The signee pointed out that he would have expecied that such
information should have been addvessed by My, Chung E-Sung himself
to MFT in the past as he was informed by MF{ about the great
awaresness of MFT to avoid any risk of the reputation of MFI if any
allegations of corruption were to be maid [sic] in relation to this
project. Mr. Chung E-Sung answered that the case occurved 14 years
ago and that he could not see any direct link to the current project in
terms of reputation as his standing within the Republic of Korea is
ousstanding and that he is an honourable member of the
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sociely ... Furthermore, he for himself has achieved other focuses in live
[sic] as he is acrively involved in religious [sic], scholarship and
charitable activities which reflect his strong religious believe

[sic].. After oll the signee hod the impression not io go any firther
questioning about the 1993 incident as he had the feeling that in case
M. Chung E-Sung could withdraw from ihe profect iIf he jeels
uncomportable about the understanding with his contractual poriners.

The duve diligence report suggesis — and its author confitmed in an inferview —
that the decision to engage Ubmtsch depended in large part on his personal judgment
that Chung had altered his behaviot since the bribery convietion — evidenced by a
religious conversion and involvement in charitable cauges. The due diligence report
also intimates, however, the overriding importance MFI attiibuted {0 preserving a
positive relationship with Chung and Ubmtech, which is indicated by the managing
director’s reference to his reluctance to probe fither dus to concerns that Chzmg
wcuid become uncomforiable and withdraw from the project,

On 15 January 2008, MFI and Ubmsech entered into 2 “Project Work Sharing
and Collaboration Agreement” that provided foracemmission of 5% of the contract’s
net value. The commission percefitage was subssguently reduced through various
amendments and adjustments 10 the payment schedule to 4.5%. Accordingly, MFI
has to date paid Ubmtech approximately €42.9 million, including a lamp sum
instaliment of approximately €344 million, Further payments will be due ia
accordance with the agreed payment schedule.

A due diligence updatefrom Control Risks, requested in August 2010,
apparently triggered by a small name change of Ubmiech and personnel changes in
the company’s leadership, did not raise significant new concerns about Ubmtech or
Chung. In ¢onnection with the dus diligence update, MFI also cousidered sending
Ubnitech a list of questions concerning its operations and use of funds. ierviews
indieated that the MFI managing director determined not to submit such a list of
written questions — which were also intended to address the requirement of “adsquate
procedures” under the new UK Bribery Act — and instead would zaise these topics
with Clatnig in a face-to-face meeting.

Although the Investigation identified no improper payments in connection
with the award of the delivery contract 4o HDW/MFI in 2008, Chung’s dtibery
conviction in 1993 and subsequent ptison sentence constitutes a significant red flag.
The retention of Ubmiech — with full knowledge of Chung’s bribery conviction — may
be viewed as MFI placing a premium on the value of Chung’s apparently considsrable
skill, experience and influence with the Korean Navy at the expense of compliance
considerations. While confronting Chung in a personal meeting was laudable, the
retention of Ubmtech nonetheless represents a continuous risk to MFL This risk is
exacerbated by the new UK Bribery Act, which requires corporates to prove a defense
of “adequate procedures” to the new corporate criminal offence of failing to prevent
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bribery, which would be triggered if a third-party agent such as Chung engaged in
bribery.

Informal discussions an 2 no-name basis with the director of the UK'’s Serious
Fraud Office (“SFO™), Richard Alderman, {on an unrelated matter) confirmed thatthe
SPO would view this is a verv significant red flag and that a corporats would need 0
make its decision to retain such a consultant based on a risk-assessment which it
would then need to explain to the SFO (in the event of an instance of aveorseas
bribery). In particular, the corporate would need to satisfy the SFO as to why it
deemead it necessary to work with this particular consultant andiwhat steps itfook to
prevent the consultant from engaging in bribery. Aldermapexpressed his view that
the carporate would be starting from. a difficult position, given its knowledge of the
consultant’s history. Thus, eny wrongdoing by Ubmisch or Chiang on behalf of MF1,
even without its knowledge, could have very serious consequences Tor MFT under the
new anti-corruption regime in the UK.

() Turkey

()  Consuitancy Contract with Tetico

HDW/MEL signed a €2.08 biilioh supply contract for the delivery of six
material packages for Type 214 submarines to the Turkish Navy in July 2009 and a

separate offset contract. Prier tc entering into the delivery contract, MFI retained
HDW’s long-time Turkish representative Tetico A.S. in November 2008 under a 3%

success-based consultancy agreement.

The Invéstigation reviewed the circumstances of a €2 million Ioan extended by
MUFT 10 Tetico several days before the delivery contraet was signed in July 2009.
Beogause of the purely success-based naturs of the consultancy agreement, MFT had
not made any payments at this time to Tetico. Before making the loan, MFI recaived
vwiitten approval ofits shareholders and legel advice from Simmons & Simmons. The
nietabers resolution authorizing the loan explains that the difficult price negotiations
withdhe Turkish Navy had resulted in an arrangement between Tetico and MK
wilereby the consultant reduced its success fes by approximately one-third. The MF1
managing director confirmed in an interview that the overall reduction in the offer
price due to pressure from the customer forced al! subcontractors and consuliants to
accept s reduced commission. Against this backdrop, and in light of Tetico’s cash
flow diffioulties, MFI and Tetico signed a loan agreement with 5% interest payable
and repayment within six months. We identified no evidence that Tt etico used the
foan to make improper payments leading to the execution of the delivery contract.

(i) Contracts with Offset Service Provider Triton

The combination of significant offset obligations under the Turkish delivery

contract and & lack of in-house experience led MFL on the recommendation of Tetico,

%o rotain In March 2010 the services of Lriton, 2 Malta-based offset services providger.
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advice on the Iagahty froma tax and complmnce perspccnve of Ictammg an offset

consaltant which 18 incorporated ontside Turkey and subcontzacts services to a
Turkey-based partner,

Foliowing completion of its usual compliance checks into the individuals
behind Triton, MFI signed an offset services framework agreement with Triton on 17
Mitch 2010, pursuant to which Triton was to receive a monthly retainer of €5,00010
help identify, prepare, and advance offset projects eligible and acceptzble to the
relevant Turkish offset authority. On the same day the parties also concluded two
specific offset services agreements (“SOSA™) for the actnal offset projects facilitated
by Triton, SOSA No, ! provides for payment of approximately €1.8 million and
€484,000 at a subsequent stage — based on the timing of down payinents from the
Turkish ministry ~ as consideration for Triton’s support in preparing and conducting
negotiations relating to the offset agroement. SOSA No. 2 provides for a down
payment of €2530,000 thirty days afier receipt of the pre-approval letter of the Turkish
- offiset authorities and a success fee resulting from an offset project facilitated by
Tnton the export of fas’t pairol boats 10 the Government of Egypt constructed at the
u ized the project {s intended to trigger
€100 million in offset credits by the Turkish SSM, which approximates to 40% of
MFY s offset obligations.

{(iity Concemns by MF1 Compliance Officer About Yoncar
Onuk Payment

The MF1 éompliance afficer raised concerns with respect to the anticipated
€250,000 down payment to Triton, which she memorialized in an undated
“Compliance Report Turkey” and an e-mail to herself. Neither document had been
distribited or formalized, and both weze identified in ber electronic data.

i 010 with the responsible MF] offset employee and

gepresentatives of Triton, who expressed the urgent need for a payment of €250.000
for Iobbying work to help the Yonca-Onuk shipyard obtain approval for the project
from the Turkish offset authorities, lefl the MFI compliance officer with several
cormpliance concerns, which she discussed with the MFI managing director, Her
corcerns included {i} whether the pre-approval letter to the Turkish S§M was
factually comrect and MFI causally facilitated the offset project; (i) whether a board
regolation existed approving this project; and (3ii) whether MFI's payment to Trten
might be passed to Yonca-Onuk.

According to the MFI compliance officer’s report on Turkey, the MF1
managiag directoz dismissed her concerns as not valid. Moreover, according to her
internal note, the MFI managing divector decided to take control of the offset project
and thus removed her from further involvement in and responsibility for the matier,
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An e-mail of 31 March 2010 she wrote to herself records & subsequent
conversation with the responsible MFI offset amployee and the MFI managing
director and again reflects her serioug concerns over payments to Yonca-Onuk. -
According to the e-mail, the offset employee approached her and explained that “we /
will pay Triton an agent commission and Triton will pay from that movney Yonea-Oniik
a certain amount a payment as 4 sustainer for proceeding with ifs project. We do not
know how much Triton will pay to YO The e-mail further notes that the compliance
officer subsequently spoke again with the MET managing ditecior andasged B/i/s
such payment legal? Reply: This is how off3er is done, It is very common.” The MF]
compliance officer further noted in the e-mail that she would await a tax cpinion from
a Turkish law firm concerning the legality of the Triton amgngement and would also

raise her above-cited concern sbout the legality of the payment with Simmons & ' :
Stmmons. : /

In an interview, the compliance officer admitted that she had serious
reservations about the Yonca-Onuk payment ondhe basis of the information provided
_to her, but that becanse the MFI managing divector had taken over her role, the issue
was no longer under her direct res;:onsibiiity

(iv) Paymentio Triton for Yonca-Onuk PIO_}BGt Made
Regardiess

> The Yonca-Omuk project materialized, with the Turkish shipyard coucluding a

ecntract with the Egyptian Ministty of Defense following pre-approval by the Turkish
offset anthorities in 16 February 2010. MFI made payment to Triton pursuant {o
SOSA No. 2 in the amount of €230,000 on 25 November 2010 and following receipt
of an opinion confirming legality of the payment under Turkish tax law. However, oo
legal opinion exists with ragpect to the legality of the payment to Trifon from a
compliauce perspective, as the compliance officer had requested. In an interview, the
compliatiee officer said that she did not know whether the legality of the payment had
been thoroughly analyzed, Given that she had raised serious concettis about the
payseny, it is remarkable that she was not in a position to confirm that the issue had
been fully and thoroughly analyzed, as she herself had suggested. The MFI managing
direcior in his interview indicated that no conclusive answer had been received on the
jgsue fram Simmons & Simmons. Debevoise is not in a position to conclude whether
thepayment was improper, as its prapose and the actual payment modalities (such as
the question of whether it would be passed on by Triton and, if se, to whom) remain
ynclear,

Nonetheless, the mannar in which the MFI compliance officer was sidelined
afier she had raised sisnificant compliance concerns - the first and only time she has
in fact done 8o on a project — supgests insufficient sensibility to compliance concems

. and raises questions about the role, authority and mdependsnce of the compliance
officer within the MFI organization.
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{g)  Pakistan

HDW/MFI submitted a bid for the delivery of material packages for three
Type 214 submarines in 2006 and were selected following disqualification of the
Erench competitor DCN due to technical deficiencies. The negotiations with the
Pakistani Navy halted in 2009, however, and the prospects for completion ofthe
- contract appeat currently uncertain, Issues relating to financing, payment conditions,
and final price are still unresolved, and the Gorman government has indicated that it
will not provide the necessary export permits.

Becanse MFI’s work sharing and collaboration agreement o commereial and
marketing support with its Paldstant representative Systems Co, (“Syseo™) is snccess
based, no payments to Sysco have been made to date. Sysco is headed by Tariq
Durrani, 4 former long-time employee of Ferrostaal’s gffice ip Pakistan and
subsequent Ferrostaal represemative in Pakistan.

(i)  Alegation of Contempiated Bribery

On 11 August 2010, a German military attaché in Paldistan, Kldus Wolf, sent
an e-mail to a member of a Getman military proctwetnent agency, in which he altuded
to “legitimate allegations of attempled bribery and tmproper business practices by
Sysco and Mr. Durrani.” After sibsequentlyreceiving the e-mail, the current Mkl
managing ditector confirmed to. Wolfon 23 August 2010 that Sysco is MF{’s
representative in connectiofl with fhe planned submearine project in Pakistan and
requested written evidence of any legitimate aliegations. In reply, Wolf indicated that
he would meet with MEI petsonally under the assumption that sources would be
protected. '

Such personal meeting batween Wolf and the M¥) managing director aod the
MFI compliance officer took place in Istanbul on 25 October 2610, According to
Wolf's meeting mémorandum, he explained learning from his predecessor as milifary
attach®in Pakistan, Alois Konig, that Sysco had promised bribes in the amount of $66
million in connection with the anticipated submarine contract and that political levels
were implicated. This amoumt approximately constifutes the commission due to
Syseoinilie evert of successful conclusion of the delivery contract, The same specific
aliegation is noted in a memorandum of the mecting prepared by the MFEI managing
direeior. _

The day after meeting Welf, the MFI managing director and the MFi
compliance officer met with Tarig Durrani at a Paris trade show and confronted him
with the allegations, According to the MFI menaging divector, Durtani reacted
angrily and quickly retained a German lawyer to pursue claims before Gemman, courts
against Wolf for libel and slander unless Wolf withdrew the accusations.
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The MFI managing director met in London in January 2011 with the alleged
soutce of the allegations. A imesting note prepared by the MFL managing director
suggests, however, that the MFI managing director did not question Kbnig about the
bribery allegation. It thus remains unclear to whether and to what extent Konig
supporis the allegations attribufed to him by his suceessor Wolf.

According to the managing director of MFY, as a result of the allegations
against Sysco and Durrani, MF] has decided, as a precautionary measuze, not to
extend its work sharing and collaboration agreement with Sysco and glrrentlyintends
not to pursue further business with Durram,

Although no payments have been made to Sysco in cefinection with the
anticipated submarine contract, the very specific bribery alfegation provides grounds
for copcem. The concem is somewhat heightened by thefact thatthe former head of
Merchant Marine generally intimated in his interview that Durrant, who is xnown fo
have excellent contacts to the highest political and business sireles in Pakistan, hasin
the past been involved in bribery payments in Pakistan, albeit without providing
documentary proof or specific examplss,

() Indonesia

Indonesia bought two Type 209 submarines from HOW in 1996, “Cakra” and
“Nanggala,” The submarines wete overhauled by a Korean shipyard in 2004 and
2008, respectively, HDW andFerostaal competed for and lost the bid to overhaul
Cakea; HDW/MF! competed for and lost the bid for the Nanggala overhaul. Atthe
time of the Cakra and Nanggala overhauls, Ferrostaal and MF] were represented in
Indonesia by PT Prakore Diaya Mandis (“PT Prakora™). PT Prakora had worked as a
Ferrostaal ageut it Indonesia since the early 2000s and subsequently was retained by
MET in 2006, .

HDW/MFT are curzently considering how to respond to a request for proposal
from the Indonesian Navy for consiruction of new Type 214 submarines. Debevolse
was told that HDW/MF1 are contemplaiing whether to proosed alone or in
conjnpéton with a Korean shipyard. To assist with preparations in case HDW/MEL
Weré to submit their own bid, MFI recently retained a representative, PT Adventura
Prokreasi.

) PT Prakora

MFI used the servicss of PT Prakora from 2006 until 2008 pursuant to an
office and infrastructure agresment with & monthly retainer of €8,500. In addition to
providing an office infrastructure, PT Prakora also made small-scale expenditures for
MF1 and supplied MFI with information regarding political developraents and
personnel moves within the Indonesian Navy.
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Serious concerns about the business practices of PT Prakora’s principal,
Indradjit Prawoto, aze triggered by-his suggestions to make a grease payment to
government officials and his demand for 2 very significant commission iz a
consuliaucy confract that encompassed potcntla}ly questionable payments to an
Armed Forces welfare/pension fund,

1y “Grease in to my Buddies Pockets”

1d a 12 July 2006 e-mail, Prawoto provided as update to the former MFT
mmanaging director about a hearing of Indonesian govemmental agencies coficerning
planned vew Navy projects. Previewing a strategy mesting tn the following week
involving a high-ranking public official-and parliamentary commiites members prior
to a presentation to the head of the Indonesian NavyPrawoto wrote that

Next week Dioko S/Kom I members and I will be meeting io strategize inthe 6
subs/USD 730 mio issue, thus to eliminate this issue if eventually KASAL
present this package., This means I will be putting "grease” in to my buddies
pockets. 2. Therefore may I askyouwio consider my request for an advance
paymeni of the August monihly expense support, while waiting for Barclays &
StandChart 10 settle theiranishap. As soon as Prakora receives the July
pavmert, we will transfer back the.amount to MFIL  August payment is due in
another 10 days from now and the August payment will come in handy next
week,

Subseguent e-mail exchanges between the former MFI managing director and
Prawoto indicate that the MFLm#naging director did not reprimand Prawoto for his
apparent suggestion to make payment to public officials with finds provided by MF1.
Instead, the MFI managing director made efforts to ensure that the funds were wired
to PE Prakora as requested.

_ Une week after his initial ¢-mail intimating the planned payment to public
officials, Prawoto informed the MFI managing dirsctor in an e-mail entitled
“Meeting/dinner with MOD VIPs,” that he “kad several meetings with the Ministry of
Defense and rhe Indonesian Navy.” On the next day, Prawoto confirmed receipt of
the July'and August 2006 monthly installments, which, in line with Praweto”s request,
had been expedited in August. Although we cannot determine whether Prawoto
indeed made payments to the public officials, as suggested by his e-mail, the
acquisscence and support of the managing director of MFI at the time for a prima

Jacie non-compliant proposal raises substantial concerns.

In his interview, the fotmer MFI managing director did not recall what
Prawoto intended to do with the advance payment and could not explain what the
reference to “*grease’ in my buddies pockets” may have meant. The former MFI
managing director did not zecall his reaction to Prawoto’s e-mail but asserted that he
had previously made it clear to Prawoto that MFI would not tolerate any improper
payments. e had no explanation for why Prawoto nevertheless felt sufficiently
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comfortzble to docament his questionable intentions in an e-mail. Debevoise
identified no evidence that others at MPI were aware of the e-mail or the reason for
the accelerated monthiy retainer payment.

{2) Proposed Payment to Armed Forges
‘Welfaxe/Pension Fund

In 2008 MFI considered engaging PT" Prakora as a consultant i antigipation of
its bid for the Nanggala overhaul. Following an unremarkable Contsol Risks teport,
MFT and PT Prakora negotiated {ultimately unsuccessfully) the terms of a consultancy
agreement. A marked-up agreement included an extraordinasily high commission of
12%, split into 8% for services rendered during the acquisition phase and 4% for
services renderad in the execntion phass.

The MFI managing director indicated in an‘imierview that the 8% portion was
. intended for the Dana Komando armed servicesiwelfare fund, with PT Prakora
retaining the temaining 4%. He steted that this proposal had come from PT Prakora
and had been met with skepticism by MFLwhich expressed its unwillingness fo enter

< into any such arrangement absent a trasparent corresponding provision in the

customer confract and a legal opinjon confirming s validity. MFI indeed
commissioned and received a legal opinion (which provided an unclear answer onthe
legitimacy of such payments) but eventually refrained from finalizing the contract
with PT Prakora '

Subsequent to its failure to agree on a commission percentage with PT
Prakora, BDW/MEIest 18 bid for the Nanggala overhaul. Shortly thereafter, MFI
terminated its relationship with PT Prakora.

In statoments fo the Munich Prosecutor, the former head of Merchant Marine
alleged that MFT lost the Nanggala project because it was unable to make a requested
bribe paymient wotth 22% of the coairact value. In an interview, the former head of
Netehant Marine recalled meeting with the MFI managing director and the MFL
Seniorsales executive in Essen to discuss how PT Prekora could pay the requested
Britie, but reached the conclusion that the amount was too high fo be reflected inthe
project’s budget. The two individuals in question denied in inferviews ever discussing
suich matters with the former head of Merchant Marine or at all.

(3)  Bid Bond Reimbursement

A final issue of concem with respect to PT Prakora indicates shorteomings in
MFT's internal confrols process. As a prerequisite for submitting bid papers for the
Nanggala overhault, HDW/MFI were required to post a bid bond of §750,000. In light
of the short time allotted, PT Prakora agreed to post the bid bond on behalf of
BOW/MEL but incurred bank charges in the amount cf €1 1,850. Rather than
submmitting an involce for this vather uncontroversial expense, PT Prakora s plit the
costs indo three unrelated invoices and was paid accordingly. The invoices falsely
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characterized expenses ag advemsement costs, sponsarshlp af a golf tournament, and
retention of legal advice, ,

Seeking to explain this method of reimbursing PT Prakora for the bid bond
costs, the former MFI managing direcior wrote a handwritten letter to is suscessor, in
which he stated that the reimbursement was divided into three unrelated invoices to

~help the MFT managing director with “compliance arguments.” The former MEFI
 mansging ditector who wrote the note could not recall the reason for this
arvangement, The other MFI managing director specidated that his colleague may
have misunderstood his suggestion that PT Prakora pay for the bid bond costs itself to
boest its financial credentials with & view toward a possible finansial due diligence or
also referred to as financial compliance.

Although the reimburssment of bid bond costs In question concerned a
relatively small amount of money and there are no indications thet the finds were
used to make improper payments, the circamvendon ofinternal controls by splitting
invoices with false descnptmns raises questions as io the effectiveness of MFI's
internal controls, :

4)  Tialy

In November 2008, HD'W/MF! enteted into a contract worth €196 million
with Fincantierl, an ltalian@hipyard, to deliver components for two Type 2124
submarines and {0 overhiaul the submarine “Todaroe” (another Type 212A submarine).
. Haying retained the services of Hong Kong-based Metallco International Ltd. in 2006
- through a retaineragréemens, M¥F] in 2008 engaged the entity Metallco Overseas
Services SRL to pursue the submarine projest with a 2% success-fee based
consaltancycontract. Both entities are owned by Gian Carlo Bussei, an Italian
businessman. To dategVietallco Overseas Services has received approximately
€750,000 from MFL

The tetention of Gian Carlo Bussei’s firms exemplifies MEI's practice of
engaging@onsubtants and agents who have previously worked for HD'W and/or
Ferrostazl, Bussei had been a long-time agent for Ferrostaal in Italy and was hence
known'to the relevant managers at MFI, He may also have worked for HD'W.
Aldthough the benefits of retaining consultants who have worked for the shareholders
ate self-evident, the case of Bussei illustrates the limitations of MFI's current
approach to compliance due diligence. :

_ Having obtained a business intelligence report from Control Risks that
highlighted Bussei’s low business profile and eccentric personality, MFI did not
apparently check with the responsibie departments at HD'W or Ferrostaal to seek
fusther views on Bussel. The then liead of Marine had previously terminated Bussei’s
retainer agreement with Ferrostanl after, when asked about the services he provided,
Bussei allegedly responded simply by temarking “I am available,”

Fatel
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Purthermore, as the current managing director of MFI and others at MFI
appear £o have been aware, Bussei was used by HDW to channel payments in 2001 or-
2002 in connection with the privatization of the HSY shipyard in Greece for the
benedit of Bmmanouil, IS Ys prosident at the time (see Section Il A1 above). The
payments to Emmanouil triggered a criminal investigation against vatious HDW
executives in 2004 by the public prosecutors in Kiel and Disseldorf. Although the
prosecutor investigation was ultimately not pursucd, the information relatingfo the
- role of Bussei and his company in this transaction should at the very least have Been
. one of the Factors considered by MFI during the due diligence stage, itrespestive of
what decision MF] ultimately decided to take.

£} Egypt

The retention of two consultants MFT has useditiits effozts o obtain business
. in Egypt demonstrates the same limitations of in-its Gue diligence process as the
example of Bussei. -

iy  Margarita Mathiopogios —Buropean Advisory Group

FEAGY)
,In WNovember 2004 — morsdhan one year belfors it became operational -~ MFL

signed consultancy agresments with EAG (vepresented by Margatita Mathiopoulos) to
assist with anficipated projects in Bgypt and Croatia. Althoughno projects

materialized, MF1 paid Prof Mathiopouios in December 2004 the contractualty
agreed upon advance payments of €850,000 and €356,000, respectively.

M¥I made the advance pavmenis — upon which Pref. Mathiopoulos allegedly
insisted as a nonenegotiable condition — notwithstanding setious concesns that Prof.
Mathiopoulos was going 16 pass some funds to relevant officials in Bgypt. In

regponse to a letter fiond Prof. Mathiopoulos® attorney that appeared to suggest her

. urgent need for the advance funds for meetings with government officials in Egypt on
.. the basis that she would have expenditures there, MFI immediately terminated the
agrecment with teference to a grave breach of the agreement’s anti~cormuption
provisiors MFF's swift response appeared warranted especially in light of her
aHlorney’s alloged confirmationin a telephone conversation with MFI thet the funds

were fiecessary because “she could not arvive with empty hands” for the discussionsin . -

MEI’s managing director and HDW's Vorstand Freitag that she would not make
improper payments and that the references to her need of funds in the prior

" compumications had been misundetsiood. MFI thereafter revoked the termination
and subsequently made the agreed upon upfiont payments of €1.2 million in

- December 2004. M determined, however, not to eater info additional agresments

years.
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. Prof. Mathiopoulos was well known at Ferrostaal at the time she was engaged
by MFI, The former head of Marine referred to her in an interview as one of the
consultants with whom Ferrostaal no longer wanted 10 pursue business and thus | found
it sing that MFT entered into a contract with her, although an MHT manager teld

"3 ic was insiructed to sign the BAG contract by the sagie former head of Marine.
“Moteover, 1t appears that HD W's Peter Bracket had also enquired about Prof.
Mathicpoulos® reputation, based on an e-mail from Stmmons & Simmons that
referred to a discussion with Bracker in which the need to ensure thatProf.
Mathiopoulos would maks no corrupt payments was emphasized to ab extraoidinary
degree. MFI’s consent to enter into agreements with Prof. Mathiopoulos with
significant upfront payment obligations, and its reconsideration ofthe reviCation of
her agreement notwithstanding explicit cormption concets, appears questionable in

- Hight of the warnings MFT had received.

(i) Mamoud Satama (Ferromisr Cofemercial Agencies Co.
{“Ferromisc™))

Following the discontinuation of itdrelationship with EAG, MFI retained the
services of Ferromisr, Ferrostaal’s longterm Egyptian agent in the marine sector, in
connection with the negotistions for the sale of two Type 209 submarines.

Whereas MF] obtzined the usual dug diligence reports from s external
advisors, it appears that oo inguiries were made of Ferrostaal about Ferromisr or its
principal, Mamoud Salarda. MPBlentered into a work sharing and advisory agreement
with Ferromisr in 2008, pursuant 10 which it received a monthly retainer of €5,000,
along with & 4% suceess fee in case the anticipated submarine sale wege fo come 1o
fruition. The anticipated submarine project has not yet materialized, and the likelihood
of i ocourting is Wncertainin light of export license considerations and other
problems.

Although MFI has received no indications of improper payments by Ferromisr
or Salama in gonnection with activities on the prospective submarine contract, MF
suspended its agrecment with Ferromisr in late 2010 following allegations that Salama -
‘wasdmplicated in alleged bribe payments on a Merchant Marine project in Egypt. 1t
15 unslear whether and how MFi wiil seek to resume its relanonshlp with Ferromisr in
the future.

The Investigation identified no-improper payments by Fenorm's; pertaining to
the MFI project. As disenssed above (see Section HLA.5), we identified
circumstantial evidence implicating Salama in at least one questionable payment o
unidentified third parties on behalf of Ferrostaal. Moreover, the former head of
Merchant Marine has made spesific and serious allegations against Salama.

Although unlikely that it ﬁbuid have vielded evidence of improprety by

Salama, a broader due diligence spproach that harnessed existing knowledge and
information frorm MFT s shareholders would have been warranted,

9%


Emmanouil
Γραμμή

Emmanouil
Γραμμή

Emmanouil
Γραμμή

Emmanouil
Γραμμή

Emmanouil
Γραμμή


	Untitled

